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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China
United Venture Investment Limited (formerly known as GLORY
MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED) (the “Company’,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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To Our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
United Venture Investment Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2024 (the “Period”) for the Shareholders’ review.

The Group is principally engaged in the electronics products
business (the “Electronics segment”) and architectural
design business (the “Design Segment”). The financial
service business (the “Financial Service Segment”),
which was started in 2022, has been discontinued upon
the Group’s disposal of several subsidiaries engaging in the
Financial Service Segment in 2023 and the departure of
the senior management of such Segment from the Group.
The discontinued decision was mainly due to the lack of
synergy of the Financial Service Segment with the Company’s
principal businesses.

As the global economy in the post-epidemic era has yet
to show a clear trend of overall recovery, along with the
combined impact of certain factors including regional
instability and trade pattern around the world, the global
market witnesses weak demands, affecting the demand
and purchase orders of the Group’s Electronic Segment.
Besides, due to the suspension of trading of the Company’s
Shares, the major customers in the Electronic Segment have
requested for additional compliance reviews in the Period.
On the other hand, the performance of our Design Segment
continued to be affected by the sluggish performance of
the domestic real estate consumption market which led to
the tight cash flow and financing difficulties for real estate
enterprises. The Group remains cautiously optimistic about
the future development of its business and has implemented
a series of in-house measures to reduce costs and increase
efficiency. At the same time, the Group has also started to
deploy resources to diversify our electronic product suites in
the computing power industry which has a strong correlation
with one of our existing business — Electronic Segment. It is
expected to benefit the Group’s results and the Group aims
to achieve breakthroughs in this new business deployment.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRESE

ELECTRONICS SEGMENT

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, our
Electronics Segment recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$206.4 million, representing a decrease of 24.3% as
comparing to HK$272.6 million for the corresponding period
of 2023.

In order to cope with the increasingly fierce market
competition and cut down production costs, our Electronics
Segment has completed the relocation of its headquarter
manufacturing base in Tangxia, Dongguan in 2023, and set up
a manufacturing base in Ji’an, Jiangxi Province, for which the
system certification has been completed with a large-scale
production capacity developed. On the other hand, in order
to minimize the impact of trade conflicts between the United
States and China and the shift of the industrial chain, the
Group has made a formal step in commencing deployment
of its manufacturing base in Vietnam in September 2023,
and is expected to complete the construction of its overseas
manufacturing base in the third quarter of 2024, so as to win
back the demand from customers who have gradually turned
their orders to overseas production.

While endeavoring to maintain its market share in
consumption products, our Electronics Segment is also
seeking for opportunities to make breakthrough in new
business sectors. For instance, it has increased investment
in research and development and market expansion in
wire harness application in the fields such as new energy
storage and new energy vehicles, and has gradually secured
trial production orders from some major customers in the
domestic market. At the same time, the Electronics Segment
continues the further expansion of wire harness business in
the medical and industrial sectors, and increases overseas
exhibitions and market development efforts to open up
emerging markets such as Southeast Asia and South
America.
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DESIGN SEGMENT

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, our Design
Segment recorded a revenue of approximately HK$2.2 million,
representing a decrease of 73.3% as comparing to HK$8.3
million for the corresponding period of 2023.

As the domestic real estate sector experiences deep
adjustments, some real estate businesses were trapped in
high level of debt and liquidity risk, leading to a relatively
great extent of influence on our Design Segment. The Group
is therefore in the process of actively exploring new possibility
for design business. Apart from inviting the renowned
architectural design Al research and development teams for
exchanges and exploring possibility of cooperation, the Group
is also collaborating with an Al research and development
team to build an Al platform serving architectural designers,
so as to reduce costs and increase efficiency through
enhancement in the design efficiency, and will arrange
external promotion in due course once the results of the
research and development are matured.

The Group remains cautiously optimistic about its results in
respect of the above initiatives to enhance the operational
efficiency of the Design Segment through Al.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRESE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A sound internal control system and effective corporate
governance are particularly important for business
development. During the suspension of trading in the
Company’s Shares, the Board of the Group engaged a
professional external consultant to conduct an investigation
and to review the Company’s internal control and the remedial
measures adopted. Measures to enhance the standard of
corporate governance include: changing the composition of
some Board committees to enhance balancing and separation
of power; adopting new nomination policies to increase the
number of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
to not less than 50% of the total number of Directors, so as
to further strengthen and enhance the internal control and
risk management at Board level; appointing Ms. Yeung Sum
(“Ms. Yeung”) as an independent non-executive Director
on 14 June 2024 who will be responsible for overseeing the
internal control, corporate governance and risk management
practices of the Group with her extensive experience;
appointing Dr. Yan as an lead independent director (“Lead
Independent Director”) on 30 May 2024, who is authorised
to, including but not limited to, regularly evaluate and
assess the performance of the chairman of the Board, the
executive Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and/or the
senior management of the Company to ensure that Board
assessments are conducted on a regular basis. In this
regard, the Lead Independent Director shall communicate
and liaise with the other independent non-executive Directors
on a regular basis to assess the performance of the Board,
taking into account the views of the executive Directors and
other stakeholders of the Board, particularly focusing on
the oversight of key issues to be discussed by the Board
including strategy, performance, risk management, resources,
etc.

The Board of the Group believes that the above measures
have helped the Group further improve its corporate
governance culture. With all the resumption guidelines
satisfied and a series of improvement measures taken by the
Company, the Company’s Shares resumed trading with effect
from 14 June 2024, which has greatly boosted our customers
confidence and staff morale. Moreover, the Company
will further implement other internal control improvement
measures in the near future.
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Looking forward, the Directors remain confident and
optimistic about the Group’s performance in the coming year
in the face of the challenging and volatile market environment.
| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to all our customers, suppliers, business partners,
employees and shareholders for their valuable support for
the Group. | will lead the team to continue to work hard. The
Group will forge ahead to maximise returns for shareholders.

Mr. Wang Li Feng
Chairman of the Board and
Non-Executive Director

17 June 2025

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJE nHﬂ /-\$ﬁ'

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in electronic business and
architectural design business while the financial services
business has been sold out with debts and non-performing
assets during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2023. In the
electronic business, the Group designs, manufactures and
sells connectivity products mainly for computers, computer
peripheral products, mobile phones peripheral products,
multi-media consumable electronic products, communication
products, automobile electronics accessories, wire harness
and medical equipment (the “Electronics Business”).
During the Period, the Directors also tried to diversify the
electronic products offering by commencing trading of
high-performance accelerated computing products and
accelerated computing product rental services to ride on
the trend of the high-intensity computing needs of different
industries and business needs, such as Al, big data and
other fields. In the architectural design business, the Group
is engaging in master-planning work, general design work
and architectural schematic design work (the “Architectural
Design Business”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
The Electronics Business

During the 15-month ended 31 March 2024, this business
segment contributed revenue of approximately HK$206.4
million to the Group (12-month ended 31 December 2022:
HK$272.6 million), representing a decrease of approximately
24.3% as compared with year ended 31 December 2022.
This business segment suffered from the suspension of
trading of the Group since 3 April 2023 and affected the
Group’s reputation while the one of top customers conducted
compliance review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Architectural Design Business

This segment has been adversely impacted by the aftermath
of COVID-19 pandemic and the gigantic debt default events
in the PRC real estate industry for the last three years. In the
year ended 31 December 2020, the outbreak of COVID-19
had caused suspension of our design projects in the PRC. On
top of an observed slow recovery from COVID-19, since the
second half last year 2021, this segment was further affected
by the crises experienced by its downstream customers, the
China real estate developers’ high debt level and liquidity
issues. Revenue from this business segment decreased from
approximately HK$8.3 million in PY2022 to approximately
HK$2.2 million during the 15-month period ended 31 March
2024, representing a decrease of approximately 73.3% from
last year. The Directors are monitoring the issues closely and
remain cautiously optimistic to the results of the Architectural
Design Business in the future and are actively engaging in
negotiation for new design business.

Turnover

The Group recorded a total turnover of approximately
HK$208.6 million for the Period (PY2022: approximately
HK$280.9 million), representing a decrease of approximately
25.7% as compared with prior year ended 31 December
2022.

Gross profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$20.3
million for the 15-month ended 31 March 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately 33.5% as compared to
approximately HK$30.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

This was mainly due to our Group suffered from the
suspension of trading which affected the Group’s reputation.
The gross profit margin decreased from approximately 10.9%
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 9.8%
for the 15-month ended 31 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWLR DN

Other income

The Group earned other income of approximately HK$4.1
million during the 15-month end 31 March 2024 (for the
prior year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$6.1
million), representing a decrease of approximately 32.7%,
mainly due to the decrease of tooling and sampling income
during the Period.

Other gains and losses

During the Period, the other gains is HK$71.5 million
(prior year ended 31 December 2022: the other losses of
approximately HK$119,000). The increase is mainly due to
a one-off land resumption with the Fogang Land Bureau. In
respect of the land resumption, together with all buildings
and fixtures, for a total consideration of RMB73,800,000 and
recorded a net gain of the land resumption of approximately
HK$57,653,000 were included under the gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, net.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses were approximately
HK$12.5 million during the Year (prior year ended 31
December 2022: approximately HK$8.0 million), increased
by 57.3%, which was mainly attributable to the fifteen
month financial period effect and the selling and distribution
expenses for the Group as it diversify its products offering.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses were approximately HK$72.1
million during the Period (prior year ended 31 December
2022: approximately HK$68.9 million), representing an
increase of approximately HK$3.2 million, or 4.7%, mainly
due to the longer fifteen month financial period.

Finance costs

The finance costs were approximately HK$4.6 million during
the Period (prior year ended 31 December 2022: HK$3.0
million). The increase was mainly due to the full year effect
of increase in lease liabilities since 2023 and longer fifteen
month financial period.

Income tax credit/(expenses)
The Group recorded an income tax credit of approximately

HK$739,000 for the Period (prior year ended 31 December
2022: Income tax expenses HK$202,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net (loss) attributable to owners of the Company

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of
the Company for the Period of approximately HK$693,000
(PY2022: net loss of approximately HK$61.9 million),
decreased by approximately 98.9% mainly due to the
abovementioned reasons.

Profit/loss per share from continuing operations

The basic and diluted profit per share for the Period from
continuing operations was approximately HK$0.70 cents
(PY2022: basic and diluted loss per share of approximately
HK$7.49 cents).

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net current assets, cash
and bank balances and equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$85.8 million,
HK$75.2 million and HK$136.8 million (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$70.2 million, HK$106.5 million and
HK$111.6 million) respectively. The current ratio, expressed
as current assets over current liabilities, was maintained at
the level above 1 at approximately 1.53 (31 December 2022:
approximately 1.39).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 1.35, decreased from the gearing ratio of
approximately 1.79 as at 31 December 2022. The gearing
ratio is derived by dividing total liabilities (including but not
limited to interest-bearing borrowings, trade payables and
other payables and accruals) by total capital (including but
not limited to equity attributable to owners of the parent
company) at the end of the respective years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWLR DN

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

As the electronics business of the Group focuses on
exporting electronic products globally, in order to reduce the
impact of external factors such as geopolitics and Sino-US
trade tariff barriers on the electronics business of the Group,
the Group plans to establish production bases outside of
Mainland China. With reference to the announcement dated
18 November 2024, Glory Mark Electronic Limited (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (as the Tenant) and
Coéng ty TNHH Giay Tién Thanh (as the Landlord) entered into
the Lease Agreement in respect of the lease of a Premises of
approximately 10,000 square meters for use as the Group’s
production base in Vietnam for a term of five years. Further
announcements regarding the factory renovation, machinery
procurement and other further investment plan will be
made by the Company in accordance with the relevant and
applicable Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

The Group did not have material capital expenditures and
commitments as at 31 March 2024.

Foreign Exchange Risk

During the Period, most of the Group’s business transactions
were conducted in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. Review of the Group’s exposure to foreign
exchange risks is conducted periodically. The Group
expected that the exposure to exchange rate fluctuation was
not significant and therefore did not engage in any hedging
activity during the Year.

Capital Structure

The Company did not run any capital exercise during the
Period.

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T

FHREAREHEREE ZAKRE

HRASENEFEBARREOETERRD
T AREMEBOE R EE RN ESEEI
MAZHAKENEFEB2FE AEEG
270 B A b DAY b [ B S A B M o 2K IR
AR —_FT_MFE+—-—A+TNBZRE &
BREFERQA (ARRZEEZ2ENBAR)
(EREP)EEKREEXETARAR (ERXE
T BEEL10,000F T AWM ZMETLHEE
e BEAEEURNBREZEEE N A
AF-ARASRNEERERRBEEFIER L
TRAUTEEAMEEHN HEREREME
—SEREEIZE—F G-

EEXRXREREE

RZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—H xEETEEK
BEARRY RAEE-

S BE /R B
RABE AEB EBRXFETEAET A
TTRARBHELT - ANE B E H 5T SN E B i &

EoRAFE AEBEHEXKHER LT
A WL A AED -

BB
RAHE KRB Y EETEMNERER -



Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK
The Electronics Business

Though the first fiscal quarter of 2023 marked the historical
moment of normalization after the COVID-19 pandemic and
re-opening of the China’s border, the company’s first quarterly
financial results reflected the positive outcomes from such
favorable factors. The Group suffered from the suspension
of the trading which would affect the Group’s reputation
from the stakeholders’ views. The Directors will endeavor
to resume the trading in the shares and will continuously
strengthen our competitive position with commitment to
innovation and customer-centricity.

The Architectural Design Business

With our brilliant design products and strong marketing
channels in the PRC, the Group is in the process of
strengthening our new services, a living aesthetic consulting
service which combined interior design-based services and
sales of electronic interior accessories under our own brand
name. During the Year, we have continued the collaboration
of the Architectural Design Business and the Electronics
Business, initial research and development on the design and
production process of the electronic accessories.

Riding on the trend of “Internet plus cultural creativity”, the
Group targets to offer a thorough one-stop integrated design
services by enhancing the Internet interactive platform with
users.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESEREREBEAEGHE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Li Feng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 62, was appointed
and has been an executive Director of the Group since 15
September 2016. Mr. Wong is the chairman of the strategy
and development committee and a member of the executive
committee and the remuneration committee and also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong
was re-designated from the Vice Chairman of the Board to
Chairman of the Board since 23 April 2023 and he was re-
designated from an executive Director to a non-executive
Director since 30 May 2024.

Mr. Wang obtained a master degree in architecture from
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology in November 1991.
Mr. Wang is also a director of PT Design, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. He worked as the chief
representative for Peddle Thorp Architects Melbourne Asia
Shenzhen Office (B AF EHEERANEERTER A A
FIYIAR K EE) from February 1998 to January 2003. He has
been the executive director of Peddle Thorp Consultants
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (fA7E# & ORI BBR A 7l) since January
2003 and has been the chairman of PT Architecture Design
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (A3 25 ORI R A7)
since March 2009.

Mr. Fan Xiaoling (“Mr. Fan”), aged 39, was appointed as
an executive Director on 5 December 2019. He is a member
of the executive committee and also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company’s electronics business.

Mr. Fan has over 16 years of experience in the electronics
industry. He has strong abilities of supply chain strategy,
sales and operation planning, demand planning, forecasting
development, quality management, logistics management
and project management. He has extensive and successful
experiences in North America, South East Asia, Finland,
Germany, Brazil, Mexico, and United Kingdom market. He
is the director of supply chain management of LTL Group,
LLC., where he is mainly responsible for the supply chain
management of semi-conductors and electronic products.

Mr. Fan obtained a Bachelor of Finance degree from East
China Jiaotong University, China in June 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ni Xian (“Mr. Ni”), aged 36, was appointed as an
executive Director on 4 March 2022, re-designated as non-
executive director on 22 November 2023 and ceased to be a
director on 30 May 2024.

Mr. Ni graduated from Northwest University of Political
Science and Law (FAdbBUE K2 with a bachelor’s degree in
legal English in 2008. He subsequently obtained a master’s
degree in Law from the Law School of Huagiao University (Z
BRE) in 2011.

Mr. Ni has assisted companies in making public offerings and
seeking listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
has accumulated working experience in a number of well-
known financial advisory companies. He passed the National
Judicial Examination in the PRC, the Test for English Majors —
Band 8, and the Fund Qualification Examination. He has the
experience in corporate investment and financing, corporate
governance and financial management.

Mr. Ni acted as the President Assistant of Pa Shun
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 574), where he
was responsible for making assessments on acquisitions and
investment projects, conducting due diligence investigations
on finance, business and legal issues, assisting in completing
the IPO of Pa Shun International Holdings Limited in June
2015, assisting in monitoring the progress of projects and
financial position of projects, and assisting the Chief Executive
Officer in developing the long-medium term development
strategies and dealing with the relationships with investors.

From 31 December 2020 to 4 December 2021, Mr. Ni was an
executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited (in liquidation)
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1041).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENREREBEAERHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Yan Ka Shing (“Dr. Yan”), aged 39, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Group since
5 December 2019. Dr. Yan is the chairman of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee, and a member
of the strategy and development committee, the executive
committee and the nomination committee, where he is
primarily responsible for providing independent advice to the
Board.

Dr. Yan has nearly 15 years of experience in the medical
industry and has been employed by the Hospital Authority
since July 2011. He completed his housemanship in the
Hospital Authority from July 2011 to June 2012. He then
became a registered doctor and has served as a medical
officer in various hospitals managed by the Hospital Authority
in Hong Kong, since July 2012.

Dr. Yan obtained his Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor
of Surgery (MBBS) degree from the University of Hong
Kong in November 2011, the Membership of the Royal
Colleges of Physicians of the United Kingdom (MRCP (UK)),
a postgraduate medical diploma in the United Kingdom, in
March 2016, and the Postgraduate Diploma in Infectious
Diseases from the University of Hong Kong (PDipID (HK))
in October 2019. He was admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong College of Physicians in January 2017, then
became Fellow and Specialist in Endocrinology, Diabetes
and Metabolism, and has held fellowships from the Hong
Kong College of Physicians and the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine (Medicine), since September 2020 and December
2020, respectively. Also, he has been a member of the Hong
Kong Medical Association since July 2011.

Dr. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of nomination committee, a member of
the audit committee and remuneration committee of Victory
Securities (Holdings) Company Limited (stock code: 8540.
HK), since 14 June 2018.

Dr. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, the member of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of Comtec Solar
Systems Group Limited (stock code: 712), since 1 July 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhang De An (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 62, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Group since
23 April 2023. Mr. Zhang is a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee where he is responsible for providing independent
advice to the Board.

Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Political
Economics from the Department of Economics of Peking
University in 1984. Mr. Zhang was engaged in teaching in the
Department of Economics of Anhui University from July 1984
to August 1987. He worked as a secretary in the Office of
the President of Anhui University from August 1987 to July
1991, and served as the head of the Training Division of the
Education Department of the People’s Bank of Anhui Province
from July 1991 to July 1993. He served as the secretary
to the Chairman, the manager of the sales department and
the deputy general manager of the HK Kawoo Group from
July 1993 to June 2013, as well as acted as the general
manager of Tianjin Galaxy Doctor Technology Development
Company Limited* (KZ R E LR R FR A RF]) from
July 2013 to August 2016; the deputy general manager of
China Great Wall Medical Investment Management Company
Limited* (f8 M = 4% B B 18 & & 12 A R 2 7)) from August 2016
to May 2018; and the general manager of Shenzhen Junan
Investment Development Company Limited* (F 3145 % % & 3%
& B R 2 7)) since September 2018.

Ms. Yeung Sum (“Ms. Yeung”), aged 51, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director, a chairlady of
the audit committee and a member of the strategy and
development committee of the Company from 14 June 2024.

Ms. Yeung has more than 20 years of experience in the fields
of risk management, audit, finance and internal control. She
was a founding partner of the business risk-advisory practices
of both Hong Kong and China offices, and a lead partner in
the business risk-advisory practices of South China when she
was with one of the four largest renowned accounting firms.

Ms. Yeung has been an independent non-executive director
of Freetech Road Recycling Technology (Holdings) Limited
(“Freetech”, Stock Code: 6888.HK) since August 2012, and
is currently the chair of the audit committee and a member of
the remuneration committee of Freetech.

Ms. Yeung obtained a bachelor degree in commerce majoring
in finance and accounting from University of Auckland in May
1995. She has been a certified public accountant certified by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
April 2006, and a certified internal auditor awarded by the
Institute of Internal Auditors since November 2002.
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EENREREBEAERHE

Ms. Lo Choi Ha, aged 37, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director, a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee, nomination committee, strategy
and development committee and executive committee of the
Company from 28 March 2024. She later ceased to act as
a member of the executive committee and the strategy and
development committee from 14 June 2024, so to better
focus on her respective roles in the board committees of the.
Ms. Lo has extensive experience in the fields of finance and
business management. Since 2021, she has held the position
of director at Summi (HK) Asia Limited, overseeing the
company’s finance and accounting functions. Ms. Lo received
her advanced diploma in Business Management from Lingnan
University in January 2024.

Mr. Sui Fuxiang (“Mr. Sui”), aged 49, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Executive Committee and the
Strategy and Development Committee with from 17 August
2022. Mr. Sui has long been engaged in strategic research,
financial investment and business collaboration. He has
studied in a number of universities and has studied in the
international economic and trade environment, especially in
the field of equity investment. He is familiar with the economic
and social conditions of Hong Kong and Macau, and is good
at analysis for macro economy, as well as business models
and cutting-edge technology research. Focusing on new
energy, new infrastructure and specialized and new fields, Mr.
Sui has organized and planned a number of developments
and transactions regarding high-end equipment production,
asset management, supply chain finance and comprehensive
healthcare projects, underpinned by his rich relevant
resources and experience. Since joining CITIC Merchant Co.,
Ltd. in 2019, he has been mainly responsible for internal
coordination within the group, project development and client
liaison. Mr. Sui was a non-executive director of GTl Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 3344) from November 2019 to October 2020. Mr. Sui
has resigned as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 16 April 2024.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lee Jui-lan (“Ms. Lee”), aged 63, is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company'’s electronics business.

Ms. Lee has over 32 years of experience in the electronics
industry. She has extensive experience in software
development, marketing electronic products and management
of companies in Taiwan. She worked in Intertek Testing
Services Taiwan Ltd., which is principally engaged in testing,
inspecting and certifying electronic products, for more than
10 years with the last position of the general manager of the
electronic business unit principally responsible for the overall
management, which is a subsidiary of Intertek Group PLC, a
company listed in the London Stock Exchange.

Ms. Lee obtained a bachelor of Electronics Engineering
degree from National Taipei University of Technology, Taiwan
in June 1984.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the fifteen-month ended
31 March 2024 (the “Period”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements for the Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Period is set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and "Corporate Governance Report”
on pages 5 to 9, pages 10 to 15 and pages 33 to 50 of this
annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Period and the state of affairs
of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 61 to 220.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

During the Period, the Group adopted the following policies
to improve the environmental quality:

° to design and produce connectivity products by taking
into account the possibility of dismantling and recovery
of the components and materials

° to use recycled papers as printing materials whenever
appropriate
° to reduce electricity consumption by switching off any

light and electrical appliances which are not in use

° to choose energy efficiency appliances (with energy
labels showing on prescribed products) with lowest
energy consumption

° to avoid, reduce or control environmental pollution
arising from the Group’s operations and to require
our contractors to adopt and implement similar
environmental measures

° to ensure good management practices by reviewing
them regularly and ensure that they are tuned to the

changing internal and external circumstances

° to comply with all applicable environmental legislation,
standards and regulations
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The Group will put in place additional environmental policies
as and when appropriate or necessary to ensure that its
business operations are conducted in an environmentally
responsible manner.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The largest and the top five suppliers of the Group accounted
for about 15.83% and 35.2%, respectively, of the Group’s
total purchases for the Period.

The largest and the top five customers of the Group
accounted for about 20.3% and 69.0%, respectively, of the
Group’s total turnover for the Period.

At no time during the Period did a director, an associate
of a director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Period are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 61 to 63 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Period as the Board is expecting an unstable
external business environment for the Period.

FIXED ASSETS

Saved as disclosed otherwise in this annual report, the Group
did not have material capital expenditures and commitments
as at 31 March 2024.

Details of these and other movements during the Period in
the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for the
Period, respectively.
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LIABILITIES

The Group raised new borrowings, in the form of bank loans
and unsecured borrowings for working capital replenishment.
As at 31 March 2024, the outstanding amount was
approximately HK$2.2 million.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Period in the share capital
of the Company are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements for the Period.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 March 2024 amounted to HK$Nil.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Period and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Director:
Mr. Fan Xiaoling

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Wang Li Feng (re-designated to Chairman on
23 April 2023 and re-designated to non-executive director
on 30 May 2024)

Mr. Huang Bin (resigned on 13 March 2024)

Mr. Ni Xian (re-designated as non-executive director on
22 November 2023 and ceased on 30 May 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Yan Ka Shing (Lead Independent Director)
(re-designated on 30 May 2024)

Mr. Sui Fuxiang (resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Lebin (resigned on 24 July 2023))

Mr. Zhang De An (appointed on 23 April 2023)

Ms. Lo Choi Ha (appointed on 28 March 2024)

Ms. Yeung Sum (appointed on 14 June 2024)
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. And, according
to the Corporate Governance Code under Appendix C1 to
the GEM listing Rules (“CG Code”), every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with Article 84(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to
Article 83(2) shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are
to retire by rotation.

In accordance with Article 83(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
members of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

To comply with the above, Mr. Wang and Dr. Yan shall retire
from office, and Ms. Lo, Mr. Zhang and Ms. Yeung shall be
subject to re-election, at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short position of the
directors and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or its associate corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange
pursuant to the required standards of dealings by directors of
listed issuer as referred to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of Chapter
5 of the GEM Listing Rules and Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company were as
follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

EERROREBROZEZER AR

RZZEZWME=A=+—H BEARAREE
FLRHEGD ([BHRBEHKH])EI52(%
GEzERMATRE  NBREGEMEMRAIE
5EE5 46567l EMBEITAESZHIT
R ZWSTIZBEE LR 7B 5 M I B EXVER
TRESHWRITEARAT KB ZFER 2B
FRAARNARMELZBN ESRES 2B
BARARARHEMBE EZE (EERFH LB
EIRBIEXVE) 2 BRD REBEIRMD R EE 2 &
HEEKEWAT

ARAEBREEOIETZEER

Number of Percentage of
issued issued share
ordinary capital of
Name of director Capacity shares held the Company
FEE®T MAARDRIIT
EEEB 5% TEKREA BAzBD K
Mr. Wang (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 355,620,000 (L) 50.51%
FRE (KaFT) R E E
Mr. Wang Beneficial owner 52,595,000 (L) 7.47%
FEAE EmBEE A
Note: st -
L denotes long position L) By E
1. The 355,620,000 shares are held by PT Design Group Holdings 1. F % A [ # 2 E ¥ B BIPT Design Group Holdings
Limited (“PT Design’), which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wang. Limited ( [PT Design] ) 5355,620,0000% i%
/7} °
Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors and PR EXEEEN R_ZT_WF=A=+—H"

chief executive of the Company, nor their associates had any
interests or short positions in any shares or underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as at
31 March 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the persons or entities (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who have
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which have been disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company, were as follows:

Directors’ Report
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FERRRADFARG REBARKRMD 2 #EH
/SRR

R-ZB_MFEF=ZA=1—B REEFLHAE
R PIEXVERE2 M3 B Z R X B M A 2 A #
BRARARDEAEERDHEEEDIARR
ZATHERB(EZERARFBEIEZTHRABR
HN) R AR BIRBRE 75 NI B R P 52336 15%
ATHEZERMACHEIXZERAARRLZ
ARBBED MEBEROTFRBERAIAR ZA
THERB(BEERARFATIZTHAERIMN)
LU

Number of  Percentage of
issued issued share
ordinary capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
e 81T (thAQTAS8T
REER 514 TERYE BEAzEDHK
PT Design Beneficial Owner 355,620,000 (L) 50.51%
PT Design E=#EAA
Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 74,403,000 10.57%
FEERES A (H7iF1) 2 )X i
Modern Wealth Assets Limited Beneficial owner 74,403,000 10.57%
(Note 1)
Modern Wealth Assets Limited BEmnEB A
(HiaE1)
L denotes long position L) BT
Note: Byt
1. Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi is deemed to be interested in the 74,403,000 shares e BEEAERRARERELELEZEHEN

held by Modern Wealth Assets Limited, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to
an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholder(s)’) on 13 December 2001.
Such share option scheme expired upon a period of ten
(10) years commencing on the date on which it becomes
unconditional, and no share option was granted thereunder.
The Company has not adopted any new share option scheme
thereafter.

‘A AlModern Wealth Assets Limitedfr# A #)
74,403,0008% f& 17 = # 5 #E o

B

KRN —_BEE—F+_-_A+=BREAQT
BE(IBRR])BAN — BT RREZRENE
Rt Bl - 2R BTSN ABEKGE R
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Period was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation on his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than the interests disclosed under the section
headed “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares
and Underlying Shares” above, no person in the register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO was disclosed as having
a notifiable interest or short position in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company or
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed in this report, during the Period ended 31
March 2024, the Group had no transactions which need to

be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that those
material related party transactions disclosed in Note 41
to the financial statements did not fall under the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements (if applicable) under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2024, PT Shenzhen is wholly-owned by PT
Consultants which is in turn owned as to 23.07% by Mr.
Wang, 22.0% by Mr. Kong Lixing (a former executive Director
who resigned on 5 December 2019) and 13.6% by Mr. Zhao
Guo Xing (a former executive Director who resigned on 5
December 2019).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated
and promoted based on their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
determined with regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS

Save for the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions disclosed above, during the
Period, the following Director had interests in the following
business which were considered to compete or likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of

EERERBRRRBEFEE D 2ES

the Group (other than those business where the Directors
were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group):

Name of Director

Name of entity which were

considered to compete or
likely to compete with
the business of the Group

Description of
competing Business

B EXERGERERINAEXSAEES
ShoRMAHE TIHEFRAUTHRESEAE
EXRBERKNEEBNLAEBIEFZEH
(BEFEEZEREFURREARAR HAXE
B 2 RBRIN P REA

Nature of interests

WERBAEEELER
Esps FAREBERGECEREE BRIEFBER EEMtE
Wang Li Feng PT Consultants Provision of Architectural Directly holding 23.07%
Design Service (other interest in PT Consultants
than technical and and a director
documentation work)
TEE B E A REEERFRE (MR BERFERBEHEH23.07%HE

30

PT Shenzhen

mExERY

Shanghai PT Architecture
Design & Consultant Co.,
Ltd (“Shanghai PT”)

EEmERERFEANER
~aE ([ ERmE])

X8 TEERSN)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

R ERF RS (K&
AETAERRSN)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

RUELEERG RS (K&
SAETAERSN)
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As (i) the above Director is fully aware of his fiduciary duty
to the Group, and will abstain from voting on any matter
where there is or may be a conflict of interest; (ii) the Master-
planning and Architectural Design Business will be first
undertaken by the Group as general design contractor under
the Business Cooperation Agreement, unless otherwise
requested by independent developers; (i) unless otherwise
requested by independent developers, all master-planning
work shall be first subcontracted to the Group; (iv) the Group
have the first right of refusal on accepting the architectural
schematic design work unless it is specifically requested
by the independent developers that such work shall be
performed by PT Consultants or PT Architectural; and (v) Mr.
Wang has not involved in the day-to-day management and
operation of Shanghai PT, the Group is capable of carrying
its business independently of and at arm’s length from the
businesses of these entities. Save as disclosed above, the
Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors that competed or might compete with the business
of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any
such person had or might have with the Group during the
Period.

DONATIONS

During the Period, the Group did not make any charitable and
other donations.

SUFFICIENCY PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had, up to the
date of this report, maintained the public float required by the
GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and a retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong and the Taiwan, respectively. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% and 6% of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme and the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme respectively, which contribution is
matched by employees. For contribution to the Mandatory
Provident Fund, the maximum amount is HK$1,500 per
month.

Eligible staff of subsidiaries operating in the PRC currently
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries is required to
contribute an amount of 10% on the covered payroll of its
employees to the central pension scheme for the funding
of the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of
the eligible employees of the PRC subsidiaries.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed herein, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during Period or subsisted at the end of the
Period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and period ended 31 March
2024 were audited by Prism Hong Kong Limited. A resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company
to re-appoint Prism Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Li Feng
CHAIRMAN

31 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of China United
Venture Investment Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and believes
that in the achievement of the long term objectives of the
Group, it is utmost importance to conduct the business with
accountability, transparency and fairness.

As of 31 March 2024, the Board with the assistance of
the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) and the external legal adviser, continues
to monitor and review the corporate governance (“CG”)
practices of the Group to be in line with the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix C1 (previously Appendix 15) to the GEM
Listing Rules on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 1 January 2022 (the
“2022 CG Code”) and shall conduct the review of the current
CG practices in accordance with 2022 CG Code and make
necessary changes when appropriate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company has
complied with the code provisions of the CG Code to the
GEM Listing Rules effective up to 31 March 2024 (2023 CG
Code”) throughout Period. The Company has adopted a code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors on
terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Board has a balance of skills and experiences appropriate
for the Company’s business. There is a balance of both
executive and non-executive Directors in the Board members
who bring to the Board with a wide range of professional
experiences in the management, finance and legal industries,
which provide strong support towards the effective discharge
of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. As at the
date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises a total
of six Directors, with one executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Fan Xiaoling, and one non-executive Director, namely Wang
Li Feng (Chairman), and four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Yan Ka Shing (Lead Independent
Director), Mr. Zhang De An, Ms. Lo Choi Ha and Ms. Yeung
Sum. Please refer to the Directors’ report on page 24 for the
Board Composition of the Company during the fifteen-month
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this Annual
Report.
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Biographical details of all the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
section under this Annual Report. An updated list of Directors
identifying their roles and functions is maintained on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORSHIP DURING AND AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The nomination committee met for 6 time during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2024 to, among others, introduce
new talent to the Board and fulfill the succession needs of
the Board with an aim to creating sustainable values for the
Company’s shareholders.

Redesignation of Chairman of the Board

Mr. Wang Li Feng (“Mr. Wang”) being the Vice-Chairman of
the Board and executive Director, has been redesignated to
Chairman of the Board with effect from 23 April 2023 and
Mr. Wang being a committee member of the Nomination
Committee, has been re-designated as Co-Chairman of
the Nomination Committee on 1 June 2023. On 30 May
2024 after the Period ended, Mr. Wang has further been re-
designated to non-executive director.

Following the re-designation of Mr. Wang to Chairman of the
Board and non-executive director, Mr. Wang stepped down
to become a member of the executive committee of the
Company (the “Executive Committee”), resigned from being
chairman of the nomination committee but remain as the
chairman of the strategy and development committee of the
Company (the “Strategy and Development Committee”)
and a member of each of the remuneration committee (the
“‘Remuneration Committee”) of the Company.

Cessation of Director

Mr. Wu Lebin (“Mr. Wu”) ceased to be an independent non-
executive Director on 24 July 2023 as he wished to devote
more time to his other business commitments.

Mr. Wu confirmed that he had no disagreement with the
Board and that there was no matter relating to his cessation
that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders
of the Company or the Exchange.

Mr. Huang Bin (“Mr. Huang”) has resigned as the Co-
Chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director, due
to his other personal commitments, and ceased to be the
Co-Chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
following his resignation from 13 March 2024.
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Mr. Huang has confirmed that he has no disagreement with
the Board and there are no other matters that need to be
brought to the attention of the Shareholders or the Stock
Exchange in relation to his resignation.

Mr. Sui Fuxiang (“Mr. Sui”) has resigned as an independent
non-executive Director due to his health condition with effect
from 16 April 2024.

Mr. Sui has confirmed that he has no disagreement with the
Board and there are no other matters that need to be brought
to the attention of the Shareholders or the Stock Exchange in
relation to his resignation.

Mr. Ni intended to step down from his directorship in the
second half of 2023 before it subsequently resolved with Mr.
Ni to re-designate him from the position of executive Director
to non-executive Director, with effect from 22 November
2023. Mr. Ni has confirmed his decision not to seek
renewal of his appointment following the conclusion of his
current term in order to devote more time to his other work
commitments and ceased to act as a non-executive Director
with effect from 30 May 2024.

Mr. Ni has confirmed that he has no disagreement with the
Board and there are no other matters that need to be brought
to the attention of the Shareholders or the Stock Exchange in
relation to his expiration of term of service.

Appointment of Director

Mr. Zhang De An (“Mr. Zhang”) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee from 23 April 2023 and Mr. Zhang
further appointed as a member of the Executive Committee
and the Strategy and Development Committee on 28 March
2024. Mr. Zhang later stepped down from being a member of
the Strategy and Development Committee on 19 June 2024.

Ms. Lo Choi Ha (“Ms. Lo”) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Board, a member
of each of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
the executive committee (the “Executive Committee”) and
the strategy and development committee (the “Strategy and
Development Committee”) of the Company with effect from
28 March 2024. Ms. Lo later stepped down from being a
member of the Strategy and Development Committee as well
as the Executive Committee on 19 June 2024.

Corporate Governance Report

ERER®RS

BEEALCHARBEZTG L RAAES L RBE
ERNABERECHEHMEEARBEREABR
P £ ©

ettt (IBRE])DERFBRERREAR
{Eﬁiﬁﬁt i% Q—v—@i?—qﬁ"”/\a
AR o

BEADHR RAEERLHEELHL N
1775 0 40 B 22 B4 0 7 9 4 AR SR B X T
%t o

REEBMR T -_=ZF T FFRIEEERG
BB R EENBSANTEETATAIEHR
TEE BB -_=F+—A-+-—HEEK-

REABABEAEITSEEEAEHERES
KEBRE NEREMIEFTERATZRKRE

YA BEEFRTET BT _NFHHA
= tBEEEX-

RELERR BREFRLEE DB
FEMERGTHER L KM EEARBERE
55 32 Ff 2% -

EEES

FEzss ((REE])EREEABIIEN

TES BERZE® FTHZEEeRREEEE
eRE BT _FHEAZT=-HBEK-
RAEER-ZZE-_WNWF=ZA-_+/\HEE—FZ
TEKNTZEEGUREREEREZEEEKE -
REEEBR-ZZTZWFANA T BB TS
RERZBEKE -

EXYBEXL([EXT| )EREZEREESSE
VHNTER ARAERZES ([BRER
gl REZER([REZEEE]) FMZ
Eg((#FMEEE]) HTTZEE([BTE

BEURBRLEERZES ([BRERE
ZEE|)KE B-ZT_WF=ZA-_t/\B&
AR -BEXTEER T _WFE AT HLBE
TBRLRERZEGEURNTZEGKE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 F $% 2023/24 35



36

Corporate Governance Report

ERERARSE

Ms. Yeung Sum (“Ms. Yeung”) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director, a chairlady of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) and a member of the
strategy and development committee of the Company (the
“Strategy and Development Committee”) with effect from
14 June 2024.

Biographical details of Mr. Zhang, Ms. Lo and Ms. Yeung are
set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” of this report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the 2022 CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Chairman
of the Group is responsible for leading the Board to ensure
that it operates effectively and performs its duties, while
Chief Executive of the Group is responsible for the overall
implementation of the Group’s business development and
general management. The Company has no Chief Executive
Officer since 29 December 2022.

During the Period, the daily operation and management of
the Company is undertaken and monitored by the executive
Directors and senior management of the Company is
responsible for the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Company. The delegated functions and
work tasks are periodically reviewed. The Board will continue
to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance
structure of the Group in order to assess whether the
appointment of Chief Executive Officer, and the separation
of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
necessary. The Company will continue to enhance its
corporate governance practices appropriate to the business
and to review its corporate governance practices from time
to time to ensure they comply with the statutory requirements
and regulations and the Corporate Governance Code and
align with the latest developments.

Since the re-designation of Mr. Wang to non-executive
Director on 30 May 2024, Mr. Wang would focus on the
management of the Board and its Board committee while the
day- to-day management of the Company’s business would
be taken care of by Mr. Fan Xiaoling, Executive Director
of the Company with the senior management team. The
Board considers that the Company has complied with Code
Provision C.2.1 since than.
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The types of decisions taken out by the Board include
matters in relation to:

° corporate and capital structure;

o corporate strategy;

° significant policies affecting the Group as a whole;

° business plan, budgets and public announcements;

° delegation to the Chairman, and delegation to and by

Board committees;
° key financial matters;

° appointment, removal or reappointment of Board
members, senior management and auditors;

° remuneration of directors and senior management; and

° communication with key stakeholders, including
shareholders and regulatory bodies.

The Board may delegate certain decision-making regarding
the daily operation and administration of the Company to the
senior management from time to time, the daily operation and
management of the Company is monitored by the executive
Directors under the direction and supervision of the executive
Directors.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships) among members of
the Board.
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BOARD OPERATION

The Board meets regularly over the Company’s affairs and
operations. During the Period ended 31 March 2024, no
general meetings and 19 Board meetings were held for the
purposes of, among others,

(vii)
(viii)

38

reviewing and approving the quarterly results of the
Company for the three months ended 31 March 2023
and for the nine months ended 30 September 2023;

reviewing and approving the interim results of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and
31 December 2023;

reviewing and approving the annual results of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022;

discussing and approving one discloseable
transaction;

discussing and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Group;

considering and approving the remuneration packages
of the respective Directors;

discussing status of resumption; and

accepting and adopting the proposal of board
members appointment and resignations.
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The attendance record of each member of the Board at EFE€Z&XEBHEEZTeeZINEAQRAEHE—
the Board meetings and the annual general meeting of the Z-WNHF=ZA=+—HIt+HBEARREFK
Company during the fifteen-month ended 31 March 2024 is & Z ;2 8k& 50T ¢

set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings
HER ERRE
Board
Meetings AGM
ExeeEd RRBFKRE

Mr. Huang (Chairman) (resigned on =hE(XE) (RZE 16/16 0/0

13 March 2024) ZWHE=A+=AT)

Mr. Wu (resigned on 24 July 2023) REE (RZEZ=FtA 5/5 0/0
—+mA %"FEE)

Mr. Ni (re-designated as non-executive REE (RZTE_=F+— 17/19 0/0

director on 22 November 2023 and A+ —HATAEIERTT

cease on 30 May 2024) EENR-_E-_NFAHA
=+ BHE)

Mr. Sui (resigned on 16 April 2024) BEhE (RZZT_MHFEMm A 19/19 0/0
“f’/\ E f%¥ 1?[)

Mr. Wang B e 19/19 0/0

Mr. Fan BAEE 19/19 0/0

Dr. Yan MEL 19/19 0/0

ZHANG De An (appointed on 23 April 2023) KEZ(RZTZ=FMAH 17/17 0/0
“t+=B#EZE)

LO Choi Ha (appointed on 28 March 2024) EXE (RZE-MOF=H 0/0 0/0
“+NHEZMT)

YEUNG Sum (appointed on 14 June 2024 BHE(RZEZMERHA 0/0 0/0
T+ BEELE)

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EERSNEEAEME

MANAGEMENT

The Remuneration Committee was formed for, inter alia, the ZHMEZEE €KY HFEEBFEUTEE:
following purposes:

(a)  to make recommendations to the Board on policies (a) HMEZENSREBEABEZFHBERE

and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior B RRBLEHMEBAENREFH
management and on the establishment of a formal and ETERFMER MESFSELERE:
transparent procedure for developing policy on such X

remuneration; and

(o)  to determine the remuneration packages for executive  (b) #E%ﬂﬁ%%&% BEEANB ZFH A
Directors and senior management and to make EJL FPITES 2 HFWmMESSH®E
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of ﬁLu
non-executive Directors.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee was
made up of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Yan (Chairman), Mr. Zhang was appointed on 23
April 2023 and Mr. Sui was ceased on 28 March 2024 and
following his resignation, Ms. Lo was appointed on 28 March
2024, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang.

During the fifteen-month ended 31 March 2024, two
Remuneration Committee meeting was held for the purpose
of, among others, reviewing, approving and recommending
the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management to the Board for consideration and approval.
The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out
below:

RZE-_WF=ZA=+—H" ﬂwiéAm:
BBUFRATES(NEEE(EE) B
—=ZFWMA=+Z= H%%EE‘]%EEEELA&%F
%$F434E¢ A+ N NB#HEE B=
“WHEZA-+NBREZINELRLT)R—
%#ﬂﬁi%(ﬂﬂiﬁ%i)%ﬂﬁi

REBEE-_Z_-_MF=ZA=+—HLE+HEA"
THMEEERTMASH BEE(EPEE)®
Ao ERERANEERSREREABNTE
g HEEesgkitE-BEE -2 -1
FZA=+—HLFE FWHEZEEEKEZ
R s o T

Attendance
Members of Remuneration Committee FMZEESE/KE i FE R
Dr. Yan HE 2/2
Mr. Wang FhAE 2/2
Ms. Lo (appointed on 28 March 2024) Ext(RZE-_NMF=ZA=+N\NAEZE) 0/0
Mr. Zhang De An (appointed on RELZEE (R_ZE-_=ZFWA=-+=H 1/1

23 April 2023) BZE)

Mr. Sui (ceased on 28 March 2024) BBt (R-_ZE-_NMFE=/ -+ \BEHT) 2/2

Details regarding the Company’s emolument policy and long
term incentive schemes, as well as the basis of determining
the directors’ emoluments are set out in this Annual Report.

The Remuneration Committee will meet and review the
emolument policy and long-term incentive schemes as well
as the basis of determining the emolument payable to the
Company’s directors for the fifteen-month ended 31 March
2024.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Yan
(Chairman), Mr. Zhang and Ms. Lo. Mr. Zhang was appointed
on 23 April 2023 and Ms. Lo was appointed on 28 March

2024

During the fifteen-month ended 31 March 2024, the Audit
Committee held eleven meetings and performed the following

duties:

(1)

reviewed and commented on the Company’s draft
annual, interim and quarterly financial announcements,
Directors’ Report, Independent Auditors’ Report and
Financial Statements, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval;

reviewed and commented on the Group’s internal
controls;

met with the external auditors and participated in the
appointment, reappointment and assessment of the
performance of the external auditors;

reviewed the results of the external audits;

reviewed and assessed the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including
the risk management systems, the internal audit
function relating to risk management and the
Group’s contingency plans;

reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems after considering the report from the
internal auditors;

reviewed the significant findings and recommendations
from the internal auditor and external auditor,
and monitored their implementations; and

reviewed and monitored the compliance by the
Company with all applicable laws, regulations,
standards and best practice guidelines.

the annual results presented herein have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee; and

monitor the status of resumption.
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The attendance record of each member of the Audit
Committee during the fifteen-month ended 31 March 2024 is
set out below:

B
>

E-FT N
TREBEERK

F=Z=A=+—RHBI+HEAA F
Bz HFEHEEINMT

Attendance
Members of Audit Committee EREEEAE o =
Mr. Sui (ceased on 28 March 2024) BErRE(R-ZZE-_WF=A=+N\BHE) 10/10
Dr. Yan HEL 11/11
Ms. Lo (appointed on 28 March 2024) Ezt(R=ZZE-_NF=A=-+ N \HEZI) 0/0

Mr. Zhang (appointed on 23 April 2023)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the fifteen-month ended 31 March 2024, the
remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor,
Prism Hong Kong Limited, in respect of audit and non-audit
services is set out below:

RELA (RZE-_=FMA-_+=HEZE)

11/11
BB A&

HE_Z_WF=ZA=+—HBLET+HEHEA &
NCIIEAS Y SN AR S IR DRl
FRBRARER RIEFEARB ZMEHIIT

2023 2022
—Zg== —_F-—
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Prism Hong Kong Limited BEETHEEFRERAA
Audit service HETRE 1,150 1,100

An independence confirmation has been obtained from the
Prism Hong Kong Limited confirming that Prism Hong Kong
Limited is independent of the Group in accordance with the
independence requirements of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants for the fifteen-month ended 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

42 China United Venture Investment Limited $T## SR EAR L 7

ZAN/N TEHX SHEEeFMmEEMERA TE’W‘%
VYR HABEZEFAMELEMBERA
Eki_?_mi A=+— Eii—HﬂIH&E
EAFHROPBEEESHMASHNFEILENL
BEYNASENAL



NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has established the Nomination Committee
pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee adopted the following procedure and
criteria for nomination of Directors:

1 Procedure for Nomination of Directors

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

When there is a vacancy in the Board,
the Board evaluates the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience of the Board, and
identifies any special requirements for the
vacancy (e.g. independence status in the case
of an independent non-executive Director).

Prepare a description of the role and capabilities
required for the particular vacancy.

Identify a list of candidates through personal
contacts/recommendations by Board members,
senior management, business partners or
investors.

Arrange interview(s) with each candidate for the
Board to evaluate whether the candidate meets
the established written criteria for nomination of
Directors. One or more members of the Board
will attend the interview.

Conduct verification on information provided by
the candidate.

Convene both Nomination Committee meeting
and Board meeting to discuss and vote on
which candidate to nominate or appoint to the
Board.
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2.1

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T

Criteria for Nomination of Directors

Common Criteria for All Directors

(a)
(b)

Character and integrity

The willingness to assume broad
fiduciary responsibility

Present needs of the Board for particular
experience or expertise and whether the
candidate would satisfy those needs

Relevant experience, including
experience at the strategy/policy setting
level, high level managerial experience
in a complex organisation, industry
experience and familiarity with the
products and processes used by the
Company

Significant business or public experience

relevant and beneficial to the Board and
the Company

Breadth of knowledge about issues
affecting the Company

Ability to objectively analyse complex
business problems and exercise sound

business judgment

Ability and willingness to contribute
special competencies to Board activities

Fit with the Company’s culture

Board diversity
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2.2 Criteria for Non-Executive Directors

(@) Willingness and ability to make a
sufficient time commitment to the affairs
of the Company in order to effectively
perform the duties of a director, including
attendance at and active participation in
Board and committee meetings

(b) Accomplishments of the candidate in his
or her field

(c) Outstanding professional and personal
reputation

(d) The candidate’s ability to meet the
independence criteria for directors
established in the GEM Listing Rules

In structuring of the Board composition, by taking into
account the Group’s board diversity policy, board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

As at 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee was made
up of one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Yan, Mr.
Zhang and Ms. Lo. Mr. Zhang was appointed on 23 April
2023 and Ms. Lo was appointed on 28 March 2024.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, six Nomination
Committee meeting was held for the purposes of, among
others, (i) assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; (i) making recommendation to the
Board for consideration the re-election of all the retiring
Directors as Directors at the 2023 AGM; and (iii) reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance
record of each member of the Nomination Committee during
the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

RBEE_T_NMEF=A=+—-HILFE &%
ZEBERTARER §E (AP EE) ()F R
BYFRTEETNBILE: (\REBAMARE
EEN_ZT__FBRRBEFRSLBEELR
EEnEFeRHEEZUHER: Rie T E
EENRB - RAEREAKN -BE_T_NF=
A=Z+—HLFE RE2ZEBe8KNEZHE
FREERE ST

Attendance
Members of Nomination Committee REZEBE/HE i FE R
Mr. Sui (ceased on 28 March 2024) FEhE (RZTE_NE=ZA =+ NBHE) 5/5
Mr. Wang FhAE 6/6
Mr. Huang (ceased on 13 March 2024) BEAE(RZE-_NFE=ZA+=HEHMT) 4/4
Dr. Yan B4 6/6
Mr. Zhang (appointed on 23 April 2023) REE(RZE_=ZFNA-+=HEZMT) 5/5
Ms. Lo (appointed on 28 March 2024) EZzt(R=ZZE-_NF=A=-+ N \HEZI) 0/0

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
and are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company would provide to each newly appointed
director or alternative director an induction package covering
the summary of the responsibilities and liabilities of a director
of a Hong Kong listed company, the Group’s businesses and
the statutory regulatory obligations of a director of a listed
company as well as the Company’s constitutional documents
to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements.

The Company has provided information related to the
changes in the GEM Listing Rules to the directors to
update and refresh the directors’ knowledge on the latest
developments to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company will
continuously update the directors on the latest developments
to the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance the
directors’ awareness of good corporate governance
practices.
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For the fifteen-month ended 31 March 2024, a summary of
their records of continuous development training is as below:
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BE_T_WE=-—A=+—HLETHEA ®
FNRBERBICHERBELT

Attending
webinars/
reading
materials
and updates
relevant to
corporate
governance
o FE B
TEEREBRN
BEmae
HEAMEER
HERKBIE
Name of Directors EEHRE MBI REH
Executive Director: HTES:
Mr. Fan Xiaoling BN EE v
Non-Executive Director: FHITES:
Mr. Wang Li Feng (re-designated to Chairman FREESE (RZEZ=FA=+=HH
on 23 April 2023 and re-designated to non- ETAEEFERR_Z-_MFRAA=THHAE
executive director on 30 May 2024) BIERITESE) v
Mr. Huang Bin (resigned on 13 March 2024) ERAAE (RZEZMF=A+=HBHT) v
Mr. Ni Xian (re-designated as non-executive RZEE(RZEZ=F+—H=Z+=HH
director on 22 November 2023 and ceased on TARENTES MR _E-_NFRA =T
30 May 2024) HEE) v
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BYBITES:
Mr. Sui Fuxiang (resigned on 16 April 2024) et (RZE-MFMA +/NAFT) v
Dr. Yan Ka Shing Eﬁ%‘:% 4
Mr. Wu Lebin (resigned on 24 July 2023) LAt (RZE=F+tA=-+MUHE
E) v
Mr. Zhang De An (appointed on 23 April 2023) REZEE (RZEZ=FNA=Z+=H#
Z{E) 4
Ms. Lo Choi Ha (appointed on 28 March 2024) E¥EBEZx Lt (RZZE-_HF=A=+/\HE
Z{E) N/AZ iE B
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the Bye-Laws of the Company, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for
publicly available information and provide comments and
suggestions to directors or management of the Company.
Such questions, requests and comments can be addressed
to Mr. Wang Li Feng by email to lifengwang@188.com or Mr.
Patrick Chang at patrick@glorymarkhightech.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws, rules and regulations and subject to the Bye-laws of the
Company.

The dividends may be paid up in the form of the Company’s
shares in addition to cash, by the distribution of specific
assets of any kind or by distribution of any form. Subject to
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the
Bye-laws of the Company, in deciding whether to propose
any dividend payout, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, the earnings,
losses and distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity
requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit
lines, and the current and future development plans of the
Company.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Directors are aware of the requirements under the
applicable regulations, Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the Hong Kong Listing Rules for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. All the inside
information identified by the Directors shall be published
and disclosed to the public in a timely manner through the
Company’s publications and communications, unless the
information falls within safe harbours as prescribed in the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report, there has not been any change in the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Company’s Bye-laws are available
on the websites of the Company (www.glorymark.com.tw)
and the Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Period, Mr. Tsang Shiao Tung resigned as the
company secretary with effect from 14 May 2023. Ms. Ng
Tien Che Margaret was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company with effect from 1 June 2023 pursuant to
Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules and she resigned as
the company secretary with effect from 16 October 2023.
Following Ms. Ng's resignation, Ms. Li Hoi Mei (“Ms. Li") has
been appointed as the company secretary with effect from
28 March 2024. Ms. Li has more than 12 years of experience
in the fields of corporate governance and compliance
(company secretarial and listing matters), corporate finance
and investor relations. Ms. Li has been an associate member
of The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom
and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) with the designations of Chartered Secretary
and Chartered Governance Professional since November
2020. Ms. Li graduated with a bachelor of social sciences in
communication (journalism) degree from Hong Kong Baptist
University in November 2011, and has been awarded the
postgraduate diploma in finance and law from The University
of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education in March 2018. Ms. Li has also been awarded the
degree of master of corporate governance by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in September 2020.
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All the Directors have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary on corporate governance and Board
practice and matters.

On 23 March 2025, Ms. Li has ceased to act as the company
secretary. During the Period, the company secretaries have
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is in the course of screening and selecting
qualified candidates to fill the casual vacancy of the Company
Secretary following the cessation of Ms. Li as the Company
Secretary, so as to meet the requirements under Rule 5.14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) as soon as
practicable. The Company will make further announcement
on the appointment in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules as and when the suitable person is identified.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Group has formulated risk management and internal
control systems to provide standard guidelines for
identification, assessment, management, monitoring and
reporting of all materials risks of the Group. Appropriate
internal control procedures are established to ensure a
comprehensive, accurate and timely record of accounting and
management information.

The Group has an Internal Audit Department which
reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit
Department conducts a regular review to ensure the financial
statement is prepared in accordance with the relevant
accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations.
It provides the Audit Committee and the Board with useful
information and recommendations on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems. Internal Controls
Review Reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review with recommendations adopted to
further enhance the effectiveness of the internal controls. The
Internal Audit Department also assists the Audit Committee
in monitoring the implementations of the previously identified
findings and reports the status of remediation to the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit Department generally reviews
and assesses the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
systems by adopting a risk-based audit approach based on
the Internal Control — 2013 Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission (“COS0O”).
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Independent Auditor’s Report

%@ Prism

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA UNITED VENTURE
INVESTMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China United Venture Investment Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 61 to 220, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition from contract work of
comprehensive architectural services

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter
BREENSEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR &

HEREEZEE R

PHEERBENIENBRARR

R R AR S B TS IR M FES -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

REBEMTHESNAEREZER

We have identified the revenue recognition from
contract work of comprehensive architectural services
as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement
and estimate applied by management in determining
the total cost to complete and the contract costs
incurred for work performed to date.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March
2024, the Group recognised revenue of HK$2,212,000
from its provision of comprehensive architectural
services. The Group recognises service revenue by
referring the stage of completion of the contract
activities at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion of contract costs incurred
for work performed to date relative to the estimated
total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition
on these contracts involves a significant degree of
management judgement in the estimation of the
total contract costs and stage of completion of each
contract.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
contract work of comprehensive architectural services
included the following:

- Obtained an understanding of and evaluated
management’s process for estimating total
contract costs, determining the stage of
completion and recording of contract costs;

- Compared the contract sum and budgeted
contract costs to respective signed contracts
and approved budgets on a sample basis;

- Discussed with management and examined
supporting documents to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimation
of the total contract costs and contract costs
incurred for work performed to date on a
sample basis;

- Recalculated the accuracy of the percentage of
completion based on the proportion of contract
costs incurred for work performed to date
relative to the estimated total contract costs;
and

- Assessed the reliability of contract budgets
by comparing actual contract costs against
budgeted costs of completed projects prepared
by the Group’s management.

BEEHEEBARAR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition from contract work of
comprehensive architectural services (Continued)

BAREXSE®
PHEBERBEANIRNBARRE (8)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREETER REBETHESNAREZER

AZBMITOEREEEERBENIRENRARER AZBOTAZEAZERBANDIRRARARTZ
RERELFR REAREEETRERHAB MG BFEEUATREA:

PABEE BTN R e S BIEH TRRAKIRA

BE-_E-_=Ff—HA—HBEE-_T_WNFE=A=+—H -
IHAE BESERRREZAZERBESHBA
2,212,000/ L ESE2BBEPRREGLNTHNT
RIS STERALERCSRETIRMEENASNN —
ABE A FTRE DR AR L PIFER R - AL - 35
AR AERSIREEERTHBEOKARST
NEXHTERBER G REGEERRENHE MG —
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of loan receivables, trade and other
receivables

Refer to notes 25 and 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The key audit matter
BMREENEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR &

BAREEFXSE®
BHER BEFRAEMEVRERRZEHE

R R AR S B ISR M 25 k27 -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

REBMITHESNAEEZER

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the
Group’s loan receivables, trade receivables and
other receivables are approximately HK$699,000,
HK$26,856,000 and HK$115,930,000 respectively, net
of accumulated loss of HK$16,000, HK$11,641,000
and HK$1,127,000 respectively.

The management of the Group conducted periodic
assessment on the expected credit loss (“ECL”") of
the loan receivables, trade and other receivables and
the sufficiency of provision for loss allowance based
on factors including ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, expected timing and
amount of realisation of outstanding balances,
and ongoing trading relationships with the relevant
customers. Additionally, management considered
forward-looking information that might impact the
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances to
estimate the ECL.

We have identified the loss allowance on loan
receivables, trade receivables and other receivables as
a key audit matter due to its significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements and the extensive
use of management judgement in the ECL, which may
be subject to management bias.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
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Our procedures in relation to valuation of loan
receivables, trade and other receivables assets
included the following:

S Reviewed the management’s assessment of
ECL model and challenge the reasonableness of
the methods and assumptions used to estimate
the ECL of loan receivables, trade and other
receivables;

- Obtained an understanding of the methodology
for the ECL model, development processes and
evaluated the design and implementation of the
key controls through review of documentation
and discussion with management and expert;

- Assessed and challenged the reasonableness of
the assumptions and judgements made by the
Group’s management regarding model adoption
and parameter selection;

- Examined the key data inputs to the ECL model
on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and
reasonableness; and

- Checked mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the provision for loss allowance.

BEEHEEBARAR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of loan receivables, trade and other
receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter
BRETEE

HEREEZEE R

BRER -BEZREMEBWIRR ZMEE (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

REBETHESNAREZER

R-ZZE-_WNF=ZA=Z+—H ' S£ENEKER &
5 FEWAR 3R K E At JiE UK BR 51 A BR (B 9 Bl 4 4699,000
7 7T+ 26,856,000/ 7T & 115,930,000/ 7t * 1k R &t
BB 4 5 5116,00058 7T ~ 11,641,0005 7T ). 1,127,000
EIT e

BEEEEEERBRKER EHREIRKMNERE B
TRECR RHREALAREESEHRER SR L AN
MEFHARERXZIBASERHE S REMBEREERER
WEREERR ([AHGEEER) MBEBRBENTR
METERT G-I EREZERARTETFEER
REEFEBORENOAEMEER  UEFEREERE-

AZBEMITEHREERER B 5 RUCRR R E B
RRMEBREREEES - HRREAFTR ITHRH
HEAMBBRR2FEINBAMEEBRREZERE
EREHE X EEBREARR-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’ s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Lee Kwok Lun.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: P06294
Hong Kong

17 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeBRERkAEMEEKRER

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-ZE—-=
—B—BEZE

—EINFE HE—_ZT_—_—
=A=+—-H +ZA=+—H

IEHA R IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &t FET FET
(Re-presented)
(&%)
Continuing operations BHEREER
Revenue A ) 208,569 280,886
Cost of sales and services rendered HE RIRHERB KA (188,227) (250,316)
Gross profit EF 20,342 30,570
Other income H At Y A 7 4,077 6,059
Other gains/(losses), net Hipdezs,/(EE)F5E 8 71,509 (119)
Impairment losses on financial and TRERENEEZRERE
contract assets, net R 9 (517) (3,388)
Change in fair value of financial assets XA FEFABBZZ & REE
at fair value through profit or loss ZRNFEEEE 1,988 (2,387)
Change in fair value of investment WEYMERNFEES)
properties 20 (4,767) (800)
Share of loss of joint ventures EiHEaBECEESE - (3,405)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDHERAE (12,538) (7,972)
Administrative expenses TR X (72,126) (68,908)
Finance costs BT AR 10 (4,617) (2,988)
Profit/(loss) before tax from REBESEEL ZRBA
continuing operations =R (EE) 3,351 (53,338)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiERiEe, (FAX) 14 739 (202)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year from REAGELLEEBE2H FR
continuing operations =R (EE) 4,090 (53,540)
Discontinued operations ERIEEEE
Loss for the period/year from REACKRIECEER 28/
discontinued operations FNEE 13 (8,358) (7,934)
Loss for the period/year HEREE 15 (4,268) (61,474)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REREREMEERER

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-&E=-=
—B—HEZE
—BEoNF BE-_T_-__—
=B=+-8B +=ZA=+—H
- EA R IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M &t FET FHEIT
(Re-presented)
(ge=E:5))
Other comprehensive income/ Hi2mWkE(FxX)
(expense)
Items that may be reclassified HERBEEN P E B o
subsequently to profit or 10ss: EH
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBIEEZER
translation of foreign operations =& (2,065) (315)
Items that will not be reclassified HETeEF T EZ B2
subsequently to profit or 10ss: EH
Revaluation of property, plant and HBREREYMEEEHDE -
equipment upon transfer to = K&
investment properties 37,607 -
Deferred tax debited to asset REEEHREBENR ZEL
revaluation reserve 18 (9,402) =
Other comprehensive income/ B/ EFREMEEKRE
(expense) for the period/year (FX) 26,140 (315)
Total comprehensive income/ B EREEkE S (BAX)
(expense) for the period/year 58 21,872 (61,789)
(Loss)/profit for the period/year IWTALTEMGES FR
attribute to: (EBR)EH -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIEZF SN (693) (61,906)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 I A 2 (3,575) 432
(4,268) (61,474)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REREREMEERER

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=Z=-=
—HB—HE=E
—ENF BE_T-—
=A=+-8 +-A=+—8
IEHA R LEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &t FET FET
(Re-presented)
(&%)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) LA T AT EMZEKE
attributable to: (X)) ®’E:
— Owners of the Company —ARBEBA 25,288 (62,221)
- Non-controlling interests —FEE R A (3,416) 432
21,872 (61,789)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRAEFN (EBE)
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR REE (BN
— For loss for the period/year —H/FANEE 17 (0.10) (8.79)
— For profit/(loss) from continuing —REBEBECEER 2 HEHN
operations (E518) 17 0.70 (7.49)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR IR R &R

As at 31 March 2024 R—ZE-NF=A=+—H

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-NE —=E-=
=A=+—-8B +ZHA=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M &t FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB kEHB 18 7,483 25,283
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 18,040 22,584
Investment properties "EWE 20 44,781 12,700
Interests in joint ventures REEBETENEE 21 - S
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRZ
profit or loss TREE 22 - 47
Other intangible asset Hmp&E 23 - 1,088
Goodwill EES 24 - 550
Loan receivables FEUWE K 25 657 5,544
70,961 67,796
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 26 20,570 34,367
Trade and other receivables H 5 M H b fE YR K 27 142,828 104,203
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRZ
profit or loss TREE 22 3,893 1,905
Contract assets EHNEE 28 4,485 4,996
Cash and cash equivalents RekERHBELIEE 29 75,195 106,484
246,971 251,955
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M H AR IRR 30 80,805 71,411
Contract liabilities AHBE 31 42,565 3,007
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 6,876 6,756
Tax liabilities MIBEBBE 28,752 30,292
Bank and other borrowings RIT R b fE 3K 32 2,220 70,314
161,218 181,780
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 85,753 70,175
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRBAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES 156,714 137,971
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e B ERR &

As at 31 March 2024 R —ZE-_ME=HA=+—8”

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-mE —E-=
=A=+—-8H +ZA=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B zF FETT FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kARBARE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 32 - 9,926
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 33 8,490 445
Lease liabilities HEARE 19 13,061 12,985
21,551 23,356
NET ASSETS EEFE 135,163 114,615
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAREE
Share capital fi& A 34 7,040 7,040
Reserves & 129,798 104,601
Equity attributable to owners of KNREE ARRZ
the Company 136,838 111,641
Non-controlling interests JEPE R = (1,675) 2,974
TOTAL EQUITY ESEEE 135,163 114,615

Wang Li Feng
E: 1
DIRECTOR
EF

Fan Xiaoling
PR
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

e

Eam2ER

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BT = —A—HRZEZ_FT_NF ==+ —H - #fH

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

ARAEBARG 2R
Asset Non-
Share Share Merger revaluation Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
gE
RE  RGEE AUEE EMREE EXRE  REER A FERER RS
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FEx FET FEx FET FET
(note i) (note ii) (note iii)
(Histi)  (HEEi) (A i)
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-fF-H 7,040 5,438 680 - 2,432 96,051 111,641 2,974 114,615
Profit/(loss) for the period B3],/ (1) - - - - - (693) (693) (3,575) (4,268)
Other comprehensive HREB2ERE/
income/(expense) for (A%)
the period
Exchange differences BEBNEBREE
arising on translation of ZERER
foreign operations - - - - (2,224) - (2,224) 159 (2,065)
Revaluation of property, ERERENER
plant and equipment EftNE -BER
upon transfer to B
investment properties - - - 37,607 - - 37,607 - 37,607
Deferred tax debited to REEERFENR
asset revaluation reserve ZEEHE - - - (9,402) - - (9,402) - (9,402)
Total comprehensive B{AZE (%),
(expense)/income for Wimies
the period - - - 28,205 (2,224) (693) 25,288 (3,416) 21,872
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAA
(note 38) (Hiz#38) - - - - (91) - (1) (1,233) (1,324)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME
=A=1+-H 7,040 5,438* 680* 28,205* 117* 95,358* 136,838 (1,675) 135,163

66

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEEEEX

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BT - =F — A —HBEZ_T_MF= A=+ —H L HH

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
ARAGER AR 2 ER

Non-
Share Share Merger Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BRA  ROEE AHREE ERRE BaH @ JEERER oL
HK$'000 HK$ 000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$ 000
FiET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(note i) (note i)
(Hsi)  (Kragi)
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-ZF
—A—H 7,040 5,438 680 2,747 157,957 173,862 (754) 173,108
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (61,906) (61,906 432 (61,474)
Other comprehensive expense 4 W E {2 H 51
for the year
Exchange differences arising & /8 5 E#5 FT
on translation of foreign EECERER
operations - - - (315) - (315) - (315)
Total comprehensive FR2E (FAY)/
(expense)/income for WameE
the year - - - (315 (61,908)  (62,221) 432 (61,789)
Acquisition of subsidiaries =N
(note 37) (Hia37) - - - - - - 3,296 3,296
At 31 December 2022 R-E-Zf
+=-RA=+- 7,040 5,438 680 2,432 96,051 111,641 2,974 114,615
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other * ZEFHEeRe "*\ﬁﬁf%ﬂﬁiﬁﬁqjﬁ’]iﬁ’*\ ﬁ%
reserves of approximately HK$134,012,000 (31 December 2022: ##9134,012, oooﬁém (ZF=Z=F+=A=+—

Notes:

HK$104,601,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

On 3 June 2020, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent placed
64,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of a HK$0.1 per
placing share to certain independent places. The net proceeds from
the subscription is net of related issued costs and expenses.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued for the
acquisition under the group reorganisation in 2001.

The asset revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on
revaluation of certain properties for own use of the Group as a result
of transfers of those properties for own use from properties, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to investment properties.

Mt

104,601,000 7T ) °

RZZZZTFXNA=ZRA ARQREEERETLE
EhE Bt EEREREEESRESRH0.1
IR T8 3 A B A BL 55 64,000,000 % Bt & A 15 ©
REFERIEFHONMBREBERITRARRASE

REBE G HFEEHEEMEEHNERNRARESRAR
ARAR—_EE-FREEABTHRBERMET
BANEERNZE-

AEEEEEHABEBREASERMEAYE K
FEREEARCEAEEEEBRERENDEMELN
AEBEETERMEEG RS-
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=-&=-=
—A—AEE
—EINFE BE-_T_-_—
=B=+—-H +ZHA=+—H
ILHA S IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M &t FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXW
Profit/(loss) before tax: BRELRTEF S (BR)
From continuing operations REFELE T 3,351 (53,338)
From discontinued operations REERIEREER 13 (8,605) (7,887)
Adjustments for: AT SBEELFHE:
Change in fair value of investment REMENTFTEES
properties 4,767 800
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BB REETE
equipment 4,100 4,277
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 8,944 5,837
Amortisation of other intangible asset  H i ## 7 & &= # $4 297 692
Finance costs 81 BB 4,881 3,865
Interest income on bank deposits RITF XA BUA 7 (515) (515)
Interest income on loan receivables JEWE KA B A 7 (26) (834)
Dividend income from financial assets 1R AFEFABRZZ
at fair value through profit or loss THEEZREWA 7 (145) (36)
Write-off of property, plant and Mg BB R
equipment 8 46 39
Gain on early termination of lease REXRIEHEE 2 W= 8 (71) =
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - BE RZENAR
and equipment and right-of-use ERAEEE 2 W
assets 8 (56,899) -
Gain on disposal of an investment HEREYE 2 W=
property 8 (50) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries TEMBARZ WS 38 (13,225) =
Impairment losses on financial and PRRENEEZREEE
contract assets, net ik 576 3,412
Impairment of goodwill EESNAE 13 550 =
Impairment of other intangible assets HipmpEERE 13 791 =
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE 13 301 =
Impairment losses of property, plant Y BERFEZRE
and equipment 518 1,422 =
(Reversal of)/provision of allowance FERE (BE) iR
for inventories 15 (5,069) 1,557
Change in fair value of financial assets &2 A FEFAEBZEZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREECATEED (1,941) 5,475
Share of loss of joint ventures BIEEEDEERE - 3,405
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=-&=-=
—A—HBEE
—ENF HE_T-—
=A=+—-8 +=-A=+—H
IEHA S IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i zF FET FiET
Operating cash flow before movements & iE & & A 2 C LR &
in working capital mE (56,520) (33,251)
Decrease in inventories FamL 18,866 19,778
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 RE U RFIE
other receivables Rt 2) (41,814) 91,289
Decrease in contract assets BREERD 530 152
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other 2 5 & i & < BR 3%
payables #n CR) 17,551 (66,311)
Increase in contract liabilities = ON=Kr=g Pl 39,558 1,344
Cash (used in)/generated from K& (A /Fissi e
operations (21,829) 13,001
Income tax paid ERAEH (1,605) (2,382)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM &E& %% (FTH) FEHRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEEE (23,434) 10,619
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXH
Purchase of property, plant and BEYE BERK
equipment (5,950) (1,753)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEEIE A FEF ABH 2SR
through profit or loss BE - (7,427)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant SHEYH MEMKEE
and equipment A 72,823 =
Proceeds from sale of an investment HEREMEMBGSRE
property 6,000 S
Advance to a joint venture mM—EEELERR (13) ()
Advance to a third party M—BE=ZFBR - (5,640)
Interest received on bank deposits BURIRITE RF & 515 515
Interest received on loan receivables B e U E SR FE 26 834
Net cash flow from acquisition of WEEKEARFERERE
subsidiaries R 37 - 249
Net cash flow from disposal of HEHRBRARFBRS
subsidiaries MEFRE 38 (21,498) =
NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) R&EX#F#E (FiA)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEREFE 51,903 (13,223)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=-&=-=
—B—HEZE
BN HE_ZT-—
=A=+—-H +ZA=+—H
IHHA R IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M &t FET FHEIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mE X
New bank borrowings raised FEE ZIRITERK 15,604 44,569
Repayments of bank borrowings IRITIE FUER (57,032) (43,127)
Repayment of other borrowings H b 15 FUE X (13,378) =
Interest paid for bank borrowings EATSRITE RS (2,079) (1,725)
Interest paid for other borrowings AT E b fE K FIE (117) =
Interest paid for other borrowings to a A — & B 5 S b &5
related party PSS - (856)
Advance from a director KE—RBREFZHK 5,180 211
New other borrowing raised from an BE—RBYFE-FE52
independent third party FrE M AR 5,327 2,188
New other borrowing raised from a B— 2@l EE 2 EM
related party B - 78,000
Repayment of other borrowing to a M — BB (EE M AR
related party (2,188) (49,924)
Dividends received from financial assets & A FET AR
at fair value through profit or loss S EE EBEM IR B 145 36
Repayment of principal portion of lease HEBEAL I HEXR
liabilities (8,526) (4,532)
Interest paid for leases EREEFE (2,160) (1,190)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM ®E X% (FiH) FBERSE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REFE (59,224) 23,650
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERERRAELEAR (D)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TN F AR (30,755) 21,046
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RA—A—BZEBSREFARSE
1 JANUARY HE 106,484 84,132
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EZ#& v &
RATE CHANGES (534) 1,306
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MN=A /+=-—HA=+—-8Hz2
AT 31 MARCH/DECEMBER, ReREFREER
REPRESENTED BY BANK UBRTEBRRRERTR
BALANCES AND CASH 29 75,195 106,484
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

GENERAL

China United Venture Investment Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability. The
shares of the Company were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The address of the registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the principal place
of business in Hong Kong is at Room 2301-02,
23/F., Shanghai Industrial Investment Building, 48-62
Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, changed from
Room 1801-1802, 18/F., Bank of America Tower, No.
12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, effective from
30 May 2024.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding, and the principal activities of subsidiaries
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company
and the ultimate holding company of the Company
are PT Design Group Holdings Limited and Wise
Thinker Holdings Limited respectively, which are both
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The functional currency of
the Company is United States dollars (‘USD”). As the
Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to present the
consolidated financial statements in HKS$.

—REHR

MEBAREARAB([ARF]R
ERSHEETMR LI RNABREFEZ
ERRAB -ARABNREEHERS
PTAR A RGEM LT -

AN A 5L B #% = B ik AClarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda FREBHNETEL =
HWEEHREAPREBRBI2HEXER
TH L 181E1801-1802E & F A B 5 &
T8 B 55 848-625% L /8 & ¥ KE231%
2301-02E BT -_WFHHA=TH
REAER o

ARFMEBLHARE R 1M E
ATMEELBRAGS I REM T
42 o

EERR RRARMERD A REKE
BARDHAREBRELHFSFMAL
#IPT Design Group Holdings Limited &
Wise Thinker Holdings Limited °

REMBHRRIIAET ([ET] )25
ARBNEEBRXT(IXT]) &
REARBINEBFRE LT ARAEZRL
RAET2INGEAMBEHRREBIRE -
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

During the period, the reporting period end date of
the Group changed from 31 December to 31 March
to align with the new business, which enable the
Company to report its financial results in a timely
and efficient manner to reflect the evolvement of its
businesses. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements for the period cover fifteen-month
period ended 31 March 2024. The corresponding
comparative amounts shown in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity,
consolidated statement of cash flows and related
notes cover a twelve-month period from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2022 and therefore may not
be comparable with amounts shown for the current
period.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) which have been
measured at fair value.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect
those returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BT - =F — A —HBEZ_T_MF= A=+ —H L HH

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and translation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to other comprehensive income or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities.

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective for the
Group’s financial period beginning on 1 January 2023:

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and Policies
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to
HKAS 12

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February
2022 amendments
to HKFRS 17)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior
periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide guidance and examples to help entities
apply materiality judgements to accounting policy
disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities
provide accounting policy disclosures that are more
useful by replacing the requirement for entities to
disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a
requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting
policies and adding guidance on how entities apply
the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions, but has affected the disclosures of
accounting policies.
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mEMBHRHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback!

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) Presentation

of Financial Statements

— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause'

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants’
Amendments to Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and Arrangements'’
HKFRS 7
Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1
Amendments to Amendments to the
HKFRS 9 and Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial
Instruments?®
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures*
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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3.

78

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in joint ventures (Continued)

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of joint ventures is included in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures
is included as part of the Group’s investments in joint
ventures.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.
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80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at the end of
the reporting period. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to
those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, equity
and debt instruments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for non-financial asset is
required, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(ifi) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

84

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; (If the Group is itself such a
plan) and the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plan;

(Vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss and in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal estimated useful lives and the
annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Buildings 2%-3% or over the
remaining term of the
relevant lease, if shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%-33%

Office equipment 20%-33%

Company equipment 20%-33%

Machinery 14%-20%

Motor vehicles 20%-30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in profit or loss
in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property
held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change
in use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property is
accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Customer relationship is stated at cost less any
impairment loss and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful lives of 1.5 years.

Lease

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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mEMBHRHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

@

()

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings

50 years
2 to 10 years

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. ERESHBE 1)

Lease (Continued) HE (5

The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBEBRBEA (&)

(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued) b)) HEEE (&)
In calculating the present value of lease R EHREZRNRER BRHE
payments, the Group uses its incremental EBRSHMNETZET WAL
borrowing rate at the lease commencement ENEERrBHRERESER
date because the interest rate implicit in the FE-NEAWKBHEZ BHEEES
lease is not readily determinable. After the A I 0 BOR A G o Bl I R S
commencement date, the amount of lease E’Ji“ IR FTRAEE K e BN - 1ﬁu“j
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion REE] HEAZE HENKEY
of interest and reduced for the lease payments (Plan R IE S FI R E B 5| A
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease RKREERE)LEHEER
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, EREMNFHES HHEEEN
a change in the lease term, a change in lease FEARERKENTE-

payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option
to purchase the underlying asset.

(c) Short-term leases (c) EHHE
The Group applies the short-term lease AEBERAEHEEERBER
recognition exemption to its short-term leases HBAMEREIBEMNE M
of office premises and staff quarters (that is E(MEArBPEZSEHEYN
those leases that have a lease term of 12 HEHBI2E A URNA T EE
months or less from the commencement date SHEEEERE) -

and do not contain a purchase option).

The Group as a lessor KEFESBLHHEA

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease EARAEEEREHEA MREERKE
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each (iﬁfﬁfﬂff AR SEBERES B
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance KEMERBERSE -

lease.
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mEMBHRHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and
is included in other income in profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

92

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments) (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) excluding
expected credit losses (“ECL”), through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is
the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method
of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any
loss allowance. The gross carrying amount
of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments) (Continued)

() Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for debt instruments
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss
and is included in the “Other income” line item
(note 7).
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mEMBHRHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. ERETHEHE@#)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMI A (®)
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEGANEZZLHMEE

94

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified
as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is neither held for trading
nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria
are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet either the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and
losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to
the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “change in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 40.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is
a financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BT = —A—HRZEZ_FT_NF ==+ —H - #fH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk for a
particular debtor, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor, or the
length of time or the extent to which the
fair value of a financial asset has been
less than its amortised cost;

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, i) the debtor has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as
constituting an event of default for internal
credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

° information developed internally
or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used
in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period,
but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a
financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or
when the continuing involvement approach applies.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
of inventories represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T

3.

EREFBR (8)
SBMIA (&)
LHEBRBREITA (#)
THEE(B)

HEEKBHK LGS EZEHEE (&)

ERMEFEDFAECHMABZHERAN
REEHEBRESNER 2T A B
RMETHEFBERRETR (BEMR
B P 325 3 PT M B T 4 A BB B8 B A K
ZERLEHN XFUAREMHAA G
BB ReBABAZENFHAR
MR (mER) ERMEREeMARE
A Z N RGFE -

RILBEREHE R

AEER (LER)EEEEMBER BUB
FERE TERIEREHAB R
IHERAzeRBEEROERD MEN
REZZEDRNEBRER -

BB EERTHEE

EHEEREE LA R MITOENE
HERReH BEABRFREELE
IRARKEREERGERER A&H
MeEMEERBBET@EHE YEKA
PBIRRKR P25 HE -

wH

TFE AR AR B R B3R FHE 2 BUEH AfR -
FERARREELLAFE -FEHOA
BRFEECELREBEETNGEE
BRE[MATIRARBEERFTRA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances
and cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand deposits).
Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents, as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-
term borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the period/year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
are relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition due
to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

(a) Sale of connectivity products

Revenue from the sale of connectivity products
is recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the connectivity
products.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b) Comprehensive architectural services

Revenue from the provision of comprehensive
architectural services is recognised over time,
using an input method to measure progress
towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced. The input
method recognises revenue based on the
proportion of the actual costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of
the comprehensive architectural services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the
Group seeks to collect from the customers
as reimbursement of costs and margins for
scope of works not included in the original
contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the amounts of claims
because this method best predicts the amount
of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

(c) Financial services

Financial service income derived from the
provision of support services in connection
with financial projects is recognised when the
relevant services are rendered and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Tooling and sampling income is recognised when
the customer takes possession of and accepts the
products.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration under the contract terms, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.
They are reclassified to trade receivables when the
right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T

3.

ERETHEHE@#)
AR (&)
B A

R & WA BT HA R 2 B ) Lt ) B R RERR
TEURNIEHEHAN KR Z AT RBE N RS
REELZ S HRBERSEA -

MEWARBERHN R AR Rt £ EWE
RAEAEEMIARERFFHK
BREHE (WMER) MEFARERREEA
ERNREESHEERBFENTREK -

P B A T R B BR M B A 3R 2 R R B 2
% HEREMEBZEENSRAEER
AXEE BRESHEENHAEWFTE
R RERR

o

TEEBREBEATIREFPRBERESR
RREWE DR ER

EHEE

HARERRIEENGRBEGREAEE
BREMSERIRFEERTELKE
TR AaNEERERIROE K
REBR-ANEERETRENG
HAERERMEERNENEABRR-EE
BREOBRKSEGRER  RIREN
DREREHEREER-

BEHNEE

BHNABEASEERAMBE®HRS
Z AR TR RE G (ARF
ERE)RER GNABEAKERETT
BHN(ARAEFBBRHEBEYIREH
2R ) B RERR B A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Retirement benefits costs and termination benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when the entity
recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the
related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of Long service
payments under the Employment Ordinance is the
amounts of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their services in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the
projected unit credit method and discounted to its
present value and after deducting the fair value of
any related assets, including those retirement scheme
benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period/year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign Currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint arrangement that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4.

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Revenue recognition from contract work

The management estimates the amount of foreseeable
losses or attributable profits of comprehensive
architectural design work based on the latest available
budgets of the contracts prepared by project team
with reference to the overall performance of each
contract work and the management’s best estimates
and judgements.

Due to the contracting nature of the business, revenue
recognition involves a significant degree of judgement.
Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of contract costs for the contract
as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of
the contract in terms of its total costs may be higher
or lower than the estimates and this will affect the
revenue and profit recognised.

Provision of ECL for loan receivables, trade and
other receivables and contract assets

Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired which individually assessed
for ECL, the Group uses provision matrix to calculate
ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on internal credit ratings as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for loan receivables, trade and
other receivables and contract assets (Continued)

At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. Different
default rates are applied to the customers in different
businesses. In addition, trade receivables and contract
assets with significant balances and credit impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

For loan receivables and other receivables, the Group
determines the ECL on an individual basis for each
debtor. The Group estimated the ECL based on
historical credit loss experience and forward-looking
information and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate. At
each reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the Group’s loan
receivables, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and the ECL assessment are disclosed in notes
25, 27, 28 and 40(b) respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment
properties amounted to approximately of
HK$44,781,000 (31 December 2022: HK$12,700,000).
The fair value was based on valuations on these
properties conducted by independent qualified valuers
using property valuation techniques which involve
certain assumptions of market conditions. Favourable
or unfavourable changes to these assumptions would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.
Further details of the fair value measurement of the
Group’s investment properties are set out in note 20.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4.

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belongs, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 March 2024, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with carrying values of
approximately HK$7,483,000 and approximately
HK$18,040,000 (31 December 2022: HK$25,283,000
and HK$22,584,000) respectively. Impairment losses
on property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$362,000 have been recognised for the period from
1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 (year ended 31
December 2022: Nil).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

Management reviews the condition of the inventories
of the Group and makes provision for obsolete and
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no
longer suitable for sale. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such inventories based primarily
on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The
Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete
and slow-moving items. As at 31 March 2024, the
carrying amounts of inventories were approximately
HK$20,570,000 (31 December 2022: HK$34,367,000),
net of impairment provision of HK$7,583,000 (31
December 2022: HK$12,652,000).
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REVENUE 5. WA

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of goods, WAEBHE FEAHEEER KRS
and services contracts for the period/year. An analysis WEEXEHBA-RUATHE FE K
of the Group’s revenue for the period/year from SEREFBELCEEBNBADTUOT

continuing operations is as follows:

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) PHREEEHBA
with customers

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 BE-E-_=Ff—F—HERE=-Z
March 2024 —ME=ZA=+—HILHMB
Contracts of
comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
2HEE
ERER REEH @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Revenue from contacts with EFEHMA

customers
Types of goods and services  ERKRREER
Sale of connectivity products HERRER 206,357 - 206,357
Comprehensive architectural SHEHBERE

services - 2,212 2,212
Total st 206,357 2,212 208,569
Geographical markets WEHE
Korea 3 42,169 - 42,169
The People Republic of China FEARLEME ([HE])

(“PRC" 23,785 2,212 25,997
Japan AA 55,069 - 55,069
The United States of America EFRERE ([EH])

(“USA”) 71,342 - 71,342
Taiwan =) 6,321 - 6,321
Others Bt 7,671 - 7,671
Total st 206,357 2,212 208,569
Timing of revenue recognition I A 8 57 B #

At a point in time KBS 2 206,357 - 206,357
Over time BE S - 2,212 2,212
Total Bt 206,357 2,212 208,569
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (@)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) PIH/REEEHWA (45)
with customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z2-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IEFE
Contracts of
comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
2HESE
EBER R & 4 Kok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
(Re-presented)
(=51)
Revenue from contacts with EEEHWA
customers
Types of goods and services  ERRBHER
Sale of connectivity products HERBER 272,616 = 272,616
Comprehensive architectural FEHRERS
services - 8,270 8,270
Total @t 272,616 8,270 280,886
Geographical markets WET %
Korea 35 81,625 = 81,625
PRC F 5,239 8,270 13,509
Japan B 53,073 = 53,073
USA xH 102,431 - 102,431
Taiwan = 16,690 - 16,690
Others Hith 13,558 - 13,558
Total st 272,616 8,270 280,886
Timing of revenue recognition Yt A 78 5265 44
At a point in time N LR 272,616 - 272,616
Over time B B ] - 8,270 8,270
Total @t 272,616 8,270 280,886
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

(a)

(b)

Sales of connectivity products

For trading of connectivity products,
the Group sells connectivity products to
original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”)
customers and retail distributors.
Revenue is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been delivered to the
specific location and confirmed by the
customers.

Contracts of comprehensive
architectural services

The Group provides comprehensive
architectural services to independent
contractors. Revenue from such services
are recognised when a performance
obligation is satisfied over time as the
Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date. Revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation
using input method.

The Group’s service contracts include
payment schedules which require stage
payments over the design period once
certain specified milestones are reached.
The Group requires certain customers
to provide upfront deposits range from
10% to 30% of total contract sum, when
the Group receives a deposit before
comprehensive architectural service
commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit received.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Contracts of comprehensive
architectural services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract
liability related to the same contract,
is recognised over the period in which
the comprehensive architectural
services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional upon
meeting the billing milestones.

(iiiy Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services are typically completed within one year.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Board of Directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision
makers, for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. No
operating segments identified by the chief operating
decision makers have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Segment information reported internally for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment is analysed based on the class of
customers which is the same as information reported
to the chief operating decision makers.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. Connectivity products
2. Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services

2 EHEFR

BAERS R RS BRATAARA
EFE (MEBHEREE) SR AR
S5 o B S SR SR 8 2 B BRI R
REBAEENTLHH B T B8
R S A A B £ 48 5 2B
st

RARBEREFERAMARNLE2H 2
DHEHRDEREFERETH N &
MTELERREZHBNERER-
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results DEMAREE
For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March BE-ZE-_=f—F—RAEE-T_-_MF=
2024 A=+—HILHHE

Connectivity

Contracts of
comprehensive
architectural

products services Total
2HEE
EREM REEH @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET
Segment revenue 2EUA 206,357 2,212 208,569
Segment result DEEE 2,763 (1,006) 1,757
Other income Hig A 4,077
Other gains, net H i a5 5 58 71,871
Impairment losses on loan e E R R E A U AR 3R 2
receivables and other B E B
receivables, net (77)
Change in fair value of BAFEHAABRLEEE
financial assets at fair value ~ EZ N FEZE)
through profit or loss 1,988
Change in fair value of BREWMEZ N TEED
investment properties (4,767)
Corporate and other REIREMRD RS
unallocated expenses (71,498)
Profit before tax from SEREEBEE ZRTBA
continuing operations el 3,351
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mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (@)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEBMARES (&)
Other segment information Bt 5 & #
Contracts of
comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Unallocated Total
2HEHER
ERER REEH A2E @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Depreciation of property, plant  #1% - BiE KRBT E
and equipment 3,932 25 - 3,957
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEENE
assets 8,081 - 646 8,727
Impairment losses on financial 4Bt M AWEEZHE
and contract assets, net BRFE 6 434 77 517
Impairment losses on property, #¥ - HE LR E 2
plant and equipment REEE - 362 - 362
Reversal of provision of BORGTEMRZEE
allowance for inventories (5,069) - - (5,069)
Finance costs B R 2,150 - 2,467 4,617
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

DEWAREE (5)

i

=

Contracts of

T+ A=+—BIEE

comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
PH RS
BB E m R & 4 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
(Re-presented)
(s&E=75)
Segment revenue 72 EB UL A 272,616 8,270 280,886
Segment result N EBELR 7,943 (9,071) (1,128)
Other income H A A 6,059
Other losses, net HAh a5 5 58 (3,624)
Reversal of impairment JE W B R B HL th 8 U BR R
losses on loan 2 R EE B EF R
receivables and other
receivables, net 322
Change in fair value of BEATEFABRZSE
financial assets at fair BEZATEED
value through profit or
loss (2,387)
Change in fair value of BREMEZ AT EED
investment properties (800)
Share of loss of joint DIEEELEEE
ventures (3,405)
Corporate and other RAIREMADEFAS
unallocated expenses (48,375)
Loss before tax from SECEEBEEZ
continuing operations B B A BT 18 (53,338)
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mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. D EBE R ()
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEUMARERSE (5)
Other segment information Bt 5 & #
Contracts of
comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Unallocated Total
PHEZE
EREm R%aH A B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Re-presented) (Re-presented)
(£E%51) (BE7)
Depreciation of property, plant 9% - BiE R RENE
and equipment 4,057 210 - 4,267
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEEE
assets 5,012 - 737 5,749
Impairment losses/(reversal £ BN AWEEZHE
of impairment losses) on BB/ (REERE
financial and contract #E)F8
assets, net (25) 3,735 (322) 3,388
Provision of allowance for REEH R EE
inventories 1,557 - - 1,557
Finance costs MBAA 2,714 - 274 2,988
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126

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
intersegment sales in the current period and prior year.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment result represents the profit/(loss)
from each segment without allocation of other income,
unallocated other gains/(losses), net, impairment
losses on loan receivables and other receivables,
net, change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL,
change in fair value of investment properties, share
of loss of joint ventures, unallocated finance costs,
selling and distribution expenses and unallocated
administration expenses. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision makers for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

As at 31 March 2024

6. DEER (m)

THEERER

R-E-_WE=RA=+—H

Connectivity

Contracts of
comprehensive
architectural

products services Total
2HER

Segment assets PEEE EREM BR#EEH Bt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FETT FET

Segment assets DEHEE 186,906 6,674 193,580
Corporate and other REIREMKRDEEE

unallocated assets 124,352

Total assets BEE 317,932

Segment liabilities PHEE

Segment liabilities NEEE 102,388 5,789 108,177
Corporate and other REIREMEKSEBE

unallocated liabilities 74,592

Total liabilities BAE 182,769
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128

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

6. DEER (m)

PTHREERERE (&)
R-E-_—_F+_-_A=+—H

Contracts of

comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
FHEEE
Segment assets DEEE %R Em RIEE 4 w@Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Segment assets DEEE 179,193 12,487 191,680
Assets related to BHECKRIEREER
discontinued operations BiE 38,276
Corporate and other RAREMEASIEEE
unallocated assets 89,795
Total assets BEE 319,751
Segment liabilities PEEE
Segment liabilities nEEE 74,871 5,988 80,859
Liabilities related to FHADKRIEREEB
discontinued operations afE 641
Corporate and other ANEIRHEMADEEE
unallocated liabilities 123,636
Total liabilities =R 205,136

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (@)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEERERB (&)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances MERIBEERRDHE S EERM

and allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate assets,
including unallocated property, plant and
equipment, unallocated right-of-use assets,
investment properties, interests in joint
ventures, financial assets at FVTPL, unallocated
loan receivables and other receivables, and
unallocated cash and cash equivalent.

- all liabilities are allocated to operating
segments other than unallocated corporate
liabilities, including unallocated other payables,
unallocated lease liabilities, tax liabilities, bank
and other borrowings and deferred tax liabilities.

hf[[3
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130

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Taiwan.

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented
based on the geographical location of the customers.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of the
assets.

DEER (m)
i EE R

AEEZEBURELE TEARGE-

BHAKREXRBIHBEPNBELLERE
BRANERTIREEFPOMELES
S -BBAKBRBEENEN DR

BEEMMBLEZ -

Revenue from

external customers

REMFEF U A
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=Z== HE
—A—HEE g
—EBINEF +=A
=H=+-—H =+—H
IHHA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
(Re-presented)
(g&E75)
Korea i 42,169 81,625
PRC s 25,997 13,509
Japan SN 55,069 53,073
USA = 71,342 102,431
Taiwan =0 6,321 16,690
Others Bt 7,671 13,558
208,569 280,886
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mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. D EBE R ()
Geographical information (Continued) HEER (&)

Non-current assets

EREBEE
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
g
—E-MmEF +=A
ZA=+-—H =t—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
PRC a2 54,447 38,526
Hong Kong &5 15,857 22,622
Others HAb - 1,057
70,304 62,205
Note:  Non-current assets exclude interests in joint ventures, Wit FRDEETBREREECENEZ KA
financial assets at FVTPL and loan receivables. FEAABENEREE MERERK -
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

DEER (m)
FHEFTEEFHNER

HEFEATNEBLBLWATEI10%IUA L

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the ZEFPRAMT
Group are as follows:
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-E=-= HE
—BA—HBEE —EF_C
—E-ME +=A
=A=+-—H =+—H
133 1.9
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Company A’ ~AA! 39,765 41,5655
Company B’ A AB! 23,709 58,682
Company C! AN EIC 22,281 39,991
Company D’ ~aD! 32,393 43,747

i Revenue from sales of connectivity products.
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7.

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 § ==

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= _

mEMB|RHE

T -A-BRE-ZE-MF=A=+—H1LHH

OTHER INCOME 7. Habug A
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=Z== HE
—A—HEE g
“ENEF +=A
=H=+-—H =+—H
IEHA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiET
(Re-presented)
(&=5))
Interest income on bank deposits IRITHFRZF B YA 515 513
Interest income on loan receivables UL & 3k 2 F B U A 26 834
Rental income (note a) HMEWA (Kita) 2,296 2,151
Government subsidies (note b) BAT#E R (KT atb ) 366 597
Tooling and sampling T2 REUK 464 1,823
Dividend income from financial assets & A F{Ezt AB2 2
at fair value through profit or loss TREEZREBA 145 36
Miscellaneous income MIEUWA 265 105
4,077 6,059

Notes:

(@) Rental income arising from the operating leases of its
investment properties of the Group whole lease payment
were fixed. During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
March 2024, the related direct operating expenses incurred
were approximately HK$51,000 (year ended 31 December
2022: HK$483,000).

(b)

The government subsidies represents salaries and wage
subsidies granted under (i) Anti-epidemic Fund by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
for the use of paying wages of employees is Nil (year ended
31 December 2022: HK$192,000), and (ii) Employment
Support Scheme provided by the PRC government of
HK$302,000 (year ended 31 December 2022: HK$405,000),
and (iii) The PRC government’s provision of individual income
tax subsidies to enterprises of HK$64,000 (year ended 31
December 2022: Nil). There are no unfulfiled conditions
and other contingencies attached to the receipts of those
subsidies.

Biat -
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8.

134

OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

8. Hftz (FER)BE

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-= HE
—A—HEE g
—BEDNEF +=A
=HA=+-—H =+—H
IEHA R IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
(Re-presented)
(&=5))
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) &} Wz /(i) F58 1,386 (80)
Write-off of property, plant and WEEWE  BE K&
equipment (46) (39)
Impairment losses on property, plant #1%  ME M & 2 REE I8
and equipment (362) S
Gain on disposal of property, plant  HEY % BB L& R FE B E
and equipment and right-of-use BEWZFE (M)
assets, net (note) 56,899 -
Gain on early termination of lease REXIFHERS 71 =
Gain on disposal of an investment  HE&EREME W
property 50 S
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE W B AR Was (A7738)
(note 38) 13,225 =
Others Efb 286 =
71,509 (119)
Note: HaE -

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the land resumption
agreement with the Fogang Land Bureau for the resumption
of land, including all buildings and fixtures, for net proceeds of
approximately HK$72,481,000. A net gain from the resumption of land
of approximately HK$57,654,000 were recorded under the gain on

disposal of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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9.

10.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL AND 9.
CONTRACT ASSETS, NET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

ERRENEEZREBRER

Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=2== HZE
—A—HEE g
—EomE +=A
=A=+-—H =+—H
IHHA S IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Re-presented)
(ggE5)
Impairment losses recognised/ BT SEER(#BE) K
(reversed) on: B EE -
— Trade receivables —B 5 RIER 459 3,594
- Contract assets —GHEE (19) 117
— Loan receivables —REWER (454) 470
— Other receivables — H th i UK BR 3K 531 (793)
517 3,388
FINANCE COSTS 10. BB A
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B-ZE-=fF H=E
—A—HEE g
—EomE +=A
=A=+-—H =+—H
IHHA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
(Re-presented)
(g&=75)
Interest expenses on T3 EIEAFERZ
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 2,079 1,725
— Other borrowings —HihgE 388 =
— Lease liabilities —-HEaE 2,150 1,263
4,617 2,988
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11.

136

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11. EERITETHAEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the R,/ FEEENETETHRABNFN
period/year, were as follows: m
Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BE-E-=ZF—A—HARBE-F-_NE=
A=+—HLHMA
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees  other benefits contributions Total
RAER
B HFeRHAEAN TEIMR Bt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
Period from 1 January 2023 B=-Z=-=%—-F—H
to 31 March 2024 BE-E-NE
ZB=t-BHLHH
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Wang Li Feng' IRERE 1,920 2,474 - 4,394
Mr. Fan Xiaoling BNRRE 789 579 52 1,420
Non-executive director: FHITEE:
Mr. Huang Bin’ X AT 433 - - 433
Mr. Ni Xian® {735 5 A 750 - - 750
Independent non-executive B UIFHTEE
directors:
Mr. Sui Fu Xiang? ke 300 - - 300
Dr. Yan Ka Shing BREE - - - -
Mr. Wu Lebin'! REW KL 135 - - 135
Mr. Zhang De An'® RIBR LA 113 - - 113
Ms. Lo Choi Ha' EXELL - - - -
Total wat 4,440 3,053 52 7,545
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11. EERITETHAEME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 BHEZ-__F+A=1+—HLFE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees other benefits contributions Total
RIKEF
e HeRkEMEF TR Bt
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Year ended 31 December HE-ZE-_F
2022 +=-A=+-H
tEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Wang Li Feng' IBERE 1,560 1,390 697 3,647
Ms. Lee Jui-lan? FEBLL? 842 = = 842
Mr. Yu Sanlong? TR 793 410 8 1,211
Mr. Fan Xiaoling BNRRE 1,073 - - 1,073
Dr. Chen Xiaofeng® BRiEe g 1 - 585 15 600
Mr. Ni Xian® (R A 450 - - 450
Mr. Su Guang® Bt m e - 840 9 849
Non-executive director: HHTEE:
Mr. Huang Bin’ 3P 310 - - 310

Independent non-executive BV IEHTEE

directors:
Dr. Fong Chi Wan, Alex® Paliy AL T 60 - - 60
Mr. Sui Fu Xiang? R LE e - - 9
Dr. Yan Ka Shing DRBE - - - -
Dr. Feng Shen' BRELT - - - -
Mr. Wu Lebin'! REPFE 206 - - 206
Mr. Xu Lin'2 gV a 198 - - 198
Total @t 5,582 3,225 729 9,536
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11.

138

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

! Re-designated as a non-executive director on 30 May 2024

2 Resigned on 6 May 2022

g Resigned on 29 December 2022

. Appointed on 17 February 2022 and resigned on 29
December 2022

5 Appointed on 4 March 2022 and re-designated as a non-
executive director on 22 November 2023

e Appointed on 1 May 2022 and resigned on 29 December
2022

U Appointed on 20 February 2022 and resigned on 13 March
2024

8 Resigned on 17 August 2022

& Appointed on 17 August 2022 and resigned on 16 April 2024

i Resigned on 4 March 2022

" Appointed on 20 February 2022 and resigned on 24 July
2023

1”2 Appointed on 4 March 2022 and resigned 29 December 2022

L& Appointed on 23 April 2023
“ Appointed on 28 March 2024

There was no arrangement under a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the period/year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

12. EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS 12. EIMSE

The five (year ended 31 December 2022: five) highest BHARR (BHZ=ZT=-_=F+=H
paid employees during the period included three T+t HIFE RR)RaFEERKE
directors, details of whose emoluments are set out —RES HEMEFBEN EXW
in note 11 above. The top five individuals emolument FE-SZoMEtMAEMCATHHNES (T

excluding directors were as follow: BREEE)NOT:

Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
= ey H=
—BA—AEZ —T-—F
—E-INF +=A
=HA=+-—H =+—H
LA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Salaries and other benefits FekEMER 1,698 =
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFIET B

contributions 79 -
1,777 -
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

12. EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12. EI#M€ (@)
The number of non-director highest paid employees TN HEANFEESEERFEE ZH
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is B
as follow:
Number of employees
EEHH
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-E=-= HE
—A—HEE - —
=F-nmF +=A
=A=+-—-H =t+—H
155 P LFE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007% 7T 2 -
13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13. CORIEREEK
Disposal of financial service business HESRREER

On 24 March 2023, the Company and three
independent third parties have entered into sales and
purchase agreements to dispose their entire interest
in State Innovation Capital Limited and its subsidiaries
(“State Innovation Group”), State Venture Capital
Venture and its subsidiary (“State Venture Group”),
and Radiant Assets Management Limited (“Radiant
Assets”) respectively. State Innovation Group, State
Venture Group and Radiant Assets were engaged in
the financial services business. The Group decided to
cease its financial services operations due to a change
in senior management and the members of the Board
of Directors of the Company in charge of this business
segment.

The disposal of State Innovation Group, State Venture
Group and Radiant Assets were completed on 3
October 2023, 14 June 2023 and 14 June 2023
respectively, and were classified as discontinued
operations. With State Innovation Group, State
Venture Group and Radiant Assets being classified
as discontinued operations, the financial services
segment is no longer included in the note for operating
segment information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)
Disposal of financial service business (Continued)
The results of State Innovation Group, State Venture

Group and Radiant Assets for the period from 1
January 2023 to 31 March 2024 are presented below:

13. CRAUREEK (@)

HESRBRBES (8)

FERKER HERNBEERESE
EBE -2 _=F—A—HRBE-Z /@
FZA=Z+—HHENEEZ O T

Year ended
31 December
Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 2022
Bz
—E=-=
+=A
B-ZE-=f-A—-HE =+—H
Z-Z-_MFE=A=1+-HHH LEE
State State
Innovation Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
HE e
HREE BEEE LeEE @i
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FET FHET
Revenue O - - - = 6,964
Cost of sales and services HERBHRBRKA
rendered - - - - (3,356)
Other income HgA 1 38 - 39 2
Impairment losses on financial & MEEREBERFE
assets, net (54) (5) - (59) (24)
Change in fair value of financial 22 FEFABHZ
assets at fair value through SREENTE
profit or loss & - - (47) (47) (1,299)
Impairment losses on property, #1% W= & & &R E
plant and equipment B (1,059) (1) - (1,060) -
Impairment of right-of-use EREEERE
assets (301) - - (301) -
Impairment of other intangible  E L EF EERE
asset - (791) - (791) -
Impairment of goodwil HERE - (550) S (550) =
Change in fair value of financial %A FEFABZEZ
assets at fair value through SREENTE
profit or loss & - - - - (3,088)
Administrative expenses THRAY (2,216) (3,354) 2) (5,572) (6,209)
Finance costs B A AR (132) (132) - (264) (877)
Loss before tax from REBRIEEEB
discontinued operations BREAIEE (3,761) (4,795) (49) (8,605) (7,887)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FiER#EL /(FX) - 247 - 247 (47)
Loss for the period/year from  REERIELEKZ
discontinued operations A/ FRER (8,358) (7,934)
(Loss)/profit from the DTATEERBEER
discontinued operations HEEEBZ
attributable to: (BB) /&F:
Owners of the Company AARERA (5,660) (9,187)
Non-controlling interests R ER (2,698) 1,253
(8,358) (7,934)
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F— A —HAREZ T -NF=A=+—H - #HE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13. BRLEREER @)
Disposal of financial service business (Continued) HESRREER (&)
The net cash flows incurred by State Innovation Group, FTEREKESER - FTERBSEELEEE
State Venture Group, Radiant Assets are as follows: EMEAMNBReREFEOT:
Year ended
31 December
Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 2022
HE
—_F_-_—
+—A
BE-E-=F—f—Hit =+—H
Z-E-ME=A=1+-BHH IEFE
State State
Innovation Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
M ¥
HREE EREE heBE @t
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Operating activities LEEE (68) (1,399) 998 (469) 3,271
Investing activities KEEE (1,201) - - (1,201) 23
Financing activities MEEH (10,056) - - (10,056) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Re ORd) /RAFE (11,325) (1,399) 998 (11,726) 3,294
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-ZE—=
—H—HEZE HZE
—E_NE —E-=
=A=+—-H8B +ZH=+—8H
A IEFE
Loss per share: FREE:
Basic and diluted, from REERIEREEBL 2 (HK0.80 (HK1.30
discontinued operations EARAREEEE centsi# 1) cents/& 1)
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13.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13.
Disposal of financial service business (Continued)

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share
from discontinued operations are based on:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

CRIEEEEK @

HESBBREER (50)

KEERIEEEXEB 2 BRERAREE

B ERIE T E
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—EB-=
—B—HEZE HE
—E_ME —E-=
=A=+-8 +t=A=+-8
iR IEFE

Loss attributable to owners of the
Company from the discontinued
operations (note 17)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during
the period/year used in the basic
and diluted earnings per share
calculation (note 17)

ARBEEARBGERADKLE

REXBZER (#it17) HK$5,660,000

HK$9,187,000

BT BT
ARt EERERREER D
R/ ERABRETEBRRLN
& (HiF17)
704,000,000 704,000,000
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mEMBHRHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

14. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 14. S (E&R) BX
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-E=-=
—B—B®ZE H=E
—E-_MME g
=A=+-B +=-A=+—8
AR IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Current tax: EHATIE
Hong Kong B - 171
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”) B EMEHR ([DEAHR
#/ul) 65 31
Deferred taxation EIET IR (804) -
Income tax (credit)/expense for REBBEKEEBZHAN /TR
the period/year from continuing 8 (k) HxX
operations (739) 202
Income tax (credit)/expense for the REBEKRILELEKZHRN,
period/year from discontinued FAMEHR (Ke) X
operations (247) 47
Total @t (986) 249

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

The amount mainly represents current tax expense on
assessable profits arising in the PRC and is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the PRC. The Company’s
subsidiaries operating in the PRC are subject to
enterprise income tax in the PRC. The applicable
enterprise income tax rate of the PRC is 25% in
accordance with the relevant income tax law and
regulations in the PRC for both years, except for those
subsidiaries described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC fall within
the Preferential Corporate Income Tax Catalogue in
the specific zone. According to Cai Shui (2014) No.26,
qualified companies in Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone are granted
for a reduced enterprise income tax rate of 15% during
the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2020
and further granted for a reduced enterprise income
tax rate of 15% starting from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2025.

Also, certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC were
accredited as “Cultural Innovation Enterprise” by
the local tax authorities and were registered with
the local tax authorities to be eligible to the reduced
15% enterprise income tax rate for a period of four
years from 2017 to 2021 inclusive and further granted
enterprise income tax rate of 15% starting from 1
January 2021 to 31 December 2025. As a result, the
tax rate of 15% is used to calculate the amount of
current taxation.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC were subject to
preferential tax treatments. According to the Enterprise
Income Tax Law (F#E AR LB EATFSFE) and
the Implementation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law
of the PRC (F#ZE AR LB HEFTEHIEE M IEH),
an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise (/)
AR R %) is subject to preferential tax treatments.
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, a Small
Low-profit Enterprise with annual taxable income not
more than Renminbi (“RMB”) 1,000,000 is subject to
Enterprise Income Tax calculated at 25% of its taxable
income at a tax rate of 20%. During the reporting
period, a subsidiary of the Group is eligible as a Small
Low-profit Enterprise and is subject to the relevant
preferential tax treatments.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

14.

Fres (E%) BX )

EHRRELEZETHBEBRARFTARETEH
EAEMESHERESEF - RETH
(2014)265% RIB R B RARBESE
BHABERAGR _ZEZ—NE—HA—H
2 -_EF+ A=+ —HHEHBERT
15%RBAETEMBSHRBEER IR ZF
—_—#—F—RBE-_Z-_HAE+=H~
=+ HE—FTETI5%HNRMEDEMN
BRI E.

N NP EEENE THBRARES
HMBEBREARER [ XXLAIFIE] B
REMRBEEEESL IR —tF
2T F (PEERERT)HEZE
B1I5%M B AT EMESHME - ERZ
E-_—4%—fF—BE-_ZE-_A%+-A
—t+—HE—TERISHHDEMEH
ME-H  15%2METRARGTEE
HMIE &5

RAEEENHRBAREZARBER-
BEFEAREAMBLEEMGSHRER
FEAREMBECEMSHEE EIE
Bl - EERERNIMACENERE
BEMBEE BT -=F—H—H&
E_E_MNMFF+_A=Z=+—HB FE
ERBBRATEBARE (TARE])
1,000,0007T &9 /)N B i ) 1 25 - H3225%
ERMIMATENDERSR XA
20% - RMEHHE ANEBMB LRSS
BRIERNDIMATE ZHEHBHRBE

BE-

REMREAEREENTRIBEIIZ AR A
ERENETR R E.
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

14. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 14.

Income tax (credit)/expense for the period/year can
be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before tax per the

Fre®i (%) MxX @

A/ FAMEH (Ee) B X r] &R
EEBERANKRBAERN (BE) B

consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: m
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-EE—-=
—A—BEE H=E
TEC-NE —E-F
=B=+-H +=ZA=+—H
LN IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit/(loss) before tax from KRB FELEFEBE 2 BRIANS
continuing operations M (EE) 3,351 (53,338)
Loss before tax from discontinued KB B &R IF & & ¥ 5% 2 B R AT
operations (note 13) &8 (A 13) (8,605) (7,887)
(5,254) (61,225)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate  SABIR PTG K25%1 H 2
of 25% IR (1,314) (15,306)
Tax effect of share of loss of joint BEEELEBE BT E
ventures - 562
Tax effect of income not taxable for GBS HERH WA Z
tax purpose Bz (18,450) (725)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible FAFLE M 5 N Al R S H 2
for tax purpose Hee 5,850 4,342
Tax effect of tax losses not RERBHBBB BB E
recognised 7,313 7,166
Income tax at concessionary rate REERETECMEM (251) (51)
Effect of different tax rates of REM AR L E /M B
subsidiaries operating in other RATRABMEN T
jurisdictions 5,866 4,261
Income tax (credit)/expense for the — HRR /ERNFTEH (%),
period/year X (986) 249
Income tax expense from continuing R BIFERLEEE 2 MG/
operations X (739) 202
Income tax (credit)/expense from REDKRIECEER ZFTEM
discontinued operations (note 13) (&%) /B (HiZ13) (247) 47
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 15. BRBADER A (EE)
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is REBBEKEER2BBRAER (8
arrived at after charging/(crediting): B) M (G A) LT &EEES:
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-E=-= H=E
—A—B&Z —T-—fF
—E-MEF +=A
=A=+-—H =+—H
1 HA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(Re-presented)
(&&E5)
Continuing operations BERKEER
Directors’ remuneration (note 11) EF5Me (Wat11) 7,545 9,536
Other staff costs =N
— Salaries and other benefits —FHe KEMER 56,837 63,714
- Retirement benefits scheme —RIREFET 8 H K
contributions 10,865 6,531
Total staff costs BT A 75,247 79,781
Auditor’s remuneration 2% S Bl & 1,150 1,100
Cost of inventories BRAERAINTFERR 175,114 243,606
Depreciation of e
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - -BEREE 3,957 4,267
- Right-of-use assets — R é% 8,725 5,749
Rental expenses for short-term leases &2 HiFH Ef & X 126 4,593
(Reversal of)/provision of allowance 717 & (B #E#EE ) B
for inventories* (5,069) 1,557
* The (reversal of)/provision of allowance for inventories for * @5/717/ FRMTFE (FEREE)  BETA
the period/year are included in cost of sales and services BBm RAMEE W Py HERIE
rendered in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and ﬂ?ﬁ/ﬁﬁ?ﬁ@ Ko
other comprehensive income.
DIVIDENDS 16. KA

No dividend was paid or proposed during the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (year ended 31 December 2022: HK$ Nil).
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17.

148

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings/
(loss) per share from continuing and discontinued
operations attributable to owners of the Company are

based on the following:

17. BREFN (B#A)

Period from

ARREBARBEREFBEREXBR
ERIEEEZXZBNEREAREER
FACER)DRBATE

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B-ZE=-=
—A—BEZE H=E
—E-_ME —E-=
=A=+—-8 +=-A=+—H
HE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Earnings/(losses) B, (FHiE)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of Ftet E TR EAR L ERF]
the Company for the purpose of (BE)MEARAHE A
basic and diluted earnings/(loss) EIEREAATDEZEF,
per share calculation: (B8) -
From continuing operations REFELEETE 4,967 (52,719)
From discontinued operations RECRIEEEED (5,660) (9,187)
(693) (61,906)
2024 2022
—E-ME =~
‘000 ‘000
FR Fig
Shares i 15
Weighted average number of ordinary B &t & &M E A N 55 2 7
shares for the purpose of basic and &) i A% hn#E F 159 &
diluted earnings per share 704,000 704,000
No diluted earnings per share for the period from 1 HREB-_ZTZ_=F—-—HA—HEZE

January 2023 to 31 March 2024 and year ended 31
December 2022 were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares outstanding in issue for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 and

year ended 31 December 2022.

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per

share.
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BT - =F — A —HBEZ_T_MF= A=+ —H L HH

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y¥E -BERZ®E
Furniture
and Office  Company Motor
Buildings fixtures equipment equipment Machinery vehicles Total

FER BALR BAE LN

BEN %E R RE HERE ERIA @zt
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKSO00  HK$000

TET TET TET TET TET TET TET

COST BA
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE-—f-f—H 32,128 29,170 5,629 6,228 91,761 1,234 166,150
Additions NE - 33 80 258 1,382 - 1,753
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) W EE B2

(/%?37) - - - - - 77 7
Write-off s = - - - (69) - (69)
Exchange realignment ERHRE (2,394) (357) (150) (264) (723) () (3,889)
At 31 December 2022 and g

1 January 2023 +ZA=Z+-BR

“Z-=#-f-H 29,734 28,846 5,559 6,222 92,351 1,310 164,022
Additions NE - 1,818 2,243 175 1,714 - 51 950
Write-off g (130) (841) - (844) (402) - (2,217)
Disposals L& (17,086) (974) 87) (164) (2,264) - (20,575)
Disposals of subsidiaries fnote 38)  HEM B A (47#38) - (1,199) (3) - - (75) (1,277)
Transfer to investment properties ~ EEZR AN % (49,190) - - - - - (49,190)

Revaluation of property, plant and ~ EBRZRENER
equipment upon transfer to EfENE -BER

investment properties B 37,607 = S = S S 37,607
Exchange realignment EHRE (935) (176) (133) (123) (690) ) (2,064)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-REF

=A=t-8 S 27 474 7,579 5,266 90,709 1208 132,256

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZitHiERHE
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 31 December 2021 and R-B-_—F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+-Bk

“2--%#-f-H 12,506 27,848 4,197 3,025 87,515 1,234 136,325
Provided for the year EREE 858 587 424 925 1,473 10 4,277
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 87) WEEMBAE (H/i#57) - - - - - 67 67
Write-off ik - - - - (30) - (30)
Exchange realignment 5T (1,130) (184) 65) (234) (284) (3) (1,900)
At 31 December 2022 and RZZ-Z%

1 January 2023 TZR=+-Bk

“Z-=F-f-H 12,234 28,251 4,556 3,716 88,674 1,308 138,739
Provided for the period HNEE 753 468 614 789 1,476 - 4,100
Impairment ALl - - - 362 S S 362
Write-off i (85) (841) - (844) (401) - (2,171)
Disposals e (5,974) (938) (52) (99) (1,279) - (8,342)
Disposals of subsidiaries fnote 38)  HER B F (47#38) - (143) - - - (74) (217)
Transfer to investment properties ~ HEZRENE (6,387) - - - - - (6,387)
Exchange realignment ERA% (541) (74) (55) 91) (498) (52) (1,311)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-MF

=R=+-H S 26,723 5,063 3,833 87,972 1,182 124,773
NET CARRYING AMOUNT EERE
At 31 March 2024 RZZZWE

=R=t—-H = 751 2,516 1,433 2,737 46 7,483
At 31 December 2022 A

+-A=+-H 17,500 595 1,003 2,506 3,677 2 25,283
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18.

150

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

With the poor segment performance of comprehensive
architectural services segment for the period from 1
January 2023 to 31 March 2024, the management
of the Group concluded there was indication for
impairment on the cash generating units (“CGUs”)
from comprehensive architectural services segment.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined based on value in use calculation. This
calculation uses cash flow projections based on the
financial budgets approved by the management of
the Group covering the 5-years period with a pre-
tax discount rate of 11.21%. The terminal growth
rate used in the cash flow projections is 2.0%.
The assumption for revenue growth is based on
the expected completion period of the existing
projects and the expected project sum. Another key
assumption for the value in use calculation is gross
profit margin of 24.21%, which is determined based
on the CGUs’ past performance and management
expectations for the market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, the
management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs from comprehensive
architectural services segment are lower than their
carrying amounts. The impairment losses of CGUs
represented by comprehensive architectural services
segment have been allocated to property, plant and
equipment.

Impairment losses of approximately HK$362,000 (year
ended 31 December 2022: Nil) were recognised in
comprehensive architectural services segment during
the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024.

No impairment losses (year ended 31 December 2022:
Nil) were recognised in connectivity products segment
during the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March
2024.

At 31 March 2024, the buildings with total carrying
amount of Nil (31 December 2022: HK$8,637,000)
have been pledged to secure the bank borrowings of
the Group.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T
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At 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$4,442,000 represents land
use rights located in the PRC.

The Group leases various offices and factories.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of two to ten years, but may have
extension options as described below.

Extension and termination options are included
in a number of property and equipment
leases across the Group. The extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by
the Group and not by the respective lessor.

19. LEASES 19. HE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) ERAEEE
Land use

Buildings rights Total
EEREEY T ERRE Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F

1 January 2022 TZA=+—Rk

—T--%—-A—H 20,668 4,973 25,641
Addition NE 4,686 - 4,686
Depreciation for the year FAHE (5,691) (146) (5,837)
Exchange realignment R (1,521) (385) (1,906)

At 31 December 2022 and R_B__F

1 January 2023 TZA=+—-BR

“E-=F—-A-H 18,142 4,442 22,584
Addition AE 11,498 - 11,498
Termination Ak (1,750) - (1,750)
Disposal & - (3,691) (3,691)
Depreciation for the period HBAmE (8,816) (128) (8,944)
Transfer to investment properties ~ EBZHREYE - (497) (497)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) 1 &Mt E A &) (41:#38) (301) = (301)
Exchange realignment R (733) (126) (859)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ZME=A=+—H 18,040 - 18,040

R—_B-__F+_H=+—8"
i FA#E B EE 494,442,00078 TTHE L
P B A £ M s PR o

AEEHESRBRAERIRK:-
HEAHNBATSMETFNETE
HRR - BRI BERA N ICAT R T
HiE R

AEEREZMERREBHEE
EERRRIEEERE- Fﬂv*ﬂ_k
ERRIDERZRERAEEMIE
BEBRBEATE
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19. LEASES (Continued)

(i) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, no land use rights (31
December 2022: HK$3,915,000) have been
pledged to secure the bank borrowings of the

Group.

(i) Lease liabilities

19. #HE (»)

(i) FREEE (&)
NRZE-_ME=A=+—8"#
ELMEFERE(ZZE__F+=
A =+4+—H 3,915,000/ 7T ) #&
WA ERAEBNIRITER

(i) HEEE

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E_MFE =~
=B=+-8B +=ZA=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Current mE 6,876 6,756
Non-current JEME 13,061 12,985
19,937 19,741
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-ME ==
ZA=+-8 +=A=+-R
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts payable under lease HEBBETENSRE
liabilities
Within one year —FR 6,876 6,756
After one year but within two years —FEZ{EMRER 6,380 5,966
After two years but within five years MFERERER 5,195 7,019
Later than 5 years hFE 1,486 =
19,937 19,741
Less: Amount due for settlement w12 AREIHEE R
within 12 months (shown under HE(RRBEEERET
current liabilities) FI7R) (6,876) (6,756)
Amount due for settlement 128 B2 B B & E MR8
after 12 months 13,061 12,985
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LEASES (Continued) 19. #HE
(i)  Lease liabilities (Continued) (i) WHEEE#H)
During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 BT _="Ff—-—HA-—HBEEZ
March 2024, the Group entered into a number ToME=ZA=+—HILHH"
of new lease agreements in respect of renting REBBREEEFITLE TH
buildings and recognised lease liability of HEm=R ITHRIAEEARED
approximately HK$11,498,000 (year ended 31 11,498,000 T (HHE =T ==
December 2022: HK$4,686,000). F+_A=+t—-—BLLEFE:
4,686,000/ 7T ) °
The weighted average incremental rates applied EANRHEGENNETLTES
to lease liabilities range from 0.56% to 12.65% FENF0.56%%F12.65% (H =
(year ended 31 December 2022: range from ZE I CHE+ZA=T—HIF
0.56% to 8.30%). [ : N F0.56%%8.30% ) °
(iii) Amount recognised in profit or loss (i) REZBIANEZSHEE
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
B=-ZE==
—BA—HEZE HE
—E-F —E-_F
=A=+-B +-B=+—8
- EA RS IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
(Re-presented)
(&%)
Depreciation charge of FRAEEEFREER
right-of-use assets
Buildings BEREEY 8,599 5,603
Land use rights 5 AR 4 128 146
Total et 8,727 5,749
Interest expense on lease liabilities & & &M EF % 2,150 1,263
Expenses related to short-term leases £242 Hi7H & tHEE AY B 2 126 4,593
(iv)  Others (iv) Hft
During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 —EZ=F—A—HRBEZ-Z

March 2024, the total cash outflow for leases
amount to approximately HK$8,134,000 (year
ended 31 December 2022: HK$10,315,000).
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20.

154

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. WREWE

HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-_E__F—HA—H 13,500
Fair value loss, net NFEEIEFE (800)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
—T-=%—H—H 12,700
Disposall & (5,950)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 8 5%  BE L &R & 42,803
Transfer from right-of-use assets EREGAREE 497
Fair value loss, net NEEEEZRE (4,767)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B (502)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZEB_MF=A=+—H 44,781

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 March 2024 (31 December 2022: Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited) was determined
based on valuations carried out on those dates by
BMI Appraisals Limited and Shenzhen Great Strategy
Real Estate Appraisal & Consulting Co., Ltd.* (&3
B2 B M E & E AT b B BR A Rl), independent
qualified professional valuers not connected with the
Group, and have the appropriate qualifications and
recent experience in the valuation of similar properties
in relevant locations.

The fair value was determined using income
capitalisation approach by capitalising the net rental
income of the property interests derived from the
existing tenancy agreements with due allowance for
the reversionary value. In this approach, the valuers
have considered the term yield and reversionary yield.
The term yield is used for capitalisation of the current
passing rental income as at the date of valuation whilst
the reversionary yield is used to convert reversionary
rental income. In respect of the commercial property
unit located in the Hong Kong, the valuation technique
was changed from direct comparison approach to
income capitalisation approach. The key input under
this approach are term yield and reversionary vyield
and which maximise the use of unobservable market
data. Therefore, the Group transferred the valuation of
investment properties from level 2 into level 3.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. WEWE &)
In estimating the fair value of the properties, their EEFAZEDENDTFER E5AR
highest and best use was considered to be their EEAZHERERBERE-
current use.
All of the Group’s property interests held under AEBRABERINESHE AN EEMIR
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital BREHEESBENMERRERAATE
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair BAFAE XSO EAERARINIEREY
value model and are classified and accounted for as ¥o
investment properties.
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that RYTERBERAFEFEZAEER
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair BEME(RBEAFENEHASE 2T
value, grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 BEREESARTEELRE—EEF=4H)
based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value ZAMmT
measurements is observable is as follows:
Fair value
as at
31 March
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
R-ZZ-M%F
=R=t—H
-4 -4 =8 2OV
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Commercial property unit NRBEECERNE
located in Hong Kong B - - 5,200 5,200
Industrial property unit located IR Bz TE£ME
in PRC B - - 39,581 39,581
- - 44,781 44,781
Fair value
as at
31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
R-ZT__%
+-A=1+-H
E—& o EZR ZRYE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Commercial properties units [N EEZ B AWE
located in Hong Kong B - 12,700 - 12,700
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20.

156

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

20.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of the investment properties as at 31 March
2024 and 31 December 2022 are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used):

BEWE »

TREVNMETZEREDNER_S
“TWNF=ZA=+—BARZE__F+=
A=+—Bz2FEZER(LERM
RAhE M R ASE)

Relationship
Fair value of key inputs
as at Significant and significant
Fair value 31 March Valuation technique  unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 2024 and key inputs inputs Range inputs to fair value
R-Z-mF
=B TEHAZER
=t-B HEHRER EARTEE EARTHERA
ATLEESR 2ATE TEBAHE BARE HE HBEATENRE
HK$’000
FET
Commercial property  Level 3 5,200 Income approach - Reversionary 3.5% The higher the rental
unit located in Hong by reference to yield yield, the lower the fair
Kong capitalised income value
derived from existing
tenancies and the Term yield 3.5% The higher the term yield,
reversionary value of the lower the fair value
the properties
MREBENEENE F=& BWANE-E2ZREH BEHRKRE Helmnkds 2TE
By RmEENE R BB
AR EEEE FHOREX
FHORXHE ATE
B
Industrial property Level 3 39,581 Income approach - Reversionary 6% The higher the rental
located in PRC by reference to yield yield, the lower the fair
capitalised income value
derived from existing
tenancies and the Term yield 6% The higher the term yield,
reversionary value of the lower the fair value
the properties
RPBENTIENE F=& BWANE-B2ZREH EHRKRE Heluakds ATVE
MFEEMERK B
ARMENEEEE FHOREX

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWEw®
Relationship
Fair value of key inputs
as at Significant and significant
Fair value 31 December Valuation technique unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 2022 and key inputs inputs Range inputs to fair value
RZZ__%
+=A FERABER
~FE =+—-B fRERMK EANEE ERANABEEHA
ER ZATE FEHAYE BARE #E HBEATEMBE
HK$'000
FET
Commercial properties  Level 2 12,700 Market Comparison N/A N/A - N/A
units located in approach - by
Hong Kong reference to
recent sales price
of comparable
properties on a price
per square feet basis
using market data
which is publicly
available
URERNEENE FR& THLBE - K2Z7 TER TEBR TEA
By BhBMENAHE
EFRLRNSHE
BETHREREE
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21.

158

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 21. REEBELENRE
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E_ME —E-=
=B=+—-H +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cost of investment in joint ventures R4 & 1 ¥ 1% & /A 5 5

JE 1 W BB 1201 ) 2
Hip 2w (FX) Wat

Share of post-acquisition profit and
other comprehensive (expense)

income

On 11 January 2017, PT Design International Limited
(“PT Design International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and an independent third party
entered into an agreement for the establishment of
PT & PL China, a Hong Kong incorporated company
with issued share capital of HK$10,000. PT Design
International subscribed for 5,100 ordinary shares
in PT & PL China, representing 51% of the entire
issued share capital. Upon the completion of the
capital contribution, the Group holds 51% equity
interest in PT & PL China. The Group has the right to
appoint one out of two voting directors in the Board
of Directors of PT & PL China in which the decisions
about the relevant activities of PT & PL China require
the unanimous consent of the director from both PT
Design International and the other shareholder. In this
regard, the investment in PT & PL China is accounted
for as joint venture of the Group. At the same time, PT
& PL China formed a wholly owned subsidiary in the
PRC, PT & PL Architectural Design. Hence, the Group
indirectly owned 51% equity interest in this company.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 December 2022, the

Group had interests in the following
ventures:

material joint

REBLENEKRE 0

R-ZEBE-_NF=A=+—-BRZZT=-=
F+_AZ+ B AEERTIEKX
AELEEAERS:

Principal
Form Place of place of Class of Proportion of ownership  Proportion of voting rights
Name of entity of entity incorporation  business shares held interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activity
EREE HEpL  EMRIME TTEE4E RBERGER AEEFEZEEEEZENS AEEFEIRAELA TR
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022
- et -3 - et -3
—g-mE +-f ZB=mE +=A
ZA=t-AB =+-A ZA=+-A =1-A
PT &PL China LLC Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 51% 51% 50% 50% Provision of comprehensive
(B (RE)BRAT) architectural services
HEDK(RE) ERERE BE & LRk REXEEERB
A
PT & PL Architectural Design®  LLC PRC PRC Ordinary 51% 51% 50% 50% Provision of comprehensive
(RERM(L8) BERH® architectural services
ABERAR)
RN ( HF) BERs ERERE  HE B E LAk REZERERE

>
oy

* English name for identification purpose only.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s joint ventures that is material to the Group
and are accounted for using equity method is set out

v EXEEERRT -

ERYUAEEMs BE AL AR
AEZREBRAECE UK ERBE
HHNWT -

below.
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-_ME —E-=
=B=+—-8H +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
PT & PL China HERMK(RE)
Current assets mEEE 37,037 35,483
Non current assets ERBEE 203 225
Current liabilities mEBE (39,931) (36,262)
Net liabilities BEFHE (2,691) (554)
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21.

160

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21. REELENRE @)
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
&=
- H AEE
“EONFE HE_T_—
=A=+—-8B +=-A=+—H
L-HARS IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue KA 8,441 5,848
Loss for the period HnEE (2,213) (7,111)
Other comprehensive Hpzmikzs,(FAX)
income/(expense) 76 (119)
Total comprehensive expense EHRAXERE (2,137) (7,230)
The reconciliation of the above summarised financial L BERBEZERERGETBRENA

information presented above to the carrying amount of
the interests in the joint ventures are set out as below:

BROR-—HBEECENER 2 REE
ZHRWT

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-_ME —=E-=

=B=+—-H +ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Net liabilities of the joint ventures BELEZARBFEE (2,691) (554)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ZIK%IEMEI =AW ( EP )2

interest in PT & PL China B R 51% 51%

Carrying amount of the Group’s

interest in PT & PL China

AEERBERMA (FE) 2

‘sz REE
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21. REEBELENERE
The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses REBREAERZRDKRIEERERE
of the joint ventures when applying the equity method. HEBELENBE -AHB FTERKZ
The unrecognised share of the joint ventures, both for FAARERELMGEDEMNEHINNAT

the period/year and cumulatively, are set out below:

Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
==
—B—HEE

—EBoNF HEZT--F
=R=+-B t=A=+—H

LEHAR IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unrecognised share of losses of NHEIR FERERES
joint ventures for the period/year AELEEIE 1,090 282

31 March 31 December

2024 2022
R-ZE-_@mFgE R

=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHEIT

Accumulated unrecognised share of ZEtKERIEGLEELEEE
losses of joint ventures 1,372 282
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22,

BAVERABRSZEHEE

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-NE —E-=
=A=+—-H +ZAHA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FrET FiET
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: &’AEFTE +)\T%¥§+EZ
Non-current IERE
Unlisted investments (note (i) ELEMEE (HF0)) - 47
Current E
Listed securities held for trading: BIEEE LTHESH:
- Equity securities listed —REB LT Z2BRAE
in Hong Kong (note (ii)) BE (B aEG)) 3,893 1,905
3,893 1,952

Notes:

(i

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
invested unlisted investments at an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$3,135,000. The unlisted investments
are held by the Group to collect their contractual cash flows
which are not solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial
assets. Accordingly, the unlisted investments are classified as
financial assets at FVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair value loss
of such investments of approximately HK$3,088,000 has
been recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2024, the
fair value of such unlisted investments is Nil (31 December
2022: HK$47,000).

During the year 31 December 2022, the Group held issued
share capital of Precious Dragon Technology Holdings
Limited (“Precious Dragon”). During the period from 1
January 2023 to 31 March 2024, the fair value gain of such
investments is approximately HK$1,988,000 (year ended 31
December 2022: fair value loss HK$2,387,000) has been
recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2024, the market
value of the investment in the shares of Precious Dragon
was approximately HK$3,893,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$1,905,000).

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T
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BE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HIEEE XK
EE LB R E 43,135,000 TR A IE L™
BE - AEERFAFLTREUNKEREELD
RERE MEZEREREALIFEAIMNAE
ERABEEASHFEUNREEZS S/
BE-BA FLEMEESEAKZAFET
ANBHENEREE-

BE_ZT-__F+-A=+—BILEE"
7 E WA/ T B E 8 493,088,000 7T 2
REZER-R_T-_ME=-ZA=+—8"
ZEFLTRENDFEART (ZT==F
+=ZA=+—8:47,000&7T) °

BE-_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—RHLEFE &
SEBEEREERBERERAR ([RE
BI)WERITRA- RE-T=_=4—A8
—BRE_ZE_NF=A=+—HIL8H"
ZERE R T E 41,988,000/ 7T (E
BT —F+=-A=+—HILEFE:A¥
{E/&5182,387,0008 ) E R ERER N =
T-_ME=ZA=Z+—HB RREEROHD
REMEL A3,893,0008 L (T -—4F
+=A=+—H":1,905,000T) °
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET 23. HihBEEE
Customers
relationship
EFBERA
HK$'000
FET
COST 5@
At 1 January 2022 W-_E__F—H—H
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WHEWB AR (#:237) 1,780
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
—E-=%—HF—H 1,780
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMB AR (47738) (1,780)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-ZWMF=A=+—H =
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND it R EE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 R_E_—_F—HF—H -
Provided for the year FANFHERE 692
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
—_E-_=%—AF—H 692
Provided for the period HA TR BB 297
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) HEK B R R (47:238) (989)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_WF=A=+—H =
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 March 2024 RZEZMF=A=+—H -
At 31 December 2022 RZZEZZF+=ZHA=+—H 1,088

Further details of the Group’s customer relationship
arising from business combination are set out in note

37.

ERAKBEREBAHMELENEFH
REVE — B E M RE37 -
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24.

164

GOODWILL 24, BB
Financial
services
& ®l iR 7%
HK$'000
FHET
Cost and net carrying amount RAREERE
At 1 January 2022 R-_E__F—HA—H -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WeHE Kt 8 A& (#:237) 550
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
—E=%—H—H 550
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMB AR (47738) (550)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_MFE=A=+—H -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
acquired 5 financial advisory services companies for
a total consideration of HK$3,764,000. |dentifiable
financial advisory services contracts and customer
relationship of HK$1,780,000 were recognised
as intangible asset. The excess of the purchase
consideration over the net identifiable assets acquired
of HK$550,000 was recognised as goodwill.

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the
carrying value of goodwill is allocated to the related
CGU or groups of CGUs which are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the business combination.

The recoverable amount of a CGU or a group of
CGUs is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and the present value of the future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset. The
corresponding impairment loss of a CGU or a group of
CGUs will not be recognised if either the fair value less
costs to sell and the present value of the future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset is higher
than the carrying value.

Based on management’s assessment, no impairment

provision of goodwill was recognised as at 31
December 2022.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T

BHE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE"
AEBE N ERES764,000%8 T W E R
f] B 75 A RS AR 7% 2 &) © A 4% Bl BA 7% B RS
R & 4 RE PR %1,780,000/% Tt it
REBEREE-BEREBBEMKER
E%E'Jﬁ%ﬁ*@ﬁ’]%%ﬁiSS0,000%EﬁEm\
BREE-

PABRENENS BENKRAED
FEERH X amn E1% A 0 19 F %E &8
AREELEVUNREELEGAR -

ReELENRBReELEMARNNA
WEleEAEEDTEMLEKAKEE
HEEEELENARRBASREREME
PHEREE -WMATERLDENARE
HREEENARRBSRERESNE
HE ATeHRARTELSUN—A
ReELXBNNHERRERRSE:-

REBEEEENFE R_F-__F+=
A=+ RYEEIFERERE-
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GOODWILL (Continued)

The value-in-use calculation has been reviewed by
Royson Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent
professional valuer, as at 31 December 2022. The key
assumptions used in the calculation are set out below:

- pre-tax discount rate of 49.2%;
- revenue growth rate range from 0% to 5%; and
- terminal growth rate of 2%.

The values assigned to the above key assumptions are
consistent with external sources.

LOAN RECEIVABLES

24, BHE @

R_TE-__—_F+_A=+—H £AE
BT EC BB B XA ERERGH
ABARRREH -FEPERAOBERRE
REHNMT

— AT BAIR T49.2%
= WAEEROBESHTE &
= BImIBRE B2% °

DEE LR ERRAEE RS BARR
—iﬁ(

25. EWER
Effective 31 March 31 December

i

Maturity date interest rate 2024 2022
— T
—E_NEF +=A
B A HEA BERANE =A=+—8 =+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
RMB600,000 fixed-rate loan 31 December 2025
receivables 5% 657 -
ARM¥600,000tEEBEKER —E-_RAF+=-A=+—H
RMB5,000,000 fixed-rate loan 24 June 2025
receivables 6% - 5,544
AR#¥5,000,000tEEEY ZE-RFEANAZTHEHA
B
RMB40,000 fixed-rate loan 30 March 2024
receivables (hote 27) 4% 42 S
ARM40,000EEEKER —ZE-WF=F=+H
(Kiit27)
RMB15,067,260 fixed-rate loan 31 December 2023
receivables (note 27) 5% - 16,620
}\Eﬂﬁw 067,260TE BB —FE-=F+=-HA=+—H
BR(Ka227)
699 22,164
Analysed as DR
Non-current JER ED 657 5,544
Current (note 27) e (K iE27) 42 16,620
699 22,164
Included in the carrying amount of loans receivables RZEBE-_MF=ZA=+—H ERER
as at 31 March 2024 is an accumulated impairment FMEREEBEZEF R EEE 416,000
loss of approximately HK$16,000 (31 December 2022: Br(ZE2-_=—F+=-A=Z+—H8:

HK$470,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note
40(b).

470,000/ 7T ) °
BB AT F B M E40(0)
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26. INVENTORIES 26. BFE
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E_ME —=E-=

=H=+—-8B +-A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
Raw materials and consumables R RO R S 6,347 7,315
Work in progress EETE 5,409 7,573
Finished goods BRI o 8,814 19,479
20,570 34,367
As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of RZE-Z_WMFE=ZA=+—H &&
the Group’s inventories are net of allowance of GFEMNRMEED N & H 47,583,000
approximately HK$7,583,000 (31 December 2022: Br(Z2Z=F+=-A=Z+—H:

HK$12,652,000). 12,652,000 L) °
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. EZRHMEWERR
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E_F —=E-=
=A=+—-8 +=-—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables 2 5 eI ER R 38,497 56,875
Less: allowance for impairment of BB S RKERFURERE
trade receivables (11,641) (11,189)
26,856 45,686
Loan receivables (note a) EWER (K ita) 43 16,994
Less: allowance for impairment of B RN FURE R E
loan receivables (1) (374)
42 16,620
Prepayments (note b) AR RIE (B atb) 71,350 13,042
Refundable rental deposits MREHEELRS 1,621 3,670
Value-added tax receivables JiE W3 (B Y 1,261 3,577
Amount due from related parties JE Y B Bk 7 5B (K ate)

(note c) - 14,099
Amount due from a joint venture JE—fEE ERERIE (Hitd)

(note d) 21 8
Bills receivables R 26,950 -
Others (note d) HAb (Hfatd) 15,854 8,114

117,057 42,510

Less: allowance for impairment of  J& : E b & UK BR FUR B B 5
other receivables (1,127) (613)
115,930 41,897
142,828 104,203
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27.

168

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately HK$38,497,000 (31
December 2022: HK$56,875,000).

For the sales of connectivity products, the Group
allows an average credit period ranging from 15 to 120
days (31 December 2022: 15 to 120 days) to its trade
customers.

As for the provision of comprehensive architectural
services, the Group does not have a standardised and
universal credit period granted to its customers. The
credit period granted to individual customer is within
90 days in general, which the Group considered on a
case-by-case basis, depending on the credibility and
reputation of the customers and as stipulated in the
project contract.

Notes:

(a) The carrying amount of approximately HK$42,000 (31
December 2022: HK$16,620,000) net of accumulated loss
allowance of approximately HK$1,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$374,000) represents the advance to independent third
parties and expected to be settled within 12 months. The
amount is unsecured and carries interest at 4% per annual
(31 December 2022: 5% per annual).

(b) As at 31 March 2024, prepayments of approximately
HK$59,472,000 are amount made to acquire Supermicro
Servers from an independent third party and intended for
resale.

(c) At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of approximately
HK$13,800,000 net of accumulated loss allowance of
HK$299,000 represents the advance to a related company —
CITIC Guotong Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.* (“CGEM”)
GRERB (R CEXEEARAR FIEPEEBLEER
ABR A E]). Mr. Huang Bin and Mr. Ni Xian, being the former
directors of the Company. The amount is expected to be
settled within 12 months, unsecured and interest-free.

(d) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T

27.

E5 REMEWERR @

R-_E-_MWME=ZA=+—H ®&BH
EPAEHNCEBESRKNERBEN R
38,497,000 L (=& = =
=+—H 56,875,000/ L) °

MEEEEERME A£BHKTH
BE5RFZIFHEEBHN F158120H
TE-F+ZA=+—H:15%E120
H) o

MR EEEERBEME ASEALE
AEZFPETHRELS —NWEEH K
TEMNEFPHNEEH - RA/OAR K
SERBEFPNEENBENURERS
MR ERERIBEREE -

Byat -

(@) BREEN42,0008 T (ZE==F+=A4
=+ —H:16,620,0008 1) (N Rt
BEEH10008T(ZE=22F+=A
=+ —H:374,0008 L) )JIEMBILE =
TR EHBRI2EARNEE-ZEEA
ERFEREFENRI% (ZT_F+=A
=t+—B:5%)it8E-

(b) R-DE-_WEZA=Z+—R ENZEYH
59,472,000 T R —EBLE=HWE
Supermicro Serversifi 1+ E#ERIEHE o

() RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H KEE
#913,800,000/8 7t (1 f Rt B B & &
299,000 L) 5 M —MEE AR T ERR
(AR)EEBERAR (BT ERER
X¥EBEARAA) ([FERB|)ELEZR
R ARARAMEFERACERMBELEE
RBEERAER2EAREE  AEEFRLE
B o

B

(d) ZEBRAEER RERARBERMEER-
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. EZRHMEWERR @

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables UTAERBREMRREZAHNE2INNE
net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables, 2 W RSk (HB B 5 e R 510R B #
presented based on the invoice dates, at the end of )RR DT -

the reporting period.

31 March 31 December

2024 2022
—EC-NE —E-—F
=ZA=+—-A +=A=+-~
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
0-30 days 0% 30H 23,606 42,895
31-120 days 31£120H 3,150 1,839
121-180 days 121£180H 100 101
Over 180 days HBi@180H - 851
26,856 45,686
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note B AR EF G FE BN E40(0) °
40(b).
* English name for identification purpose only.
CONTRACT ASSETS 28. EHEE
31 March 31 December 1 January
2024 2022 2022
—TE-OE —E- % —E-F
=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H —H—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Contract assets arising from 2 HEEZERBEL 2
comprehensive architectural & #) & &
services 4,588 5118 5,271
Less: allowance for impairment & : & 418 E R B B 15
of contract assets (103) (122) (5)
4,485 4,996 5,266
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28.

170

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s
future performance in achieving specified milestones at
the reporting date on the comprehensive architectural
services. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The Group typically transfer contract assets to trade
receivables upon achieving the specified milestones in
the contracts. The level of contract assets remained
relatively stable during the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 March 2024.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March
2024, approximately HK$103,000 (for the year ended
31 December 2022: HK$122,000) is recognised
as provision for expected credit losses on contract
assets. The Group trading terms and credit policy with
customers are disclosed in note 27 to the financial
statements. Details of impairment assessment are set
out in note 40(b).

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for
contract assets as at 31 March 2024 is as follows:

28.

BHEE

BREBEEFTERUAEERE TK LR
% = TRKBRENEN REARE@
BEANBARAEERNREBHEXNEE
BERBGETCEEBORKRRE -NE
FARAKNARERER GHEAEEER
BORBER - AEBRBERNEINRT
Eﬁﬁ% KENEEEBERZESREK
ER-RME-Z-_=ZF—A—A®E=

T_ME-_A=1T—HLHH &HE
ERFEFHEERE -
EAE—7——£E H Eltj: P;EI

FZA=+—HIHH" %’7103,000/5
T(HEZFE-_ZF+ZA=+—8H1
FE:122,0008 L) EREBHNEETE
HEEEBEEREBE - AEBEATFIILN
ZEHBEAREEBRRY SRR
THE - BEBETENFBRAW T
40(b) °

R-ZF_MFE=A=+t—HBHZA&
BEHREgAEREET:

MEE

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-NE =~
=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —F KR 4,485 4,996
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalent comprise short-term bank
deposits with the original maturity of three months
or less of HK$12,946,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$6,786,000) at fixed interest rates 1.75% to 3.85%
(31 December 2022: 1.25% to 3.60%) per annum and
bank balances of HK$61,937,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$99,604,000) at variable interest rates with effective
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.79% (31
December 2022: 0.25% to 0.625%) per annum and
cash balances of HK$312,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$94,000).

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business. The conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control established by
the PRC government.

29.

RERERREEHE

BeMERASEEBERIBAA=S
&l A 2 AT~ 2 58 HA8R 17 17 5%12,946,000
Br(ZE2EZ=F+=-A=Z+—H8:
6,786,000/ JT ) 1Z @& & F 7 £1.75%
£3.85% (=2 =_=F+=-_ARA=+—
H:1.25%%3.60% )&t B &R 174 &
61,937,000 L (ZE ==+ A
=+—H8 :99,604,000/ T ) & ¥ & & 7
ENF0.01%20.79% (ZE-__F+=
A=+—H:025%%0.625%):t 8 R ]
T HEER312,0008 L (ZEZZF+=A
=+—H:94,000/ ) °

ARBTAERABBEMEE AW
RIE P B A 2 HME E TR 15 1) R 45 B
EEMMEEERE AEEREEB
EREETIERER 2RT BARE
SBMREMLEE AREHBABINEER
38 ST R BT ) RE B9 SMEE B R AR B R A6
51
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30.

172

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

30. BEZRHEMEMERN

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E_MF —FE -
=B=+—-H +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Trade payables (note a) B S RMNER (Hita) 30,675 38,733

Staff salaries and welfare payables B 8 T & & K& 7 17,018 6,817

Refundable rental deposits AREHERS 37 298

Value-added tax and other tax HEE R K B fE T R I8

payables 441 -

Accrued operating expenses BRI ERX 23,885 17,509

Amount due to a director (Note b) B —RESHIE (Hitb) 5,390 210

Amount due to a related company  JEft — BB # A 2538 (#7itc)

(note c) 359 267

Others HAh 3,000 7,577

80,805 71,411

Notes: Wit -

(a) Included in the amount of trade payables as at 31 March (a) RZZE-_WNF=ZA=+—HHESENE
2024, approximately HK$738,000 (31 December 2022: HEEEF  #738,0008 T (ZE=_F+=
HK$772,000) represented the amount due to a related A=+—H8:772,00070) 5 EMBEEA
company — Architecture Design (Shenzhen) Company Limited AIMAERERT ORIDAERRA ([MAE
(“PT Shenzhen”)* (tA7E & T OXYI) BBR A R]). Mr. Wang FI] )M RBE-ARNREERBRRERE
Li Feng, a director and a shareholder of the Company has EERABFRYEE28.07% (ZFT=_=F
an indirect equity interest of 23.07% (31 December 2022: +-A=+—8:17.50% ) MERE-
17.50%) in PT Shenzhen.

(b) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on (b) ZeRAEER RENAREREE-
demand.

(c) The amount due to a related company — PT Shenzhen. Mr. (c) FENEEARMERIZB KA EEN

Wang Li Feng, a director and a shareholder of the Company
has an indirect equity interest of 23.07% (31 December 2022:
17.50%) in PT Shenzhen. The amount is unsecured, interest-
free and repayment on demand.

* English name for identification purpose only

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 30. EZRHMEMERR @
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables LWTARBRERAREZEZAHPENNE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the SRR RR DT -

reporting period.

31 March 31 December

2024 2022
—EC-NE —E -4
=H=+-B +ZA=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 308K 9,446 13,190
31-90 days 31E90H 11,483 13,514
90-150 days 902 150H 1,057 4178
Over 150 days HBE150H 8,689 7,851
30,675 38,733
The Group has been granted an average credit period AEERXNMEFTERESHERG T2
ranging from 30 to 150 days from its trade suppliers FHEEBHN FI0E150H °
for both years.
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. AHAE
31 March 31 December 1 January
2024 2022 2022
—E-_ME —E-= —=E-=
=A=+—-B +ZH=+—H —H—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHEIT FHEIT
Sales of connectivity products 5 & % B E & 42,565 2,793 1,645
Provision of comprehensive 2 & T Z £ R %
architectural services - 214 18
Total @t 42,565 3,007 1,663
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31.

174

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The contract liabilities include (i) advances received
to deliver the connectivity products and (i) advances
received to render comprehensive architectural
services.

The increase in contract liabilities in current period/year
was mainly due to the increase in advances received
from customers in relation to deliver the connectivity
products.

The following table shows the amounts of the revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

31.

B/ FRaNaBEENEIEanstR M
BERERCKEF BRI

TRENNBREBVAAAGNEBERS]
RBEMMEXNNBEHNETERARA
HEARERNRASHE

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE-ZE=-=
—B—HEZE HE
—E-NE —E-=
=B=+-B +ZA=+—H
- EA R IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Revenue recognised that was REAVIGTAG W aBEEG
included in the contact liability BRI :
balance at the beginning of
the period:
Sales of connectivity products HEZKE® 2,113 901
Provision of comprehensive EHEIEREERS
architectural services 214 -
2,327 901
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. SHBITREMMER
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E_ME —=E-=
=A=+—-H +ZH=1+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings RITE R - 41,428
Loans from a related party Fas T B R - 2,188
Other borrowings H R 2,220 36,624
2,220 80,240
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-_ME —_F-=
=ER=t+—-H +=A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Analysed as: PRk
Secured PERiigi - 41,428
Unsecured AR 2,220 38,812
2,220 80,240
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
TEC-NE —E-F
=B=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Carrying amounts repayable*: AR TYHEEENREE"
On demand or within one year BERFIN—FA 2,220 70,314
After one year but within two years —F 2/ F - 1,354
After two year but within five years WMEZRF - 8,572
2,220 80,240
& The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates B R % 8BTS IR 15 B 3 17 5% BT # 19 51 2 2

set out in the loan agreements.

HHat & -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 £ 3§ 2023/24

175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —E - =F—A—HA#E - - NWE=F=+—H L Hifd

32.

176

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 32.

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-_ME —=E-
=B=+—-H +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Amount shown under current liabilities 5| {E B & (& & 58 2,220 70,314
Amount shown under non-current FIESERBIBESE
liabilities - 9,926
2,220 80,240
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-_ME —=E-=
=ER=t+—-H +=A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Fixed-rate borrowings E BB 2,220 68,961
Variable-rate borrowings FEBX - 11,279
2,220 80,240

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s

borrowings are as follows:

AEBEFNERMNE (RERGHHN

K)BEHIWT

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-NE —E-=
=B=+—-8 t-A=+—~H
Fixed-rate borrowings BN 12% 2.00% to 4.20%
Variable-rate borrowings FBER - 4.60%
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings that are
denominated in currencies other the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

BRTREMER®

AEBULERSEERIREER AN
BEIEZRTREMEREIWAT

31 March 31 December

2024 2022

—EC-NE —E -

=A=t—-B t=A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FET

HK$ BT 1,681 43,624
RMB AR 539 36,616
2,220 80,240

At 31 December 2022, the bank borrowing of
approximately HK$7,000,000 is guaranteed by a
subsidiary of the Company — Glory Mark Electronic
Limited.

At 31 December 2022, the bank borrowings of
HK$34,428,000 is secured by the Company’s land
and buildings with aggregate net carrying amount
of HK$3,915,000 and HK$8,637,000 respectively.
The bank borrowing is used to finance the future
development project.

At 31 December 2022, the other borrowings of
approximately HK$36,624,000 are borrowed from
a related company. The Group has signed two
contracts Goldstone Investment Management Limited
(“Goldstone”), indirectly owned by the non-executive
director of the Group.

Goldstone is indirectly owned as to 60% by Mr. Huang
Bin, the non-executive Director of the Company; and
(ii) indirectly owned as to 40% by CITIC International
Assets Management Limited (FIEEBREEEEAR
AR]) (“CIAM”). CIAM is a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and is a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of CITIC International Financial
Holdings Limited (F {5 BIFR & B 1ZAR B BR 2 &) (“CIFH).
CIAM is principally engaged in equity investment and
asset management. The principal was lent during the
year and repayment was made within 12 months.

R-ZTE-_—_F+-_A=+—8B H17&
X #7,000,0008 L Ty B AR BB A
RIEBEEETERARIIRMEER-

R-ZEBE-—F+-A=+—H0 E17E
7X34,428,0007 7T JY LA AN A &) BR B R E
2 Al &3,915,0007% 7T 58,637,000/ JT
B MAEFERR - BARITERD
BRAERRZEREEREES-

R-E-_—F+-A=+—8 HiwE
K #1386,624,000/8 Ty 8 — M E R A
BAAEECDHAEBMIIERNTESH
BEHANSOREERERAA (£
Bl)EEMBEN-

EANBARARFATESERLER
EHABO% : M(imPEEREEER
ERAR (D ERREEETR])ME
BEHAO% P EEREEEER —HAR
ZEEAMAINERAE BT EEE
TRERERAA (R EERSRIE
BRIDWIZEMBRAR -PEEREE
EETENEREREREEEE K
STREREBLE  BEM2EARERE-
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33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 33. EZEBEAEE
Amortisation
Fair value of intangibles
adjustments assets Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-—ZTE-_—F—HA—H - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BB B A 7 (47:#37)

(note 37) = 445 445
At 31 December 2022 and - Z - —

1 January 2023 +ZA=+—HK

—E=%—H—H - 445 445
Debited to asset revaluation & %)% = & & &R

reserve 9,402 - 9,402
Credited to profit or loss &+ A8 (A7aF14)

(note 14) (804) (247) (1,051)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (4i7738)

(note 38) - (198) (198)
Exchange differences fEH =% (108) - (108)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZTE_MF

=A=+—8H 8,490 - 8,490

At 31 March 2024, the Group does not recognise
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses of
approximately HK$130,037,000 (31 December
2022: HK$107,023,000) as it was uncertain that
future taxable profits against which the tax losses
could be utilised would be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction. Tax losses of approximately
HK$61,577,000 (31 December 2022: HK$54,640,000)
do not expire under current tax legislation and
approximately HK$68,460,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$52,383,000) would expire within five years from
the year of origination.
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RZE-_WE=A=+—H KXEBT
S F TE E5 18 £9130,037,0008 T ( =&
——F+=-A=+—H:107,023,000%
TERELEHBEEE  RAAMTHET
EENRE R AEERGS FER ALK
HIBEBENRRERT EF - BIEIIRIT
ik BIEEE 61,577,000 (=&
ZZF+ = A=+—H:54,640,000%
JC) I K fE W 0 M £968,460,0007% 7T (=
- _—_&%+=-A=+—H:52,383,000
BIL)BREEFTFERTAFANER-
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SHARE CAPITAL 34. B’A&
Number
of shares Share capital
B2 & B B2
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each FREEBEC.OE Tz ERE
Authorised: VETE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December Bﬁ\_ %::i A—8-
2022, 1 January 2023 and ZEZFf+=ZHA=+—8"
31 March 2024 —E=F—-—HA—HEK
—E-WF=ZA=1+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEREITEEE:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December E/\fgiii A—H-
2022, 1 January 2023 and —FEZF+=ZA=+—8"
31 March 2024 ZE=F—HA—HBK
—E-NF=ZRA=+—H 704,000,000 7,040
OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35. RKR&EHAY
The Group as lessor AEEHBEEA

The Group leases out investment properties and
buildings under operating leases. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2-3 years, with an option
to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually
increased every 2-3 years to reflect market rentals.
None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

AEBRELLHEHHEREMELE
F-HENMBEHR -—RB2EIF I
ERBEZRACREETEE ERGE
MEBMAEGR - HENRK-—RE2ES
FRM—X URBRTEHEE -HEL
MEEREAEHEEMK-
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35.

36.

180

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35, RXERY e
(Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued) AEEBAEHBA (B
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable RSB HEERN T RECERE
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be EHTHRBIBAEMZKERARKIAMA
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows: AEFUWE FBHOT:
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-MEF —E-=
=H=+—-8B +-A=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —F R 1,885 1,236
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMRFRN 720 220
After 2 years but within 3 years WEREB=ZFR - 220
2,605 1,676
RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 36. ERIREFEE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and a retirement benefit scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong and Taiwan,
respectively. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% and 6%
of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme and the defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme, respectively, in which contribution is
matched by employees.

Eligible staff of subsidiaries operating in the PRC
currently participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute
10% of the covered payroll of its employees to the
central pension scheme to fund the benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefit obligations of the eligible employees
of the PRC subsidiaries.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March
2024, the total contribution charged to profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$10,917,000 (year
ended 31 December 2022: HK$7,260,000).
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AEEDRBBERGEMBRERE
B IR MO8 6 A TR S 5 & FOR AR A5
o-%EFFHECEERTEAREHZE
ERE BURAKEZEE-AKHE
HEBSBAN E‘J?%E%ﬁ%%%ﬁ%\ﬁ’w%
B6%IM % 5 A TE S 5 B R & B AR
BB EIHEK

RABEREZMBRARAZAEREERER
A2EMEMTRAEECFRERE
FtElo R BB A /,\Bz@,\%ﬁ@\%@%ﬁ
Z1O%ﬁEP9%5E17Fiqu¥IH LM’H%
W?Maa?ﬂJFﬁmZé’i\o%ﬂﬂmBZJFN%
BEMTEMNBARASERERRME
RAEF

—E - =F—-—A—HRBE-Z_@

A=+ BLBH aEFNE
R A FE 4 510,917,000 7T (B =
—E__F+-_A=Z=t+—BLEFE:
7,260,000 7T ) ©
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

U]

(i)

In the current year

The Group had not any material business
combination during the period from 1 January
2023 to 31 March 2024.

In the prior year

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of State Venture Investment (HK) Holding
Limited (“State Venture HK”) and 51% of the
issued share capital of its subsidiary, & & Bl %
SRNEEEERBER AT (“FBEIK") (hereinafter
collectively “State Venture HK Group”) for
consideration of HK$3,764,000.

The acquisitions have been accounted for using
the acquisition method. The amount of goodwill
arising as a result of the acquisition was
approximately HK$550,000. State Venture HK
Group is engaged in the provision of financial
services. State Venture HK Group was acquired
so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s
financial sector.

mEMB|RHE
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37. WERKEXF

(i)

(ii)
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rEE

AEBR-_ZE-=F—A—Hit
E_T_ME=A=+—HIH
MY EERMBRERE G-

BEFE

BE_ZEZ__F+-_A=+—
HiIEE K& EKEState
Venture Investment (HK) Holding
Limited ( [State Venture HKJ )
100%E /TR AR K K Bt &8 2 Al
SEHKRAKNEEERBRA
AI([EBEK]) (#IState
Venture HK&EE ] )51%E2 & 17
N R {E /3,764,000 7T ©

WHEERBAKREEAR WEBE
AR E S A /550,000 7T
State Venture HKE E #t Fi2 4
% B AR 7% o W BEState Venture HK
SEEHEEREAEEN SR
Ey
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37.

182

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Consideration transferred

37.

U BB B A A ()
EEENRE

State
Venture

HK Group
State Venture
HK&
HK$'000
FET

Cash

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date
of acquisition are as follows:

Be

3,764

REEAMEWBEEREERAER
FEnE

State

Venture

HK Group

State Venture

HK&

HK$’000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment BB KREE 10
Other intangible asset (Customer relationship) b EF L E (BRFMIF) 1,780
Other receivables H th JE AR X 1,475
Cash and cash equivalents BeRERRSEER 4,013
Other payable H fth JE AR (58)
Amount due to the former owner FE RIS AFKIE (265)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBBAE (445)
6,510
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. WEBHEBLQT @
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WRELEZHE:
State
Venture
HK Group
State Venture
HKEE
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred EHEERE 3,764
Add: non-controlling interests SRR ER (RME R F,249%)
(49% in subsidiary) 3,296
Less: net assets acquired B EWEEETE (6,510)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEAZHE 550
Goodwill arose in the acquisition of State Venture HK B G GRS B 3 15 6 m 8 - s

Group because the cost of the combination included
a control premium. In addition, the consideration paid
for the combination effectively included amounts in
relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue
growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce of State Venture HK Group. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because
they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

The non-controlling interests 49% in State Venture
HK Group recognised at the acquisition date was
measured by reference to the fair value of the non-
controlling interests and amounted to approximately
HK$3,296,000. This fair value was estimated by
applying an income approach. The following were the
key model inputs used in determining the fair value:

- discount rate of 15.20%;
- terminal growth rate of 2%; and

- assumed adjustments because of the lack of
control or lack of marketability that market
participants would consider when estimating
the fair value of the non-controlling interests in
State Venture HK and & BB %.

State Venture HKE B E £ & o 1t I
REHITHOREERREEHEES
HERME WARERE KRTHER K
State Venture HKE B A J7 B X
MzEeE RS MNaEA SR & 7] # 5
?ﬂiﬂ?iﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁ*%iﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

7,

G

P U BE B #E R #State Venture HKE E
49%3H REZ KB EIFETRERZD
NEEF= %%EZ'UES 296,000/ 7t °
ZATEDNRBREEGBT - UTAE
ﬁ”ifﬁﬁﬁﬁ%E’]?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’*”ﬁaﬂ\%ﬂﬁ

— K38 T15.20%
= BimtE R EE2% &

- P & 5T State Venture HKE & &
B IEERERN R FEER
mE2EETEBERRZIZE %M%E
SMERBETEMELERE

£ o
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. WEBHEBLQT @
Net cash outflow on acquisition of: DTHBELEZRESREFE:
State
Venture
HK Group
State Venture
HKEE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration paid BENReERE 3,764
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances BoBEWERSRERREIER &%
acquired (4,013)
Total cash outflows (249)
Included in the loss for the year ended 31 December HE-_T-_—_F+_A=1+—HILFE"
2022 is profit of HK$2,558,000, attributable to the &5 18 B 18 & $)2,558,0007 7T + Jh 5 E R
additional business generated by State Venture HK State Venturefs B = 4 0 58 I 2 75 o &
Group. Revenue includes HK$6,964,000 generated E_F_F+A=+—HLEFE"
from State Venture HK Group for the year end 31 g A B #EState Venture HKE B E 4 1
December 2022. 6,964,000/ 7t °
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

38. HEKEXF

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024
B-B-=f-A-HEE-Z-_NE=A=+—-HLHH

State
Innovation State Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
FEERNEE FEEREE ReEE gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Net liabilities disposed of: EHERGETE:
Property, plant and equipment  #1¥  HiE K& - - - -
Right-of-use assets FREELE - - - -
Other intangible asset HEREE - S = -
Goodwill mE = - - -
Other receivables H it JE B 5,957 1,537 - 7,494
Cash and cash equivalents BRekFERFLEE 355 20,146 997 21,498
Other payables H & (4 5B (5,309) (3,819) (4,209) (13,337)
Other borrowings HifE® (7,843) (19,035) - (26,878)
Lease liabilities HEAR (480) = S (480)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE - (198) S (198)
Non-controlling interests iR 2,196 (3,429) - (1,233)
Subtotal Nt (5,124) (4,798) (3,212) (13,134)
Translation reserve R (58) (33) - (91)
Gain on disposal of HEMB AR
subsidiaries (note 8) ezt (M528) 5,182 4,831 3,212 13,225
Total consideration BRE =¥ -* -* -*
Satisfied by: BRUTHAEE
Cash Re - - - -
& The cash consideration for the disposal of State Innovation * & B2 B 5 [F] - AT B 1 R I R B

Group, State Venture Group and Radiant Assets was HK$1

each.

ENR T B BB -
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38.

186

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38.

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is
as follows:

HEMBATE @

ERLEMBARZREERERREA
BZRmE FESWEINMT

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024

B-E-_=§-fB-HERZE-Z_ME=A=+-HLHE
State Innovation  State Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Cash consideration BB - - - -
Cash and bank balances HEMBRARIZRE K
disposed of subsidiaries RITHE & (355) (20,146) (997) (21,498)
Net outflow of cash and cash HHEHEHBRAZ
equivalents in respect of BeRkERARE
disposal of subsidiaries BB ZRLFSE (355) (20,146) (997) (21,498)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, other intangible asset and
goodwill

ME - BERREBE CRAEEE HME
FEERBEZRE

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024
B-B-=Ff-A-HEBE-B-ME=A=+-HLHEB

State Innovation  State Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
FEENEE - HEEREE hEeEE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Property, plant and equipment 1% HRE & &

(note 18) (Hi#18) 1,059 1 - 1,060
Right-of-use assets (note 19)  {EREEE (H:#19) 301 - - 301
Other intangible asset HwEFEE

(note 23) (Hi#23) - 791 - 791
Goodwill (note 24) B (Wito4) - 550 - 550

1,360 1,342 - 2,702
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of trade
and other payables, contract liabilities, lease liabilities,
bank and other borrowings, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its  overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues
as well as issue of new debts.

39.

7R JE by B 18

AEBEREER UBARAEEANE
ERKARELE AKNEREBCETS
RERA R < M as A E 2 M & AL o
AEEZEBREETFREETTE-

AEBEZEARBERREES REMEN
R AMAaE HERE RITKEM
fER R RERRSEEFELREAR

AlEAARGRRZ BREOBTRAR
& o

ARRBEFEEHRTEARB -E/L
W —#Wo ARREFEEHEZHEE
ARBZEAKARER -REARQA
EEHBER AEEMEBKNK
B BIHFBRARBTHESER 3
MHEEBEELARE-
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40.

188
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 40. €®mIA
Categories of financial instruments (@ SRMIADE
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-NE —E-=
=A=+—-H8H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost 1% # 845k A< 51| (& 2
Trade receivables 2 5 KRR 26,856 45,686
Other receivables H {th i UG BR 3R 43,319 25,278
Loan receivables JE U B 3R 699 22,164
Cash and cash equivalents BehERIIRSEER 75,195 106,484
146,069 199,612
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEBRZ
EHMEE 3,893 1,952
149,962 201,564
Financial liabilities SRAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  LA#f #55k AN 5t & &Y
TRAaE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H BRI 63,346 64,594
Bank and other borrowings RIT R H b {3 2,220 80,240
Lease liabilities HEBE 19,937 19,741
85,503 164,575
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loan
receivables, trade and other payables and bank
and other borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial
instruments included market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases, which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arises.

mEMB|RHE
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40. @R IH®

(b)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

40.

@I E

(b)

TREREEEREREE (8)

o5 m B (%)
B (&)

31 March 31 December

2024 2022
—E-NE —ET-=
=Z=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets BE
USD (note) (M) 3,475 5,555
RMB AREE 202 8,188
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-NF —ECF
=Z=BA=+—-8 +=-A=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Liabilities =R
USD (note) Et (KEE) 65 =
NTD ek 12 152
RMB AR 11,720 22
Note: Kiat -

Functional currencies of the respective subsidiaries are RMB/
HK$. Since HK$ is pegged to USD and immaterial monetary

items denominated in USD against the functional currency of

RMB, no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. @R IH®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)) 2REAKEEEEREER®E)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) mE R (&)
Currency risk (Continued) B b (&)
The following table details the Group’s TRFNAEBHETHARE
sensitivity to a 5% (31 December 2022: 5%) EKFoaBAEXLZESY (ZF
increase or decrease in USD against RMB T F+-A=+—H:5%)&
and NTD. 5% (2022: 5%) is the sensitivity BRE - BEEENMAEAER
rate used by management for the assessment EXSEHEFAANHRELEAR
of the reasonably possible change in foreign 5% (ZEZZF:5%) BRERE
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes PWRBERTENIINE G E
only outstanding foreign currency denominated ERIEH TERBREZEERAS
monetary items and adjusts their translation at 5% (ZF-_—_F+=_A=+—
the period end for a 5% (31 December 2022: H:5%)#eHHMETUAFHE
5%) change in the foreign currency rates. A LT (BE8) /EHRRBEERT
(negative)/positive number below indicates (a (BD) /#Em(ZFE=Z=F+=
decrease)/an increase in post-tax profit (31 A=+—8B:#EB1E%EMN R
December 2022: an increase (a decrease) in D)) B EE e EB AR
post-tax loss) where the respective functional EEAER (ZE-_F+=H8
currencies strengthen by 5% (31 December =+—HB:5%) BETHIEH
2022: 5%) against the relevant currency. For INERES% (ZFEZ_F+=H
a 5% (31 December 2022: 5%) weakening of =+—H:5%)Mm5 ' &R
US$ against the relevant foreign currency, there EtEmErRSAERNTZE .
would be an equal and opposite impact on the BUTHE®RKREEE-
profit and other equity and the balances below
would be negative.
Impact of RMB Impact of NTD
ARBzEE HAMzwE
Period from Period from
1 January 1 January
2023 to Year ended 2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022
B-B==% Bz HBH-B=-Z=% Bz
—-A-B®€E —ZT-_-F% -A-BEE C"T__Ff
“E-WF +-A ZBZ@#% +ZA
=ZA=1-H =+-B =ZA=t+-AH =1+—A
13515 FEE Jl=:) 5 HEE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Impact on (loss)/profit for U/ Fh(BR)/
the period/year ikl -2 (432) 306 1) (78)
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40.

192

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

As at 31 March 2024, the management
considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from fixed-rate other
borrowings is insignificant, accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is provided.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate cash and cash equivalents and
variable rate bank and other borrowings (see
note 29 and note 32). The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for the bank and other borrowings at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis
is prepared assuming the bank and other
borrowings outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. As at 31 December 2022, a 100
basis point increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rate.

If interest rate had been 100 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2022 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$94,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 December 2022,
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The Group’s principal financial assets at
amortised costs are trade and other receivables,
loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade receivables, other receivables, loan
receivables and contract assets. The Group
is exposed to concentration of credit risk as a
substantial portion of its sales is generated from
a limited number of customers. At 31 March
2024, the top five customers of the Group
accounted for about 66.57% (31 December
2022: 56.51%) of the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets, all of which are engaged
in business of connectivity products with good
reputation. In order to minimise the credit risk,
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limit, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each debt on a collective and on-going basis
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The management estimates the estimated loss
rates of loan receivables based on historical
credit loss experience of the debtors. Based on
assessment by the management, the loss given
default is low and the directors of the Company
considers the ECL for loan receivables is
adequate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

mEMB|RHE
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40. €W I A

(b)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

194 China United Venture Investment Limited $T## SR EAR L 7

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables, the management of the
Group makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies. The directors of the
Company considered the ECL on cash and
cash equivalents is insignificant and therefore
no loss allowance was recognised.

In order to minimise credit risk, the
management of the Group has tasked its
operation management committee to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly
available financial information and the Group’s
own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored and the aggregate value
of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

@I E

(b)

TREAREEEERBGR (#)

FEmE (&)
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SRBEcEENAHEEEFRY
TEX R EEREEEE -
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SEEEBECENELEERR
EeflE REAKENEER
RAFARC AREEORREEY
R AETIBE-ERFRE
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40.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €W I A

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =SEER
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)

The Group’s current credit risk grading

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

EEAEEREEK (&)

AEBWNE AE B R R RIER

framework comprises the following categories: BRETISE:
Basis for
Category Description recognising ECL
BIAEHEE
]| ot EIENEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or 12-month ECL
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to
as Stage 1)
B %) REARBRBREXBVNTHACEERRTERZENE 12EABHEE
TREERENEREE (MAFIRR) &8
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL - not
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are credit impaired
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
75t REVIBRALCEERREZENETREERENEH BEERENTE
BE (BAE2AER) HEEaEEE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one  Lifetime ECL — credit
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the impaired
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred
(refer to as Stage 3)
E %) ERLGHIHEEMARKRRERBERTNEEN— BDELEEEREDN
BNZEEN AZEERTHAEERE (B ARE3ME FEHAESBES
29 &8
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
i ERBRETEBANRBRENBRE TAEETEERK SHEME
[E] R I8 A9 7] R
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. ©WMI A
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =RMEKREEBEEREE S
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEREE (&)
The table below details the credit risk exposures TRENAEEBETESHREE
of the Group’s financial assets and contract BEIGHNeRMEERGNEE
assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: WIEERBRFS
Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
31 March 2024 Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount
12 FELRAES
“ECMEZA=+-R M RABEEFR GEFR BREE BEREE REFE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

Financial assets at
amortised cost

REBHERATIEZ
tREE
Trade receivables 27 Performing  Lifetime ECL (not credit 27,205 (448) 26,757
impaired)
BHEKERR B4 RENEHEEEE
(RIEEHE)
27 Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit 102 (3) 99
impaired)
R FREERHEEER
(BEERE)
27 Default Lifetime ECL (credit 11,190 (11,190) -
impaired)
EH RENEHEEEE
(FERME)
Other receivables 27 Performing  12-month ECL 15,602 (187) 15,415
Hfth JE 4R 58 BA 12EAESESEE
27 Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit 28,844 (940) 27,904
impaired)
3 RENEHEESE
(BEERE)
Loan receivables 25 Performing  12-month ECL 715 (16) 699
B & BH 12EARBEEESR
Cash and cash 29  Performing  12-month ECL 75,195 - 75,195
equivalents
RekERBEER BA 12EAESEEER
158,853 (12,784) 146,069
Other items
HitE R
Contract assets 28  Performing  Lifetime ECL (not credit 4,588 (103) 4,485
impaired)
BREE B4 RENEHEESE
(RIZEHE)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

40. @R IH®

Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures
of the Group’s financial assets and contract

TREREEEREREE (8)

=B m B

(%)

TR AEBALETHEBEER
BERFENEREERANEE

assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: WiEERBREES:
Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
31 December 2022 Notes credit rating  lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
12 AR ENAY
“ECCF+TZA=T-B M ABEESTR GEBR BEmE EREG REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RBERASRZEHEE
Trade receivables 27 Performing  Lifetime ECL (not credit 45,272 (438) 44,834
impaired)
B 5 RUWRT B# FERRYEERR
(EEERE)
27 Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit 758 (108) 650
impaired)
R FERRYEERR
(EEERE)
27 Default Lifetime ECL (credit 10,845 (10,643) 202
impaired)
&N FERRYEERR
(EERE)
Other receivables 27 Performing  12-month ECL 25,891 (613) 25,278
ot W R 3R B4 REARREEER
Loan receivables 25 Performing  12-month ECL 22,634 (470) 22,164
B E B4 12ERAESREEER
Cash and cash equivalents 29  Performing  12-month ECL 106,484 - 106,484
HehERATER BA REARREEER
211,884 (12,272) 199,612
Other items
Hit BB
Contract assets 28  Performing Lifetime ECL (not credit 5,118 (122) 4,996
impaired)
BHEE B# FERRHEEER
(EEERE)
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40.

198

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. ©WMI A
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEREEBZRBERE
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The following tables provide information about THRHEINEEALERE FEIW
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs RRIEEaBEMERNEER
for trade receivables according to their past due G RTEHEEEBER:
dates:
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
Trade receivables B EWER loss rate amount allowance amount
mEFH
AHEBRE BEHE BEEE RHEFE
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZZ-NF
=ZA=t+-H
Not past due 3l 1.70% 24,016 (409) 23,607
Less than 31 days past due BEDR31A 1.16% 2,249 (26) 2,223
31-120 days past due BEA31E120H 1.38% 940 (13) 927
121-180 days past due BE121E1808 2.94% 102 3) 99
Overdue 180 days BE180H 100% 2,826 (2,826) -
30,133 (3,277) 26,856
On individually basis R 100% 8,364 (8,364) -
38,497 (11,641) 26,856
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. @R IH®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and b) =2REBREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
Trade receivables B HRKERER loss rate amount allowance amount
MEFH
BHEEX BEREEE EREEE EEFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FHET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-—%F
+=-A=1+—8
Not past due Eal 0.97% 45,107 (436) 44,671
Less than 31 days past due BHPR31A 1.72% 58 (1) 57
31-120 days past due WE31E1208 0.93% 107 (1) 106
121-180 days past due BWH1212180H 14.25% 758 (108) 650
Overdue 180 days #HI180H 97.23% 7,300 (7,098) 202
53,330 (7,644) 45,686
On individually basis AR &% 100% 3,545 (3,545) =
56,875 (11,189) 45,686
The Group recognised ECL for contract assets, 7N £ B AR 45 B W BR S BB {5 A AT
loan receivables and other receivables based BEEHNEE BREREHEM
on the internal credit rating of receivables as RN FEREERBEBERERD
follows: N
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Net carrying
Contract assets BHEE loss rate amount allowance amount
BHEEE AREE EBERE REFE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
% FAET FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-DmE
=A=+-A
Performing B R 2.24% 4,588 (108) 4,485
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-Zf
+=p=+-8
Performing 1B 2l B 2.38% 5118 (122) 4,996
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

40. W IH®

Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEREEBZRBERE
policies (Continued)
EEmEE (&)
Credit risk (Continued)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Net carrying
Loan receivables EhREX loss rate amount allowance amount
AHERER BEHRE BERER RERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R=ZZ-DF
=ZA=+-H
Performing BH 2.24% 715 (16) 699
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZF
+=ZA=+-H
Performing BH 2.08% 22,634 (470) 22,164
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Net carrying
Other receivables Hit R loss rate amount allowance amount
AHERE BEHE ERER RERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R=Z-mF
=ZA=+-H
Performing B# 1.20% 15,602 (187) 15,415
Doubtful 7E2 4 3.26% 28,844 (940) 27,904
2.54% 44,446 (1,127) 43,319
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=Z%
+=A=+-H
Performing B 2.37% 25,891 (613) 25,278
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

mEMB|RHE

For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

40. €@MIARw

Financial risk management objectives and b) =2REBREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The following tables show the movement in TREVNECREFEHEREE
allowance for credit losses that has been EESI2EATEHREEEERE
recognised for trade and other receivables SREMBERERERNEERS
and contracts assets under the lifetime ECL or BEEZY-
12-month ECL.
Lifetime ECL -
not credit-  Lifetime ECL -
impaired  credit-impaired
(simplified (simplified
Trade receivables B EBRR approach) approach) Total
FENBEEGEE RFESNELGE
BRE-BEEH FE-GERE
B (FtrE) (BAE) @t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_-_%—H—H 4,043 3,545 7,588
Allowance recognised in profit or R IB R ERH B
loss 3,601 - 3,601
As at 31 December 2022 and i g
1 January 2023 Z+-BR-E=-=
—A—H 7,644 3,545 11,189
Allowance (reversed)/recognised ~ RMEZE (EE) /HERH
in profit or loss B (7,186) 7,645 459
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBQF 7 = (7)
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-mE=ZA=+-H 451 11,190 11,641

The Group writes off a trade receivable when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when
the trade receivables are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. The Group may
take legal action against the debtors to recover
the amount due.
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40.

202

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Loan receivables

40.

@I E

(b) S EE R

EEmAE (&)

EEEERBE(8)

12-month ECL

1218 B A 58
FEEER
HK$’000
FETT
As at 1 January 2022 F—HA—H -
Allowance recognised in profit or loss Eﬁ@ = T 3R B B 1 470
As at 31 December 2022 and RZB-_—_F+-_A=+—HEK
1 January 2023 T-_=F—H—H 470
Allowance reversed in profit or loss R AR E (454)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_WF=HA=+—H 16
Lifetime ECL
(not credit
Other receivables 12-month ECL impaired) Total
REBRES
128 B EH FEFR
HitnEBURR FEFE (BIEEHE) @t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-—_F—F—H 1,389 - 1,389
Allowance reversed in profit or loss F 18 & (776) - (776)
As at 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 _+ E&,Tffﬁ
613 - 613
Allowance (reversed)/recognised R 1B (ﬁé@ ) /BRI
in profit or loss (409) 940 531
Disposal of subsidiaries (17) - (17)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_NE=ZRA=+—H 187 940 1,127
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. @R IH®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =2HREKREEAZERBE®
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit
Contract assets EREE impaired)
GEMES
FEEER
(BEERE)
HK$’000
FET
As at 1 January 2022 W_E__F—H—H 5
Allowance recognised in profit or loss R 185 FE R R B 117
As at 31 December 2022 and NZEBE-_—_F+-—_A=1+—8BxK
1 January 2023 —E-=F—HA—H 122
Allowance reversed in profit or loss R 1E 2 B @ K B (19)
As at 31 March 2024 R_ZE-_MFE=A=+—H 103
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. ©WMI A
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =SHREKREEAZERBEK®

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk REE2EE
The following table details the Group’s TRFAINAEHEFITESRAE
remaining contractual maturity for its non- ZHBEHNH ZRDBEAE
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been APz &EBHELHE
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash BZRMBBAERESGLE -

flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to

pay.
Liquidity table HEE 2 &K
Weighted More than More than More than
average Within 1yearbut  2yearsbut  5years but Total
effective  one year or less than less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate on demand 2 years 5 years 10 years cash flows amount
MEFH —ERE BB1F B BE5E B
BRAZE RER BoR2E BAHH5E  BAMOF  RERER REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET -2 TET FET 223 FET
As at 31 March 2024 RoB-mE
ZA=t-R
Non-derivative financial FESBER
liabilities
Trade and other payables BSREAMERER NATER 63,346 - - - 63,346 63,346
Other borrowings EfhER 12% 2,220 - - - 2,220 2,220
Lease liabilities HEAR 3.83% 8,006 7,420 6,475 2,434 24,335 19,937
73,672 7,420 6,475 2,434 89,901 85,503
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BT - =F — A —HBEZ_T_MF= A=+ —H L HH

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €@MIARw
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) <SEEREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HEELREE (%)
Liquidity table (Continued) HENELFK (&)
Weighted More than More than More than
average Within 1 year but 2 years but 5 years but Total
effective one year or less than less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate on demand 2 years 5 years 10 years cash flows amount
MET —ER5 BR1E BiRoF BiBoF AR
ERF% REL BhReE BIR5E  BIRI0F  REREE RafE
% HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET TET FET FET TET
As at 31 December 2022 g s
+-A=+-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities  3EfT4 £ B & &
Trade and other payables EHREMERER NATER 64,594 = = = 64,594 64,594
Bank and other borrowings ROTREMER 3.22% 71,312 1,440 9,607 - 82,359 80,240
Lease liabilities HEAR 2.19% 7,756 6,605 7,322 S 21,683 19,741
143,662 8,045 16,929 - 168,636 164,575
(c) Fair value estimation () AFEME
The different levels of fair value estimation have AT ERGFOTREBRAELOT

been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active . HREEXBGERGERM
markers for identical assets or liabilities B2 MEBE(REHAE) (B
(level 1). — ) .

. Inputs other than quoted prices included . BT E 2 RE AN
within level 1 that are observable for the WEEXBGBEZABEE
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 2 (MERK) HEE (B
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from ERFLH)BASK(FZ
prices) (level 2). &) o

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are . I I £ A A R T 35 UK
not based on observable market data (BRI 8 8280 A BUIB) 19
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). BEXNEBEZHASRE (&

=/
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40.

206

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s

40. W IH®

(c)

DR EM-E (50

TRIITAKBZAFEFEN

financial assets that are measured at fair value: TREEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-8 F-R F=R Fohy
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-NE
ZA=+-H
Assets BE
FVTPL (current) BREZRLTE
58 (&) 3,893 = = 3,893
Total assets BEE 3,893 - - 3,893
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-3 F-R F=R FoE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZ&F+ZA
=t—A
Assets BE
FVTPL (non-current) BATEGABS
€3t - - 47 47
FVTPL (current) BATEGABSE
(nE) 1,905 = = 1,905
Total assets BEE 1,905 = 47 1,952
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €RIER
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) () 2DAFEMFTE)
a. Fair value of financial assets that are a. RIELEMEEZ L FE

measured at fair value on a recurring

basis

The valuation techniques and inputs
used in the fair value measurements of
each financial instruments on a recurring

FEZEMEEZ RN FHE

BEEEEEEFERS
BMITENAFEKAAD
B AR ABEHT

basis are set out below: m
Relationship of
key inputs
and Significant
Significant unobservable
Financial Fair value Valuation technique unobservable inputs to
instruments hierarchy Fair value as at and key inputs inputs Range fair value
BEBAYER
EXFABEHA
HEFERBE BEXFABE YEENTEN
$RIE AFEER RUTBBHATE WABE WARE & B
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—ZT-CF
—BImE +=A
ZA=t-H =t-A
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAT
Listed equity securities Level 1 3,893 1,905 Quoted bid prices in an active  N/A N/A N/A
market
TRAES -1 ERTSMBREAE TER AER TEA
Unlisted investment Level 3 - 47 Income Approach
FETRE =/ WA
By reference to value of the Discount rate 30% The higher the discount

expected future economic rate, the lower the fair
benefits to be derived value
from the ownership of this
investee, based on an
appropriate discount rate
B2ERREFMERELN
BEHRREEF=ERE
REEEHRX

LR BRELT RFETR
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CEIE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. W IH®
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) 2A¥E
a. Fair value of financial assets that are a.

measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

RBEEEHEER A FHE
FEZEMEEZ R FHE

(%)

TRMEEF =R FER

measurements of financial assets are as ENHERAT:
follows:
Unlisted
investments
FETHRE
HK$'000
FiET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H -
Addition NE 3,135
Net loss recognised in profit or R 18 FE R K% E 18
loss (3,088)
At 31 December 2022 and RZBEZ—F+-A=+—HE
1 January 2023 —E-_=F—H—H 47
Change in fair value of financial QA F Bt ABz 2
assets at fair value through EMEEAFEES (Hi£13)
profit or loss (note 13) (47)

At 31 March 2024 RZZE_MF=A=+—H
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 41.

BALANCES

During the period/year, the Group entered into the

B R 5 RAER

AERRN AEBEGEBRTETTI

following transactions with related parties: X5
Period from
1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
Name Nature of transactions 2024 2022
BE=-8==
—A—HREZE
“EIONF BE_ZT_—
=A=+—-HB +ZA=+—H
= XEMHE LEHARS IFFEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
PT Shenzhen (nhote a) Rental paid by the Group 260 660
BRI (K ita) rEBENES
Goldstone (note b) Interest expense paid
by the Group 264 856
®h (Hidb) REBENFERX
China State Ventures Group Limited Rental paid by the Group
(note c) = 677
PEFECEEERRAT (Mitc) AEEEMNES
Mr. Huang Bin (a former director) Reimbursement of expenses by
former director to the Group 7,216 -

BEXELE (FES)

MEFERASEHENX

The following balances were outstanding at the end of

the reporting period:

R¥ERIATHEERE A REE

Amounts due from/(to)

Name Nature of balances related parties
8 HEeME FEU 7 (FEAT) BAEE 5 KB
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E_ME =
=H=+—-B +ZH=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
PT Shenzhen (note a) Cost of service rendered paid
by the Group (738) (772)
RN (Hiita) REBE D NEERBERKAR
PT Shenzhen (nhote a) Rental paid by the Group (359) (267)
BRI (Kiita) AEERNES
Goldstone (note b) Loans lent to the Group - (36,624)
eh (Hib) MAEEELHOHER
CGEM (note d) Loan lent by the Group - 183,800
MERBOEER (fitd) MAKEELNER
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41.

210

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Mr. Wang Li Feng, a director and a shareholder of the
Company has an indirect equity interest of 23.07% (31
December 2022: 17.50%) in PT Shenzhen.

Goldstone is indirectly owned as to 60% by Mr. Huang Bin,
the non-executive Director of the Company; and (i) indirectly
owned as to 40% by CIAM. CIAM is a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of CIFH. CIAM is principally engaged in equity
investment and asset management. The principal was lent
during the year and repayment was made within 12 months.

Mr. Huang Bin being the director and indirectly hold of the
Company until 19 October 2022.

Mr. Huang Bin being the former director of the Company who
resigned on 13 March 2024 and Mr. Ni Xian, being the former
director of the Company who resigned on 30 May 2024.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and
other members of key management during the period/
year was as follows:

41.

AR ERES @

Brat -

AAREERRE I BIELERBFZRY
WA B ERE3.07% (ZE=-—_F+=A
=+—H:17.50%) °

SOMARBFNTEETRREERMEE
BH60%HEm : (AP EHEREEERRE
HEH4O%EE TEEREEEERS MR
BEEAMRINERRF RATEEES
MERNIEZENBRAR T EEREEE
BIRNEREREREETE - AR
FRfEH - BERM2BAREE-

EEERLLHMBEREAQAR EEZT
—ZF+A+NB-

BEREE(ARRAES KT _OF
Z AT ZREE) RIEZEE (AR F A
EE R_T_MERA=+RHBEE) -

BEREEASHMH

ARREELAREREEEMKER
B/ FRNHEMMT

Period from

1 January
2023 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
gE-E—-=
—B—BHEE
“EONFE HE_T__F
=A=+—-8B +=-A=+—H
L-HARS IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Fees, salaries and allowances W B MER 7,493 8,807
Contribution to retirement RIRTEFIET B3R
benefit scheme 52 729
7,545 9,536
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BT - =F — A —HBEZ_T_MF= A=+ —H L HH

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2024 and 31 December 2022 are as follows:

42. MEBARFR

R-IB_WE=A=+t—-—BR-ZT_—
FET_A=T—HZEARAETEWNES

DRFEMT
Paid up issued
Place/country and share
Form of of incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of nominal value of
business registration/ registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary structure operation capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRIR
s/ 2R/ BERE/
WEARER EBERER  EERE/EX HHER KRR ERTRAEE /EREALH TEER
Direct Indirect
E# B
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022
—E-C -t -2
—FomE tZA -%-mE 124
ZA=+-A =t-B =ZA=t+-8 =t-H
Glory Mark International (Holding) ~ Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  USD50,000 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited company Hong Kong
BEEE (SE)FRAT EREMAAR EBEARES/  50,000%7T RERR
B
Asia-Link Technology Limited Limited fiabilty ~ Samoa/Taiwan USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company mainly for computers and
peripheral products
SHHBERAR BEREMANR BEZ/AE 50,000%7 BEIEANEHRARREER
EBER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited Limited fiabilty ~ Samoa/Taiwan USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company mainly for computers and
peripheral products
BEETERAH AREMAAR EEL/8E 50,000%7 EEIZARENLAERBER
LEBER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited Limited fiability ~ British Virgin Islands/  USD50,000 - S 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
(note &) company Taiwan mainly for computers and
peripheral products
BIEEFERAR (Hita) EREMAR REBEBRES/  50000%7% BEEIEANERRAEREER
AE ERER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited Branch Taiwan N/A - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
mainly for computers and
peripheral products
BIEETARAR ARA =) Gyt EEIZANERRAEREER
EBER
Asia-Link Technology Limited Limited fiability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ USD50,000 - S 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company Taiwan mainly for computers and
peripheral products in the USA,
investment holding
SHHRERAA AREMRT HEEBRES/AE 50000%T EXEEZTEANERRAER

BERZERERRRELRR
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42.

212

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

42, HEBRATFHENE @

Paid up issued

Place/country and share
Form of of incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of nominal value of
business registration/ registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary structure operation capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRIR
HRRL/HR/  HRRE/
WEAR AR EBERKR EEE/EX EalE- KRB CRTRAEE/ERERLH TEXH
Direct Indirect
EH b3
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022
- St 3 —ZI-_-F
—g-nE +-f ZZBzmE +=A
=A=t+-H =+-H =A=t+-AH =+-A
Asia-Link (Jiangxi) Electronic Limited fiabilty ~PRC USD3,150,000 - S 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Limited (Formerly known as company products mainly for computers
Asia-Link (Fogang) Electronic and peripheral products
Limited) (note b)
SBOIE)EFARAA(E  AREERR HE 3,150,000% 7 SEIDRNERLARREER
BRE (BR)EFERAF) ERER
(Hitn)
Glory Mark Electronic Limited Limited fiabilty ~ Hong Kong HKD100,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company mainly for computers and
peripheral products
BREFARAF BREFAR &R 100,000/ 7T EETERNERRARREER
ERER
Glory Mark Technology Limited Limited liability ~ Samoa USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
company products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
BIERBARAR EREARA BED 50,000% 7 HETERNERRARRBER
ERER
Dongguan Glory Mark and Asia  Limited liability ~PRC HK$43,820,722 - S 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Link Technology Co., Ltd company products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
RREETHRITERAR EREARR HE 43,800,720% 71 HETERANERRAERBER
EEER
Dongguan Glory Mark and Asia  Limited liability ~PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Link Electronic Co., Ltd. company products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
Dongguan Glory Mark and Asia ~ BREMAF +H AE#1,0000007C HUETERNERRARRBER

Link Electronic Co., Ltd.
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. MIBRARFHFE @
Paid up issued
Place/country and share
Form of of incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of nominal value of
business registration/ registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary structure operation capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRIR
HMRL/HR/  HRRE/
WEAR AR EBERKR EERE/EX EalE- KRB ZCRTRAEE /ERERLH TEXH
Direct Indirect
EH GBS
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022
—ZT--f% —Z3-_-F
—E-pmE +-f ZZB=mE +=A
ZB=t-B  =t-B=A=t-R  =t+-8
Shenzhen Shufen Technology Limited fiabilty ~PRC RMB1,500,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Co., Ltd. fnote ¢/ company products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
Shenzhen Shufen Technology BREERA & AEH1,500,0007C RETERRERRARREER
Co., Ltd. CEBER
IRBRETARAR Limited liabiity PRC RMB100,000 - - 80% 80%  Manufacture of connectivity
company products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
IABESTERAR AREARE HE AR 100,000 HETEANERRAERBER
CEBER
PT Design (QH) Limited Limited fiabilty ~PRC - - - 100% 100%  Provision of comprehensive
company architectural service
AEMERA ORIERRR  AREALRA +E - REZERERK
State Venture Capital Limited limited liability ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - - Investment holding
(note g company
MEBARAXERAR (Hid) AREARA FE 10,0007 REER
State Innovation Capital Limited  limited liability ~ Hong Kong HK$100 - 70% - - Investment holding
(note ¢) company
WERANEAERAR (Hie) AREARA FE 1004 7T RERR
Radiant Assets Management limited liability ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - - Investment holding
Limited (note f) company
Radiant Assets Management BRECLA FB 10,0007 7T RERK
Limited (#£#f)
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42.

214

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The subsidiary had established a branch, namely Glory Mark
Electronic Limited — Taiwan Branch (the “GME Branch”) in
Taiwan. The GME Branch is engaged in trading of connectivity
products mainly for computers and peripheral products.

(b) At 31 December 2022, the subsidiary was secured for
the bank borrowings of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,279,000) of Dongguan Glory Mark and Asia-Link
Technology Co., Ltd. The bank borrowings were fully repaid
during the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024.

(c) The subsidiary was acquired on 15 July 2022 from the related
parties — Mr. Yu Sanlong, being the former director of the
Company and Mrs. Fan Xiaoling being the director of the
Company.

(d) The subsidiary was acquired on 8 March 2022 from the
related party — Mr. Huang Bin being the former director of the
Company who resigned on 13 March 2024 and indirectly hold
of 60% shares of the subsidiary. The subsidiary was disposed
on 14 June 2023.

(e) The subsidiary was acquired on 8 March 2022 from the
related party — Mr. Huang Bin being the former director of the
Company who resigned on 13 March 2024 and indirectly hold
of 60% shares of the subsidiary. The subsidiary was disposed
on 3 October 2023.

() The subsidiary was acquired on 21 March 2022 from the
related party — Mr. Huang Bin being the former director of the
Company who resigned on 13 March 2024. The subsidiary
was disposed on 14 June 2023.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

At 31 December 2022, 55 B %, a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material non-
controlling interests of 49% which is material to
the Group. The non-controlling interests of all other
subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by the Group
are considered to be immaterial.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSREGRE D T
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M A R 1E ()
o

(@ ZMBRARNAEKL RO RTE BERE
BEFARARBENDBA([EREFHIA
TJ) CEREFOATANFEREIEAR

BEREERBERCERE®R-

(b) RZE-_—&F+-_A=Z+—HB - ZH(BA
RAERESBREEHEMNARARNARKE
10,000,0007T (48 & 711,279,000/ 7T) &9
BITEEFEER - RE-T=-=F—HA—8
BE-_T-_NE=ZA=+—HIHHE ZZ
BITBER FRBEE-

(©) ZHMBARNR_ZE__F+ATHAHBEEH
BT (AARBMEET=RELEREARF
RIEEB NS EE)RE-

(d) ZHEBARR_-_E-_—_F£=A/ B8 @
F(MARARAESFHEREE BR=F
—ME=ZAt+=ZABEIREEREZNE
AEBOBF M) WBE-ZHBRACHR T
—=ZFEXAtHmAEE-

() ZHMBARR-_E-_—_F=A/\BE@H
F(MARARAIEETREE BR=-F
—ME=A+=HBOIREEREZRNE
RAEBOBR D) W -ZHBRAAIER =T
—=F+A=RAHE-

() YHEBEARMR-_E-_—_F£=A-+—H8
BE A (AARARRESEREE BR=
ToNE=ZA+=ZARMT)KRE-ZHBR
AER-ZE-_=ZF~At+tmALE-
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in relation to & & &
1%, before intra-group elimination, is presented below:

42.

i) NG S )

REBARRREHHEN AETEHRK
MPEERBE250T

31 December

2022
—E=-=
+=B=+—H
HK$'000
FHET
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—RIL=FE
Revenue W 6,964
Profit for the year F N 2,558
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEAER=BE 2,658
Profit allocated to non-controlling interests 93 B2 F JF 5 A% #E 25 2 i 7 1,253
For the year ended 31 December 2022 Be—_ - —"F#+-_A=+—HILEE
Cash flows generated from operating KEETHEEZRERE
activities 3,271
Cash flows generated from investing KREGHEAZRERE
activities 23
Net cash inflows WE RN FE 3,294
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=—A=+—H
Non-current assets EMENEE 1,090
Current assets A E 9,306
Current liabilities mEBE (667)
Non-current liability FEmEAE (445)
Net assets BEFE 9,284
Accumulated non-controlling interests REF TR ER 4,549
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43.

216

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43. AR FHBEMRRE
THE COMPANY
The financial information of the Company as at 31 KRR ZZEZ_MF=A=+—HBKZ
March 2024 and 31 December 2022 are as follows: E-—F+ A=+ BER W
T
31 March 31 December
Notes 2024 2022
—E-NE —E-=
Wi =ZB=+—B +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSET kRBEE
Unlisted investments R B ARIMIELTIRE
in subsidiaries a 34,045 34,530
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables Hh i AR K 12,194 1,740
Amount due from Ul —M& B ENRIE
a joint venture b 21 8
Amounts due from NI
subsidiaries b 43,713 48,194
Cash and cash equivalent RekERBLER 6,015 10,439
61,943 60,381
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables Hh fE 1~ BR5X 11,433 7,077
Amounts due to subsidiaries &I B A 7 k1A b 81,938 64,038
Bank and other borrowings SRITREMER 1,681 7,000
95,052 78,115
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES HREBE&&EFEE (33,109) (17,734)
NET ASSETS EEFE 936 16,796
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43. AQBHBEMRRET @
THE COMPANY (Continued)

31 March 31 December

Notes 2024 2022
—E-_ME —E-=
#i# =ZB=+—8B +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
CAPITAL AND RESERVE BARREE
Share capital fig A 7,040 7,040
Reserves T e (6,104) 9,756
TOTAL EQUITY B 936 16,796
Wang Li Feng Fan Xiaoling
FEiE wE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE EFE
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43. AQFBBEMRRE @
THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (a RHBARNRKRE
As at 31 March 2024, investments RZE-_WE=ZA=Z+—8"
in subsidiaries are carried at cost of KW B RAMNEKEERKSR
HK$34,510,000 (31 December 2022: 34,510,000 T AR (T ==
HK$34,530,000). Impairment losses of F+ZA=+— EI : 34,530,000
approximately HK$465,000 were recognised for BL) o MB-_ZT-_=ZF—A—
the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March AkEE_T_WF=R=+—H
2024 (year ended 31 December 2022: Nil). 1E BR R - 7 5RUR 1B &5 18 £9465,000
BT (2T +=A
=t+t—HLEFE:E)-
(b)  The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free (b) ZEFEEER 2BNEARE
and repayable on demand. SKEFEE o
(¢)  Movements in the Company’s reserves are as (c) ARQEREBHNEBNT :
follows:
Retained
profits/
Share (Accumulated Total
premium losses) reserves
REER
R EE (BHER) BEE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 W_ZE__%¥—-H—H 5,438 17,233 22,671
Loss and total comprehensive FRNBERZARATER
expense for the year = (12,915) (12,915)
At 31 December 2022 and i ——:d
1 January 2023 TZR=+-HEk
—E-=F—-A—H 5,438 4,318 9,756
Loss and total comprehensive BANEERZARYEE
expense for the period - (15,860) (15,860)
As at 31 March 2024 RZZEZME=A=+—H 5,438 (11,542) (6,104)
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For the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 B —ZE - =F— A —HAREEZ T -NWNF=A=+—H - HH

44. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 4. BETHELEGEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank and
Amount due other Lease
to a director borrowings liabilities Total
Ef—%
EENE BRORHEMER HESE @st
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FAT FET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_Z%—F—H - 51,675 21,055 72,730
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSREEY:
New bank and other borrowings raised ~ #1& % 2 17 R E M E X - 124,757 - 124,757
Interest paid for bank and other ENRTRAMERHE
borrowings - (2,581) - (2,581)
Repayment of principal portion of bank ~ $717 REMERASE
and other borrowings BrER - (93,051) = (93,051)
Repayment of principal portion of lease TEEERLHBHER
iabilities . - (4,532) (4,532)
Advance from a director —REFEN 211 = = 211
Interest paid for leases BERAERNE - - (1,190) (1,190)
211 29,125 (5,722) 23,614
Other changes: Etgs):
Interest on bank and other borrowings ~ $17 & £ fE 5 A & - 2,581 = 2,581
Interest on lease liabilities BafEHNE - - 1,284 1,284
New lease recognised (note 19) BRRMEE (HiE19) - - 4,686 4,686
Exchange realignment S (1) (8,141) (1,562) (4,704)
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZF+_A
=+—H 210 80,240 19,741 100,191
Changes from financing cash flows: HEREMELY:
New bank and other borrowings raised ~ #1 & & 7 17 R A £ 3 = 20,931 = 20,931
Interest paid for bank and other BERRTREMERHE
borrowings - (2,196) - (2,196)
Repayment of principal portion of bank ~ 817 R EfEF AL HH
and other borrowings B = (72,598) - (72,598)
Repayment of principal portion of lease HEEEAREFHEN
liabilities - - (8,526) (8,526)
Advance from a director —REERR 5,180 = = 5,180
Interest paid for leases BEREEFS - - (2,160) (2,160)
5,180 (53,863) (10,686) (59,369)
Other changes: Hth %5
Interest on bank and other borrowings 8817 & E fth f 7071 & - 2,721 - 2,721
Interest on lease liabilities MEREFIR - - 2,160 2,160
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) LEME DR (Hi38) - (26,878) (480) (27,358)
Termination of lease RIERE - - (1,821) (1,821)
New lease recognised (note 19) BRRMMEE (HiE19) - - 11,498 11,498
Exchange realignment R - - (475) (475)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-MF=A=+—H 5,390 2,220 19,937 27,547
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46.

47.

48.

49.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS 45, EBEEEWH
At the end of the reporting period, carrying values RBEER AREAEEE TRTE
of Group’s assets pledged to secure certain bank R TERZEEZREESINAT
borrowings of the Group are as follows:
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
—E-NE =
=A=+-B +-A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE - 8,637
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 3,915
- 12,552
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 46. FEFREXRZH
During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March REZZE-_=F—A—ABE=-2_@
2024, the Group entered into new lease agreements FZA=Z+T—HLEBE AEBEREF
in respect of buildings. On the lease commencement, FIVHEERZE - REERKBRE A&
the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease ERERERcENTRAREERTEES
liabilities in the same amount of approximately fE#911,498,0008 L (BE =T ==
HK$11,498,000 (year ended 31 December 2022: TZRA=1T—1E%E :4,686,000/7T) °
HK$4,686,000).
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 47. HREHEEE
On 18 November 2024, the Group as tenant and Cong RZEZWNFE+—A+N\B K~&E (fE
ty TNHH Gidy Tién Thanh an independent third party REP)BREKRBEEEER LA (A&
of the Group, as landlord have entered into an lease BrBIE=ZF) (EAXE)REE
agreement in respect of the lease of the premises ¥V HEmE BEAEEMLNME
for use as the Group’s production base in Vietnam ZEEEN AHAF -REGEME™
for a term of five years, such lease constitutes a A ZHEEENARA —HEATHE
discloseable transaction of the Company under the R5 o
GEM Listing Rules.
COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 48. LEEBEHE
The comparative consolidated statement of profit or pRiGcEEREMEEBETERE TE
loss and other comprehensive income has been re- Fl- MM AR ERIEEBE R
presented as if the operations discontinued during the a1k (MFE13) ©
current period had been discontinued at the beginning
of the comparative period (note 13).
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 49. Ht A&

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17
June 2025.
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